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Corporate Profile
DA

MOBI Development Co,, Ltd. (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
as an exempted company with limited liability on 16 December 2002. The shares of
the Company were listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on |7 December 2009 (Stock Code: 947).

We operate through our subsidiaries MOBI Antenna Technologies (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd. ("MOBI Shenzhen™), MOBI Telecommunications Technologies (Ji'an) Co., Ltd.
("MOBI Jian"), MOBI Technologies (Xi'an) Co., Ltd. ("MOBI Xian"), MOBI Technology
(Hong Kong) Limited (“MOBI HK™), MOBI Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“MOBI
Technology"), Shenzhen MOBI Shiye Development Co., Ltd., Xi'an Shengrong
Communication Technologies Co., Ltd, Shenzhen Shengyuzhihui Network Technology
Co,, Ltd, Ji'an Jinshengjing Technology Co., Ltd.,, Wuhan MOBI Technology Co.,
Ltd., Shenzhen MOBI Network Communication Co., Ltd. and Xi'an MOBI Antenna
Technologies Engineering Co., Ltd..

We are one of the few one-stop providers of wireless communication antennas and base
station Radio Frequency (“RF") subsystems in China. Our business consists of the design,
manufacture, marketing and sale of antennas, base station RF subsystem and solutions
that are the required components of mobile communication coverage systems, including,
wireless access systems (WiFi and PHS), 2G (GSM and CDMA), 3G (TD-SCDMA,
CDMA 2000, W-CDMA and WiMax), 4G (TD-LTE and FDD-LTE), 5G, MIMO Antenna,
satellite communication and microwave transmission networks. We sell our products to
network operators in China and overseas directly for deployment into the networks they
are constructing and operating. We also sell our products to some of the world's leading
wireless network solution providers who incorporate our products into their wireless
coverage solutions, such as their proprietary base stations, which they then sell to network

operators worldwide.

We are committed to providing quality and sophisticated products and building long term

relationships with our customers.
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Guangdong Province, PRC
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Telephone: 86-755-27150701 (ext 390)
Chen Zhaotong
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Financial Highlights
BB

Analysis of revenue by business type Analysis of revenue by customer type
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Financial Highlights
MBEE

KEY FINANCIAL FIGURES FTERKHE
(All amounts are expressed in RMB' million unless otherwise stated) (BREEHBIN BESEIUARBEET
251)
2022 2021

2022 2021 F
Revenue A 687.0 6614
Gross profit EH 106.8 16.8
(Loss) before taxation A (B8) (222.1) (308.0)
Net (loss) attributable to shareholders IRR (% (ER) (229.8) (329.7)
Total assets mEE 1,310.2 1,558.9
Net current assets MBNEEFE 186.3 330.1
Net assets attributable to shareholders REREIEEEFE 565.0 795.6
Inventories turnover days FEREXRH 124 137
AJR turnover days PN R TR BB R 2 222 263
AJP turnover days (NG TNEIEN 349 306
Current ratio BN & 1.25 | 44
Gearing BRAFBLE 2.9% 8.8%
No. of issued shares, million shares BETRHER (BER) 815.2 817.1
Net assets value per share, RMB BREEFE(ARBT) 0.69 097
Basic (loss) per share, RMB cents BRERN(BE) (ARES) (28.08) (40.29)
Retum on average equity TR AR R -33.77% -3431%
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,
On behalf of the Board of Directors of MOBI Development Co,, Ltd, | am pleased to
present to the shareholders the business development of the Company and its subsidiaries

(the “Company”) for the year ended 3| December 2022 (the “Year").

In 2022, affected by many uncertainties such as the flare-ups of the COVID-19 outbreak
and geopolitical factors, the global telecommunication industry continued to be impacted
to a certain extent. Facing the challenges, the Group proactively took measures
to improve internal operational efficiency and the conversion rate of research and
development projects, continued to consolidate customer relationships externally, and
quickly responded to domestic and foreign market demand. The overall revenue and net
profit showed an increasing trend as compared with the same period in 2021, and the
profitability continued to improve. With the advancement of the network construction
of major domestic telecommunication operators in the second half of the year, the
Group successively won the bids for centralized procurement projects of major domestic

operators such as China Mobile and China Unicom. Based on the Group's continuous
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expansion in overseas markets over the years, the overseas direct sales business had
grown significantly. The Group also won the bids for new projects of AFU and antenna
from new overseas customers, which were expected to bring revenue growth and
larger market increment in 2023 and beyond. Moreover, the Group began to expand
the second growth curve to create a number of new communication scenarios including
“communications + energy conservation/new energy". The diversified business structure is
not only beneficial to the steady expansion in the future, but also conducive to the gradual
development of the Group into a platform-based corporate, further highlighting the effect
of scale. In the future, it is believed that with the release of the pandemic, the support
of relevant policies such as the "14th Five-Year” Plan and the gradual advancement of
overseas 5G construction, the communication industry will usher in a new round of
development and will bring unlimited development opportunities to the Group. The
continuous development of new business areas will also bring new performance growth

points to the Group.

OPERATING RESULTS

In 2022, the Company's operating revenue was approximately RMB687.00 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 3.9%; net loss was approximately
RMB229.76 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 30.3%; basic
loss per share was approximately RMBO0.28.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

In 2022, due to the impact of many uncertainties such as the flare-ups of the COVID-19
outbreak and the increase in raw material prices, major domestic telecommunication
operators generally postponed the construction of network capital projects, thus the
overall development of the industry progress failed to meet expectations. However, the
Group continuously expanded and deepened the relevant strategic cooperation interface
with domestic customers. With the advancement of base station construction, on the one
hand, it continuously won bids for antenna centralized procurement projects of major
domestic telecommunication operators such as China Mobile and China Unicom, which
was expected to bring revenue to the Group in 2023 and beyond. On the other hand, the
Group always maintained its position as a leading supplier of major domestic equipment
manufacturers, and the cooperation relationship was continuously deepened. It is believed
that with the large-scale development of domestic 5G construction, the communication
industry will usher in a new round of development and will bring unlimited development

opportunities to the Group's business development.
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Chairman’s Statement
TEHREE

Globally, after two years of worldwide deployment of 5G networks, there was still a
serious regional development imbalance, which would exist for a long time. However,
with the emergence of the growth inflection point and various countries entering the
cycle of accelerating 5G construction, China's base station antenna and filter equipment
manufacturers had gradually obvious competitive advantages in the international market.
Capitalizing on its advantages of product technology, quality performance and customer
communication, the Group continued to expand its sales interface in the international
market and deepened its cooperation with leading customers worldwide, so as to
meet customers’ demand for cost-effective product and further increase its share in the
international market. Not only did it continue to advance the inclusion in the shortlist,
but also continued to maintain strategic cooperation relationships with international

equipment manufacturer customers.

In addition, the Group has started to make arrangements for new business areas in recent
years to overcome the bottlenecks of the traditional business, thus coping with more
intense market challenges in the future. The Group has actively explored the application
areas in the “5G+" vertical industry and new business areas including energy conservation
and new energy, and continuously explored the growth opportunities in new business
areas. The Group has also sought to expanding its customer base while carrying out
industrial upgrading and transformation. With the continuous efforts to explore new
business areas, in 2022, the Group made a breakthrough in terms of discovering potential
customers such as government customers, enterprise customers and customer bases. It
is believed that this will also lay the foundation for the Group's future expansion of sales

channels and results improvement.

Based on the above, the Group believes that with the effective control of the pandemic,
the stabilization of commodity and raw material prices, and the promotion of the “new
infrastructure” policy, the telecommunication industry still has development potential. The
Group is one of the few one-stop solution providers of RF technology for global network
operators and system equipment manufacturers in China. It has acquired a wide range of
well-known customers and diversified sources of income, which will facilitate its healthy
and stable growth. In the meantime, the Group further deeply participates in application in
vertical industries and continues to make efforts and expand into new businesses such as

energy conservation and new energy.
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DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION
In 2022, the Board of Directors of the Group did not recommend the payment of any
final dividend.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

As of the end of 2022, it has been more than three years since the official launch of 5G
commercialization in China. In the past three years, 5G in China has achieved leading
results in network deployment and other aspects, and has also made a breakthrough in
terms of application scenarios. In the “White Paper on 5G Application Innovation and
Development (2022)", it was also pointed out that “the industries such as industrial
Internet, smart mining, smart medical treatment and smart port have entered a stage of
rapid development” and “in 2022, 5G application development is in a critical period of
scale replication. 5G applications in China have begun to be replicated and promoted in
some industries, and nearly 4,000 projects have achieved replicable solutions this year (i.e,,
2022), representing an increase of |13% compared to last year (i.e, 2021)." In 2022, 5G
network construction in China entered the stage of large-scale development and caused
profound changes to industrial structures with its advantages in high speed, low latency,
high bandwidth and wide coverage, thus becoming the driving force for new technological
waves and industrial changes, and the policies played a leading role in it. In accordance
with the decisions and deployment of the CPC Central Committee and the State Council,
the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology solidly promoted the construction
of new infrastructure such as 5G. It successively issued the “"Double Gigabit" Network
Collaborative Development Action Plan (2021-2023)" and the “Sailing” Action Plan for
5G Application (2021-2023)" to promote the high-quality development of 5G network
construction and application. Moreover, in November 2021, the Ministry of Industry
and Information Technology issued the “14th Five-Year” Plan for the development of
the information and communications industry, which specifies the major indicators for
the development of the communications industry in the “14th Five-Year" Plan period.
Under the guidance of the central “[4th Five-Year” Plan, and with the policy and industrial
support from local governments, the empowering role of 5G has gradually become
prominent, and the development path of 5G applications has gradually become clear.
The 5G application technology industry will gradually develop from the empowerment
stage of 5G basic technology and industry superimposition to the empowerment
stage of 5G-oriented industry technology and industrial optimization, and finally to the
empowerment stage of 5G integration technology and industry transformation. With the
continuous largescale construction of 5G network in the future, there will be more new

opportunities for industrial development and consolidation.
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Chairman’s Statement
TEHREE

With regard to overseas markets, the prospect for 5G development is promising. As of
December 2022, GSA statistics showed that more than 505 operators worldwide were
investing in 5G. According to the forecast of the GSMA Intelligence, “5G will surpass
4G in 2029 to become the dominant mobile technology in the late 2020s. By 2030,
5G adoption rates will exceed 85% in major 5G markets led by the GCC countries,
developed countries in Asia Pacific and North America.” "By 2030, 5G will benefit the
global economy by more than US$950 billion, accounting for more than 15% of the
overall impact of the mobile economy. Most of these benefits will be realized in developed
regions, including Southeast Asia and the Pacific, North America and Europe, which are
expected to show strong growth over the next five years. By the end of the 2020s, as
5G technologies begin to achieve large-scale development and widespread adoption
in low-income and low-to-middle-income countries, these regions are also expected
to realize more and more 5G economic benefits. At present, overseas 5G has started
entering the start-up stage, but the development of 5G in Europe is lagging behind that in
Asia, which will also bring new market opportunities to the domestic telecommunication
industry.”As the domestic 5G development is in the top-tier of the world, the technology
and experience are relatively mature, which will bring certain advantages in the overseas
market competition in the future. In addition, 4G construction remains in progress. There
is a large demand for 4G network construction and transformation in some emerging
markets (such as Africa, Latin America, Southeast Asia and other regions), as the overseas
4G penetration rate is not high. In the future, with the gradual saturation of overseas
4G network markets, the introduction of 5G in foreign countries will have a counter-
cyclical impact on us and will also bring new opportunities. The Group will further expand
its presence in overseas operator markets, be continuously included in the shortlist by
major multinational and regional operators, and further deepen the strategic cooperation
relationship with international equipment manufacturers, thus continuously increasing
the Group's share in the global market in the long term. The continuous expansion of
presence in the global market will help advance the upward development in the next few

years and achieve sustained growth for a longer period.
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Meanwhile, the Group persists in existing business and at the same actively explores
new opportunities in the sectors of energy conservation and new energy, and creates a
number of new telecommunication scenarios including “telecommunication + new energy/
energy conservation”. The Group has made business arrangements for development,
and product solutions in ToB industry-specific network coverage solutions, application
solutions for the ToB industry, solutions for third-generation semiconductor application
products, photovoltaic complementary power generation integration solutions for the ToB
industry and solutions for new energy-saving materials, etc. The Group believes that with
the in-depth cooperation with traditional customers and new drivers from new business
areas, the Group will have a larger market share in the future. The Group will continue
to advance the optimization of customer base and structure and the differentiated
competitive strategy of the leading position in technology and cost, comprehensively
improve its management level through refined, information-based and automated
management, continuously improve various operating indicators, make efforts to improve
its operating efficiency, and bring the Company's performance to a new level in the next

few years.

I ' would like to express my sincere gratitude to our shareholders and customers for
their kind support and trust, and to our Directors and staff for their diligent work. The
Company and the Board of Directors will continue to advance the optimization of
customer base and structure and the differentiated competitive strategy of the leading
position in technology and cost, so as to enhance its comprehensive competitiveness
and achieve the steady growth of the Group. The Company will continuously advance
towards the goal of being a world-class supplier of radio frequency technology for mobile

communications and create value to give back to the shareholders and the society.

Hu Xiang
Chairman and Chief Executive Office

Shenzhen, the PRC
21 March 2023
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BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

When compared with last year, the sales revenue increased by approximately RMB25.61
million (approximately 3.9%), to approximately RMB687.00 million in 2022 (2021:
approximately RMB66 .39 million).

Sales of antenna system increased by approximately |3.0% to approximately RMB207.00
million (2021: approximately RMB183.26 million), while sales of base station RF
subsystem increased by approximately 12.9% to approximately RMB406.63 million (2021:
approximately RMB360.32 million). In addition, sales of coverage extension solution and
other products decreased by approximately 37.7% to approximately RMB73.37 million
(2021: approximately RMBI 17.82 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In 2022, the Group continued to deepen cooperation with domestic and foreign operator
customers and equipment manufacturer customers, continuously optimized product
structure and business model, and continued to expand the global market. On the one
hand, we had successively won the bids for the centralized procurement projects of
major domestic telecommunication operators such as China Mobile and China Unicom,
as well as new projects of AFU and antennas from new overseas customers, which were
expected to bring better performance growth to the Group in the next few years. On
the other hand, the Group continued to maintain strategic cooperation relationships
with domestic and foreign equipment manufacturer customers, and orders continued
to rise. In addition, in recent years, the Group has increased its efforts in exploring new
business areas such as energy saving/new energy, and the relevant projects have been
continuously implemented. In terms of cost control, the expense structure has been
continuously optimized to improve the overall operating efficiency of the Company,
which has been effective at present. Taken together, all of the above factors drove the
Group's sales revenue and profit margin to increase significantly in 2022 as compared to
the same period of last year. In the future, the Group will continue to focus on both the
domestic market and overseas market, and will firmly deepen the international route while
strengthening the relationship with domestic customers. Moreover, with the continuous
development of new business areas, it is believed that these will bring further performance

growth to the Group.

Automated production equipments
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEBNWR DM

In 2022, the Group steadily secured research and development projects and market
orders (including those for 4G and 5G) from domestic and overseas customers, in which
the performance of overseas markets was particularly outstanding. The Group continued
to win a large share of bids in the project bidding of overseas operators and key overseas
equipment manufacturers. The proportion of the export business in the total revenue for
the period increased to approximately 59.5%, which continued to maintain the growth

momentum.

The Group adhered to the three strategic directions, namely technology research and
development, cost control and market driving, improved its operational efficiency and
the conversion rate of research and development projects internally, continuously
strengthened the customer relationship, and rapidly responded to the domestic and
foreign market demand externally. The Group also believes that it will gain more benefits

in the future market with its product technology and brand advantages.
Antenna system

The Group's products of antenna system are primarily sold to China’s domestic network
operators and network operators in overseas markets (such as Asia, Europe and
Americas); whilst a portion of our products of antenna system are sold to operators
worldwide by way of network solution provider customers such as ZTE and Nokia.
In 2022, the Group's antenna products continued to maintain a leading position in
the domestic market, meanwhile our continuous improvement in antenna product

technologies and quality was recognised by more and more international clients.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In 2022, revenue from antenna system products of the Group increased by approximately
13.0% to approximately RMB207.00 million (2021: approximately RMB183.26 million) as
compared with 2021, mainly due to the promotion of new overseas projects. In 2022, the
Group continued to win bids for projects of overseas operators. Driven by the increase
in the demand of international operators, the Group made further breakthroughs in
FDD+TDD antennas, multi-band/multi-system antennas, microwave antennas and multi-
beam antennas, with the sales significantly increasing by approximately 214.2%, 113.0%,
85.0% and 83.4% to approximately RMBI3.17 million, approximately RMB95.95 million,
approximately RMB29.03 million and approximately RMB21.04 million respectively as
compared with 202 1. The Group had made significant breakthroughs in these product
series. Among them, the Group had deeper cooperation with international equipment
manufacturers in the microwave series of products, as well as new cooperation in orders
for relevant products including microwave transmission lines, microwave accessories and

microwave devices.

In 2022, the Company followed the progress of operators’ network construction, kept
increasing research and development efforts and improving the conversion rate of research
and development projects. Not only did the Company develop various types of new 5G
antenna system products, and projects under research included domestic and foreign
customers and other self-developed projects, which involved various types of antennas
including multi-beam antennas, multi-band/multi-system antennas, FDD+TDD antennas,
TDD antennas, 5G antennas, aesthetic antennas, pure-low two-port antennas, pure-low
eight-port antennas, antenna sub-assembly and antenna components products, but also
continued to implement new projects from domestic and overseas markets. Currently,
construction of 5G in China has entered into the stage of large-scale development, and
driven by the policies including the “14th Five-Year" Plan, the communications industry
remains promising. In addition, it is believed that as the pandemic slows down and the
demand for international mobile network construction resumes, the overseas demand
for relevant projects will gradually be released and will also bring continuous market
opportunities and help secure orders. The Group believes that large-scale construction of
5G network and continuous expansion of overseas markets will strongly drive the growth

of the Group's antenna business in the next few years.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEWR DN

Base station RF subsystem

The Group is one of the core suppliers of RF subsystems for international communication
equipment manufacturers, such as ZTE and Nokia, and provides them with a variety of
products and solutions, including RF subsystem products. In 2022, the Group continued
to remain as a major supplier among the world's leading telecommunication equipment
manufacturers, and continuously consolidated and deepened its cooperation with them,
thus achieving a steady increase in the share. In 2022, the revenue from the Group’s base
station RF subsystem products increased by approximately 12.9% as compared with 2021
to approximately RMB406.63 million (2021: approximately RMB360.32 million), mainly
because the revenue from GSM RF devices and WCDMAV/LTE RF devices significantly
increased by approximately 306.4% and approximately 20.2% as compared with the
corresponding period of 2021, to approximately RMBI7.51 million and approximately
RMB372.29 million respectively.

In 2022, the Group secured a number of research and development projects and
market orders including those for filters, combiners and diplexer, from major system
equipment manufacturers (such as ZTE and Nokia) in the world, and achieved large-
scale production, and a steady increase in the market share and delivery ratio among
international equipment manufacturers. Meanwhile, the Group continuously won the
bid for RF device projects of major domestic operators and some overseas operators,
and achieved large-scale delivery. The Group believes that there remains room for the
continuous growth of base station RF subsystem products in the future, due to domestic
5G network construction starting high and low frequency collaborative networking, and
continuous implementation of overseas construction of 4G networks, as well as the
gradual implementation of overseas 5G network construction. Customer diversity, high-
end products and enhancement of its status as a core supplier are conducive to increasing
the market share and profitability of the Group’s RF subsystem, continuously driving a new

round of growth in the future.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2022

BUHEFER

REEREBRBERER (0 BEA LA

DE) RO T RESRER . — ﬁmﬁ
?}I{ %TLFE%%uu?uufhmmyﬁﬁuuﬁﬁﬁrﬁ
FR00F  AEEBRERFEDIREE
EEREEPOT RS - BESE
TEZEINR - HEITRSRA © 2022F K
SEEMSIATZRERNRAER202 F1E
RH129%EH AR EE40663187T Q021 F = 43
AR#3.6032187T) © EEAHMRGSMET R
VAR WCDMA/LTEST SR8 ) KIB G RHES) -
7 Rl 202 | 5 [F) EIIE R 4306.4% K £120.2% &
WARE 75 BT ROARE37229ET

20025 AEEEGTRREEEZRGH
ﬁﬁ(@#m@ﬁ&?ﬁﬁ%)mﬁ%ﬁﬁ
B AKE BEIRZEANZEAMER
ﬂm%ﬂﬁ’ﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁkiﬁ’tﬁmﬁ

BRZEREPNmSn BN MRS
hﬂoﬁ%@%'$§l$%¢%ﬁWI£
BEBHLEDBINEERHNG BRHFER
WERTHECHZN - REEBE - Bif
BT RRERMERREFENEREM
*EEEIW%%%L 5 RN = 1 5 1 R 4
B S HEEIMCRERERNFHERT
u&ﬁ%mm%ka BHRM - ZTem
P =mm b 8 E da A RAZ O it e 7 b iz Y
2% BRRREAREEGETFRGEDN
MSHBNRBAEE S - URHETE AR —
wWAIER



Management Discussion and Analysis

Coverage extension solutions and others

The arrival of the 5G era brings rich application scenarios and empowers vertical
industries. The Group is committed to creating a diversified product portfolio, opening
up the second and third growth curves and participating more in the construction of
a new ecology in the 5G era. In 2022, the Group's revenue from coverage extension
solutions and other products decreased by approximately 37.7% as compared with
the corresponding period of 2021 to approximately RMB73.37 million (corresponding
period of 2021: approximately RMBI 17.82 million), mainly because revenue from
aesthetic products decreased by approximately 38.4% to approximately RMB61.57
million as compared with the corresponding period of 2021, but the revenue from other
products increased significantly by approximately 66.4% to approximately RMBI .05
million as compared with the corresponding period of 2021 (corresponding period of
2021: approximately RMB6.64 million). With the accumulation of technology, products
and customers, the Group's new business-related projects such as gallium nitride end-
products and distributed photovoltaic have achieved a breakthrough, and contributed
higher flexibility. The Group is full of confidence in the future diversified product portfolio
and vertical industry expansion. The Group believes that the gradual resumption of
construction of related capital projects, the exploration of 5G application in many fields
and expansion and development of new businesses will create new sources of growth for

it.

Customer

In 2022, the Group seized the opportunities in domestic and overseas communications
construction to consolidate its business in domestic operator and equipment manufacturer
market while further expanding its presence in overseas operator markets and was
continuously included in the shortlist by major multinational and regional operators, thus
continuously increasing the Company's share in the global market in the long term. In
addition, the Group actively explored new business sectors such as energy conservation
and new energy, gradually expanded government customers, enterprise customers
and customer base to diversify the customer structure, and the related projects were

continuously implemented.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEFWR D

In 2022, the cooperation between the Group and major domestic telecommunication
operators were continuously strengthened and deepened. On the one hand, the number
of bids won and the number of orders fulfilled increased continuously. On the other
hand, the Group participated in projects of major operators including aesthetic series
and RF devices and continuously optimized its product structure. However, since major
domestic telecommunication operators postponed certain construction of 5G network
capital projects, the centralized procurement bidding for the majority of antenna products
were postponed to the second half of the year, and the overall progress was slower than
expected. This had caused relevant impact on the sales revenue and overall profit of
the Group's domestic operator businesses. Therefore, in 2022, the revenue from major
operators in China declined by approximately 27.9% as compared with the corresponding
period of last year, to approximately RMB88.46 million, accounting for approximately
12.9% of the total revenue. However, with the gradual implementation of the centralized
procurement projects of major domestic operators, it is believed that it will have a

positive impact on the relevant revenue of the Group in the next few years. The current
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Management Discussion and Analysis

5G network construction has entered the large-scale deployment stage. With the gradual
release of the relevant demand, as well as the expected large-scale commercial application
of 5G, the Group believes that the opportunities for these 5G network construction will

also provide room for continuous growth.

Major domestic telecommunication operators in China postponed the construction of 5G
network capital projects as a whole and the construction of 4G base station equipment
basically stagnated, and due to the change of delivery method in recent years, the RF
subsystem products and 5G antenna system products of the Group were both delivered
to network solution equipment manufacturers. Due to the lagging demand, in 2022, the
Group's sales to equipment manufacturer customers in China decreased by approximately
27.1% as compared with 2021, to approximately RMB141.89 million, accounting for
approximately 20.7% of total revenue. However, the Group always maintained its
position as a major supplier of major equipment manufacturers in China. Cooperation in
businesses such as antenna and RF was deepened, and some products series also showed
breakthrough. It is believed that major domestic equipment manufacturers are expected
to take up significant market share with the continuous construction of the domestic
5G network in the future. It is believed that the Group's close strategic partnership with
domestic equipment manufacturers will make the Company's advantages more prominent

in the future market.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEFWR D

International development has always been an important strategy of the Group. Based
on the continuous expansion of the presence of the Group in the overseas market
over the vyears, in 2022, the direct sales to international operators significantly increased
by approximately 65.9% as compared with 2021 to approximately RMB88.08 million,
accounting for approximately 12.8% of total revenue. The capital expenditures of
global operators changed cyclically, except that in some emerging markets (such as
Africa, Southeast Asia, Latin America and other regions), there was still large room for
4G network construction or transformation, and in many countries and regions, 5G
construction was accelerated. It is expected that the capital expenditure of overseas
operators will further increase in the future, and large-scale construction will also proceed
simultaneously. The demand for overseas network construction will continue to increase.
The Group will continue to persist in the continuous expansion of overseas sales channels
and overseas operator customers, which will bring opportunities for sustained growth in

the future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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The Group has maintained strategic cooperation relationships with international
equipment manufacturer customers. With strong R&D technology and product quality, as
well as the accumulation of long-term stable cooperation, in 2022, the Group's sales to
interational equipment manufacturer customers increased significantly by approximately
37.2% as compared with the corresponding period of last year to approximately
RMB364.45 million, accounting for approximately 53.0% of total revenue. The Group
maintained an increasingly prominent share among leading global equipment manufacturer
customers, with both its technology and quality performance highly recognized by
customers. The number of shipments for microwave antenna products increased
significantly, and there were also new orders for relevant products including microwave
transmission lines, microwave accessories and microwave devices. It is believed that with
the advancement of international mobile network construction, the strengthening of
cooperation and communication with overseas customers and the continuous provision of
cost-effective products, overseas markets will bring opportunities for sustained growth for

the business of the Group.
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EEEWR DN

Gross profit

In 2022, the gross profit of the Group increased by approximately 535.6% to
approximately RMB106.84 million (2021: approximately RMB16.81 million), while the
gross profit margin increased from approximately 2.5% in 2021 to approximately 15.6% in
2022. Facing intensified market competition and continuous rising bulk commodity prices,
the Group adopted appropriate measures actively to strengthen cost management and
control. The gross profit of relevant products including antenna system and base station
radio frequency subsystem increased significantly. In addition, due to sales revenue growth,
the overall gross profit increased. The Group will continue to improve the overall gross
profit margin through constantly optimizing the product sales portfolio, increasing the sales
proportion of high-tech products and implementing effective control of internal costs in

the future.

The Group noticed that the technology path in the 3G/4G era was relatively short. With
the maturity and rapid spread of technology, there will be highly intense price competition
in the later stage of technological development, which will impact the profitability of the
industry. With the advent of 5G technology, the technology evolution path will be longer,
and there will be significant increase in technical difficulties, product solutions, quality
requirements and application scenarios, which will significantly reduce qualified suppliers
and be conducive to the improvement of competitive environment, enabling the Group
to focus more on improving product technology and quality. The Group believes that with
the continuous evolution of technology products, continuous improvement of product
quality and the continuous expansion of new business, the Group is full of confidence

both in the future recovery and growth of profit margins.

Other income

Other income increased by approximately 4.4 % to approximately RMB39.30 million,

mainly due to the increase in interest income from bank deposits.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Other gains and losses

Other gains and losses increased significantly by approximately RMB75.87 million to

approximately RMB85.37 million, mainly due to increase in settlement expenses.

Distribution and selling expenses

Distribution and selling expenses decreased by approximately 18.2% from approximately
RMB55.17 million in 2021 to approximately RMB45.14 million in 2022, mainly due to a
decrease in expenses including logistic fees, fair and exhibition fees, office expenses and
consulting fees as a result of the reduction of wages, the strengthening of cost control and

the decline in business activities.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses decreased by approximately 9.4% from approximately RMB98.63
million in 2021 to approximately RMB89.36 million in 2022, mainly due to a decrease in
expenses including wages, travel expenses, maintenance fees, recruitment and personnel

agency fees and vehicle expenses.

Research and development expenses

During the year, research and development expenses decreased by approximately
28.8% from approximately RMBI21.18 million in 2021 to approximately RMB86.30
million in 2022, mainly due to the decrease in expenses including wages of research and
development staff, welfare expenses, rent expenses, social insurance premiums, travel

expenses and research and development materials costs.
Finance costs
Finance costs decreased by approximately 35.4% from approximately RMB7.69 million in

2021 to approximately RMB4.97 million in 2022, mainly due to the decrease in interest

expense of bank borrowings.
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Loss before tax

Loss before taxation was approximately RMB222.08 million in 2022 (2021: a loss before
tax of approximately RMB308.04 million). Net profit margin before taxation increased

from approximately -46.6% in 2021 to approximately -32.3% in 2022.

The decrease in loss before taxation for the year was mainly attributable to the increase in

sales revenue and effective expense control measures.

Tax

Current income tax expense increased by approximately 40.0% from approximately
RMBI10,000 in 2021 to approximately RMB14,000 in 2022. Effective tax rates calculated
from the loss before tax of the Company was 0.006% and 0.003% in 2022 and 202

respectively.
Loss for the year
Loss for 2022 was approximately RMB229.76 million (2021: a loss for the year of

approximately RMB329.70 million). The Group's net profit margin was approximately
-33.4% in 2022 as compared to approximately -49.8% in 2021,
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Relationships with equipment manufacturers, operators and suppliers

The Group mainly sells antenna products and RF subsystem products to
telecommunication equipment manufacturer customers (such as ZTE) who build complete
networks for delivery to telecommunication operators (such as China Mobile), thus

enabling the Group to establish close and stable relations with equipment manufacturers.

The Group is also one of the few domestic technology providers offering RF solutions
to both global and domestic telecommunication operators (such as China Mobile, China
Unicom and China Telecom) and telecommunication equipment manufacturers (such
as ZTE and Nokia), which enables the Group to maintain a leading edge in product
technology and continuous expansion of customer channels, and thus to build close and

solid relations with global and domestic telecommunication operators.

Suppliers of the Group include raw material suppliers and contract manufacturers. The
Group has developed solid and steady relationships with many of its key suppliers.
Given solid and steady relationships with the suppliers, the Group believes that its
suppliers generally provide supplies to the Group with a priority and the Group has not
experienced any material shortage or delays in receiving supplies or services from the

suppliers during the track record period.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

A number of factors may affect the results and business operations of the Group. Major

risks and uncertainties are summarized below.
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Brand/Reputation Risk

The Group has established and maintained its MOBI brand that aims to provide the
products of the Group including antenna system, base station RF subsystem and
strategic development of business brand, primarily targeting leading system equipment
manufacturers and telecommunication operators worldwide for provision of its RF
solution. If the Group is unsuccessful in promoting its MOBI brand or fails to maintain
its brand position and market perception, system equipment manufacturers and
telecommunication operators’ acceptance of its MOBI brand may erode, and the Group's
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may be materially and

adversely affected.

Any negative publicity or dispute relating to the Group's MOBI brand, products,
sponsorship activities or management, the loss of any award or accreditation associated
with the Group's MOBI brand or products or the use of the “MOBI" trademark or brand
name by other businesses could materially and adversely affect the Group's business,

financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Market Trend

The Group's success depends on the market perception and customer acceptance of
MORBI brand and the Group's products, which in large part, rely on the Group's ability to

anticipate and respond to different market demands in a timely manner.

If the Group is unable to utilize new technologies and processes, anticipate and respond
to market and new technology trends and customer preferences in a timely manner,
demand for MOBI products may decrease. The Group's business would also suffer if
product creations or modifications do not respond to the needs of customers, are not
appropriately timed with market opportunities or are not effectively brought to market.
Any failure by the Group to offer products that respond to changing market and customer
preferences, or any shift in market or new technologies and processes and customer
preferences away from MOBI brand and the Group's products, could adversely affect

customers' interest in the Group's products.
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Competition

Currently, the Group's antenna system products, base station RF subsystem products and
related products of strategic development of business face different levels of competition
in their respective market sectors. As competitors with similar brand positioning may
emerge and intensify the current competition, there can be no assurance that the Group
will be able to compete effectively against competitors who may have greater financial
resources, greater scales of production, superior technology, better brand recognition
and a wider and more diverse network. To compete effectively and maintain the Group's
market share, the Group may be forced to, among other actions, reduce prices and
increase capital expenditures, which may in turn negatively affect the Group's profit

margins, business, financial condition and results of operations.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group's production process is carried out with low emissions and low energy
consumption, and it will not produce great amount of pollutants. The Group has been
endeavoring to ensure that the production process is in compliance with relevant

environmental rules and regulations.

In the past, the Group has not been in breach of any relevant environmental rules and
regulations and has not been imposed any relevant penalty. It is expected that the future
operational activities of the Group would not be affected by the environmental policies.
The Group strives for energy conservation and consumption reduction. In reducing the

operating costs, the Group also puts efforts in environmental protection.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group's operations are mainly carried out by the Group's subsidiaries in mainland
China while the Group itself is listed on the Stock Exchange. The Group's operations
accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and regulations in mainland China and Hong
Kong. During the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this Report, to the
best of our knowledge, the Group has complied with all the relevant laws and regulations
in mainland China and Hong Kong, and there is no material breach of or non-compliance

with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.
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FUTURE PROSPECTS
Outlook

Looking forward to the future, the Group will continue to focus on both domestic and
overseas markets, continue to be deeply engaged in the wireless mobile sector, focus on
traditional businesses including antenna system business and RF subsystem business, and
actively explore the "5G+" vertical industry application, and continue to make efforts and

expand into new businesses such as energy conservation and new energy.

As of the end of 2022, it has been more than three years since the official launch of 5G
commercialization in China. In the past three years, 5G in China has achieved leading
results in network deployment and other aspects, and has also made a breakthrough in
terms of application scenarios. In the “White Paper on 5G Application Innovation and
Development (2022)", it was also pointed out that “the industries such as industrial
Internet, smart mining, smart medical treatment and smart port have entered a stage of
rapid development” and “in 2022, 5G application development is in a critical period of
scale replication. 5G applications in China have begun to be replicated and promoted in

some industries, and nearly 4,000 projects have achieved replicable solutions this year (i.e.
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2022), representing an increase of | 13% compared to last year (ie. 2021)." In 2022, 5G
network construction in China entered the stage of large-scale development and caused
profound changes to industrial structures with its advantages in high speed, low latency,
high bandwidth and wide coverage, thus becoming the driving force for new technological
waves and industrial changes, and the policies played a leading role in it. In accordance
with the decisions and deployment of the CPC Central Committee and the State Council,
the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology solidly promoted the construction
of new infrastructure such as 5G. It successively issued the “‘Double Gigabit” Network
Collaborative Development Action Plan (2021-2023)" and the ““Sailing” Action Plan for
5G Application (2021-2023)" to promote the high-quality development of 5G network
construction and application. Moreover, in November 2021, the Ministry of Industry
and Information Technology issued the “14th Five-Year” Plan for the development of
the information and communications industry, which specifies the major indicators for
the development of the communications industry in the “14th Five-Year” Plan period.
Under the guidance of the central “[4th Five-Year" Plan, and with the policy and industrial
support from local governments, the empowering role of 5G has gradually become

prominent, and the development path of 5G applications has gradually become clear.
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The 5G application technology industry will gradually develop from the empowerment
stage of 5G basic technology and industry superimposition to the empowerment
stage of 5G-oriented industry technology and industrial optimization, and finally to the
empowerment stage of 5G integration technology and industry transformation. With the
continuous large-scale construction of 5G network in the future, there will be more new

opportunities for industrial development and consolidation.

With regard to overseas markets, the prospect for 5G development is promising. As of
December 2022, GSA statistics showed that more than 505 operators worldwide were
investing in 5G. According to the forecast of the GSMA Intelligence, “5G will surpass
4G in 2029 to become the dominant mobile technology in the late 2020s. By 2030,
5G adoption rates will exceed 85% in major 5G markets led by the GCC countries,
developed countries in Asia Pacific and North America.” "By 2030, 5G will benefit the
global economy by more than US$950 billion, accounting for more than 5% of the
overall impact of the mobile economy. Most of these benefits will be realized in developed
regions, including Southeast Asia and the Pacific, North America and Europe, which are
expected to show strong growth over the next five years. By the end of the 2020s, as 5G
technologies begin to achieve large-scale development and widespread adoption in low-
income and low-to-middle-income countries, these regions are also expected to realize
more and more 5G economic benefits. At present, overseas 5G has started entering the
start-up stage, but the development of 5G in Europe is lagging behind that in Asia, which
will also bring new market opportunities to the domestic telecommunication industry.”
As the domestic 5G development is in the top-tier of the world, the technology and
experience are relatively mature, which will bring certain advantages in the overseas
market competition in the future. In addition, overseas 4G construction remains in
progress. There is a large demand for 4G network construction and transformation in
some emerging markets (such as Africa, Latin America, Southeast Asia and other regions),
as the overseas 4G penetration rate is not high. In the future, with the gradual saturation
of overseas 4G network markets, the introduction of 5G in foreign countries will have
a counter-cyclical impact on us and will also bring new opportunities. The Group will
further expand its presence in overseas operator markets, be continuously included in the
shortlist by major multinational and regional operators, and further deepen the strategic
cooperation relationship with international equipment manufacturers, thus continuously
increasing the Group's share in the global market in the long term. The continuous
expansion of presence in the global market will help advance the upward development in

the next few years and achieve sustained growth for a longer period.
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Customers

The Group persists in the vision and goal of “becoming the world's first-class supplier
of RF technology for mobile communications”. The Group is committed to providing
RF technology solutions to global leading system equipment manufacturers and

telecommunication operators.

The Group is also one of the few domestic technology providers offering RF solutions to
both global system equipment manufacturers and telecommunication operators, which
enables the Group to maintain a continuous leading edge in product technology and

continuous expansion of customer channels.

In 2022, relevant strategic cooperation with domestic customers was continuously
broadened and deepened. On the one hand, the Group continuously won the bid
for antenna centralized procurement projects of domestic operators, and maintained
its close and in-depth strategic cooperation with domestic operators in macro base
station antennas, integrated aesthetic antennas, RF devices, indoor distribution projects,
aesthetic comprehensive solutions, special scenario coverage, etc. On the other hand,
the Group continued to maintain its advantage as a leading supplier of domestic
equipment manufacturers by leveraging on product technology, quality performance
and customer communication. According to the “[4th Five-Year” Plan, the large-
scale construction of 5G network will be continuously and vigorously promoted, and
major domestic operators and equipment manufacturers are expected to occupy an
important market share. In the current 5G network construction in China, the degree of
strategic cooperation with operators and system equipment manufacturers will largely
determine the domestic market share of 5G antenna and RF subsystem business. The
Group's close strategic partnership with domestic equipment manufacturers will make
the Group's advantages more prominent in the future market. The Group believes that
the continuous implementation of 5G network construction in China will bring business
opportunities for continuous growth in the future. In addition, the Group has started to
make arrangements for new business areas in recent years to overcome the bottlenecks
of the traditional business, thus coping with more intense market challenges in the future.
The Group has actively explored the application areas in the “5G+" vertical industry
and new business areas including energy conservation and new energy, and continuously
explored the growth opportunities in new business areas. The Group has also sought to
expanding its customer base while carrying out industrial upgrading and transformation.
With the continuous efforts to explore new business areas, in 2022, the Group made a

breakthrough in terms of discovering potential customers such as government customers,
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CHANGES ARISING OUT OF 5G

enterprise customers and customer bases. It is believed that this will also lay the

foundation for the Group's future expansion of sales channels and results improvement.

With regard to overseas customers, in 2022, with continuous technology accumulation
and market expansion, the Group continued to tap into the international market and
continuously expanded its overseas customer base. Not only did the Group increase
its cooperation with overseas operator customers to lay a solid foundation for market
growth in the next few years, but also continued to maintain strategic cooperation
relationships with international equipment manufacturer customers, maintained an
advantageous share, continued to deepen cooperation in RF business, and achieved
continuous increase in market share and delivery scale. The Group believes that with the
advancement of overseas base station construction in the future, the Group will continue
to maintain its market advantage, and that with relevant overseas business opportunities,
the Group will continuously secure orders from the market. With regard to overseas
operators, the Group will make greater efforts to promote the technological upgrading of
products and improve product coverage, so as to meet the demand of overseas operator
customers, and continuously advance the inclusion in the new shortlist. With regard to
international equipment manufacturers, the Group believes that the continuous deepening
of cooperation with international equipment manufacturer customers, the implementation
of research and development projects and the entering of climb delivery stage of new

products will still facilitate continuous business growth in the future.
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Products

On 6 June 2019, the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of China officially
issued 5G licenses to four operators, namely China Mobile, China Telecom, China Unicom
and China Broadcasting Network, marking 5G commercialization in China. In December
2020, the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of China issued a |0-year
license for the use of 5G medium and low-frequency use licenses to China Telecom,
China Mobile and China Unicom. Hence, the major four domestic operators have covered
multiple frequency bands with their respective advantages. Adhering to the principle of
cost reduction and mutual benefit, major domestic telecommunication operators decided
to jointly build and share, leveraged their respective advantages in this frequency band,
improved the utilization efficiency and benefits of frequency resources, and thus realized
comprehensive improvement in bandwidth, latency, and synchronization performance
in the 5G era. As 2022 came to an end, 5G construction in China entered the mid-to-
late stage. With efforts of operators for arrangements and under the guidance of the
“I4th Five-Year” Plan and relevant policies, there is a strong driving force for industry
development, which will continuously bring new industry development opportunities
and industry integration opportunities. On the one hand, the high and low-frequency
collaborative networking for 5G starts, and the number of base stations will increase in
scale, which will result in the demand for a large number of new base stations, as well as
the need of the roof reconstruction of existing base stations. On the other hand, driven
by the 5G network construction, the process of digital transformation in various fields has
been accelerated. 5G application will probably develop more explosively, while the vertical
application is expected to emerge gradually. The Group also insists on technological
innovation as the core driving force of our enterprise development, and continuously
strengthens research and development efforts to cope with the repeated calculation of
technical solutions from time to time. In the first half of 2022, the Group won the China
Patent Excellence Award for our invention patent “ceramic dielectric filters”, which also
indicated another breakthrough made by the Group in RF technology. At the end of
December 2022, the Jiangxi Provincial Science and Technology Department issued the
“Notice on Agreeing to Form 16 Provincial Industrial Technology Innovation Strategic
Alliances”, pursuant to which, the telecommunication sectors were led by the subsidiary
of our Group, MOBI Jian, to form the Jiangxi Province Telecommunications Transmission
System Industry Technology Innovation Strategic Alliance. This is another recognition and
affirmation of the Group's leading position in the industry and our charisma. It is believed
that through the building of the alliance, we will strengthen the collaborative innovation
among industries, improve the industrial chain and the innovation chain, and achieve

industrial upgrade. The Group believes that the technological threshold of cutting-edge
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high-end antennas and the innovatory base station RF subsystem technology are beneficial
to the Group in competition, while the Group has the capacity of the whole industry
chain for product research and development and mass production, and has supplied
goods steadily and massively. In general, the Group believes that with the Group's leading
position in technologies of 5G antennas and RF subsystems, and the integrated and
source-based development of antennas and RF subsystems, the Group's technology and
customer accumulation in these two segments will enable the Group to keep working in

5G network construction.

Globally, despite the popularization of LTE network, its overall development remains
highly unbalanced, with the long-term imbalance between regions, and LTE network
construction continues. Meanwhile, 5G has gradually entered the start-up stage globally.
This will also bring incremental demand for overseas 5G base stations in the future, which
will drive the demand growth for products such as antenna systems and RF subsystems.
The demand for overseas LTE network construction and complex multi-network stations
will bring about a further upgrade of multi-frequency and multi-system antenna and multi-
beam antenna technologies, making them closer to ultimate design. At present, China is
in a global leading position in the field of 5G communication. The leading technology and
the accumulation of experience provide the Group with strong technical advantages in
deploying 5G overseas, which also greatly improves the competitiveness of the Group.
Currently, with technically superb design solutions and professional and sophisticated
functional indicators, the Group has continuously undertaken a number of R&D projects
from overseas customers and passed corresponding tests. In the future, the Group's
continuous entry into the shortlists for overseas operators, and the accumulation of multi-
frequency and multi-system integrated antenna technology and hybrid beam antenna
technology, including its improvement in automated and intelligent production capabilities,
enable the Group to further upgrade its antenna development platform to meet the

evolving technical demands of international operators.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWRIMN

The rich application scenarios are created in the 5G era, which enables the development
of new business forms in vertical industries. Diversified product demand will provide broad
market space. In order to realize the industrial transformation and upgrading, the Group
begins to enter into a new business path and create a number of new telecommunication
scenarios including “telecommunication + new energy/energy conservation”.
Telecommunication manufacturers have natural advantages in the new energy application
scenarios. On one hand, the related technologies in the telecommunication sector are
homologous to the underlying technologies of the new energy scenario, and can extend
the original technology to the new energy sector; on the other hand, since there are
scalability of relevant production lines and interoperability of pipelines in the traditional
sector and the new energy sector, this allows telecommunication manufacturers to quickly
replicate their accumulated product and solution experience to the new energy sector,
significantly reducing the difficulty of entry. Moreover, in December 2022, the State
Councdil issued the “Outline of the Strategic Plan for Expanding Domestic Demand (2022-
2035)", which mentioned “the promotion of 5G, artificial intelligence, in-depth integration
of technologies such as big data with transportation and logistics, energy, ecological and

environmental protection, water conservation, emergency response and public services,
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to help improve the governance capabilities of relevant industries”. With the support of
policies and our own advantages, the Group believes that this business path will have
greater growth opportunities in the future. The Group believes that the diversified
business structure is not only beneficial to the steady expansion of market share in the
future, but also conducive to the gradual development of the Group into a platform-based
enterprise. The continuous expansion and deepening of services and cooperation with
domestic and overseas operator customers and equipment manufacturer customers and
the continuous expansion of new businesses will help increase the market share of the

Group and bring more new opportunities for business growth of the Group in the future.

Conclusion

The Group is one of the few one-stop solution providers of RF technology for global
network operators and system equipment manufacturers in the PRC, with a wide range
of well-known customers and diversified income sources contributing to its healthy and

stable growth.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group believes that in the future, with the in-depth development of overseas
4G construction and the continuous large-scale construction of 5G in China, the
telecommunication equipment industry is expected to usher in a new round of growth. In
addition, with the in-depth cooperation with traditional customers and new drivers from
new business areas, the Group believes that it will have a larger market share in the future.
The Company and the Board will continue to optimize the size and mix of customer
base and adopt differentiated competition strategies underpinned by technology and cost
advantages to maximize the market opportunities in LTE, 5G and next generation wireless
technologies, thus enhancing the Group's overall competitiveness to ensure the robust
business performance of the Group and create more value for shareholders and the

society.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group has funded the Group's operation and capital requirements with cash
generated from business, trade credit from our suppliers and short-term bank borrowings.
Our primary uses of cash have been for our increased working capital needs, capital

expenditures on purchases of production equipment.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had net current assets of approximately RMB186.29
million (2021: approximately RMB330.09 million) including inventories of approximately
RMB180.84 million (2021: approximately RMB213.11 million), trade receivables and
notes receivable of approximately RMB387.16 million (2021: approximately RMB447.30
million) and trade payables and notes payable of approximately RMB582.43 million (2021:
approximately RMB527.19 million).

The Group maintained effective management of its working capital. For the year ended
31 December 2022, average inventories turnover, average receivables turnover and
average payables turover were approximately 124 days (2021: 137 days), 222 days (2021:
263 days) and 349 days (2021: 306 days) respectively. We offer credit terms generally
accepted in the antenna system and base station RF subsystem manufacturing industry to
our trade customers. In general, the average credit period for local network operators is

longer than global network operators and solution providers.
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As at 31 December 2022, the Group recorded a pledged bank balance of approximately
RMB89.79 million (2021: approximately RMB72.17 million), cash and bank balances of
approximately RMB174.28 million (2021: approximately RMB250.55 million) and recorded
bank and other borrowings of approximately RMB38.56 million (2021: approximately
RMB137.28 million). The current ratio (current assets divided by current liabilities)
decreased from approximately .44 times as at 31 December 2021 to approximately
[.25 times as at 31 December 2022. The gearing ratio (bank borrowings divided by total
assets) was approximately 2.9% as at 3|1 December 2022 as compared with a gearing
ratio of approximately 8.8% as at 3| December 2021. The interest rates on the Group's
bank borrowings are designated as fixed rates or floating rates based on prevailing market

rates.

The Board is of the opinion that the Group has a solid and stable financial position and
adequate resources to satisfy necessary operating capital requirements and foreseeable

capital expenditures.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

RMB is the functional currency of the Group. Currencies other than RMB expose the
Group to foreign currency risk. We have foreign currency sales and purchases and
certain trade receivables and bank balances are denominated in USD, EUR and HKD.
We currently do not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management

monitors and will consider hedging of foreign currency exposure when the need arises.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had approximately 1,791 staffs. The total staff
costs amounted to approximately RMB211.08 million for the year ended 2022. The
remuneration of the Group's employees is determined on the basis of their responsibilities
and industry practices. Regular training is provided to improve the skills and expertise of
relevant staff. The Group also grants share options and discretionary bonuses to eligible

staffs based on their performance.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CHARGE ON ASSETS
As at 31 December 2022, bank balances of approximately RMB89.79 million were
pledged to secure bank borrowings and bills payable granted to the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

During 2022, a total amount of 4,558,000 shares of the Company had been repurchased
at prices ranging from HK$0.162 per share to HK$0.375 per share by the Company via
Stock Exchange. The Company had subsequently cancelled all these shares repurchased
during the year. Save as mentioned above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries

had purchased or sold any of the Company's listed securities during the current year.

DIVIDEND
The Board does not recommend any payment of final dividend for the year ended 3|

December 2022.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining shareholders who are entitled to attend the annual
general meeting of the Company to be held on 23 May 2023 (2023 AGM"), the Register
of Members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, |8 May 2023 to Tuesday,
23 May 2023, both days inclusive. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the
2023 AGM, all transfer documents should be lodged for registration with the Company's
share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited (the “Company’s
Registrar)at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F., Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, |7 May 2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board has been adamant in upholding high standards of corporate governance
to maximize the operational efficiency, corporate values and shareholder returns of
the Company. The Company adopted sound governance and disclosure practices and
continued to upgrade internal control system, strengthen risk control management and

reinforce the corporate governance structure.

Save for the deviation disclosed in this report, the Company has complied with the code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code Provisions”) as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(“Listing Rules”) during the year ended 31 December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company, that they
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code during the year ended 31
December 2022.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

The Board comprises five Directors, including one executive Director, one non-executive

Director and three independent non-executive Directors. The following sets out the

composition of the Board, by category of Directors:

Executive Director:
Hu Xiang (Chairman)

Non-executive Director:

Qu Degian

Independent non-executive Directors:
Li Tianshu

Zhang Han

Ge Xiaojing

The Board's composition demonstrates a balance of core competence with regard to the
business of the Group so as to provide effective leadership and the required expertise to
the Group. The executive Director and senior management have extensive management
experience in the wireless communication antennas and base station RF subsystems

industry. The biographical details and experience of the Directors and senior management

are set out on pages 107 to |13 of this report.

There are no financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships among

members of the Board.

Corporate Governance Report
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Board Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Group and is entrusted with the
responsibility to supervise the overall management of the business, including establishing
and overseeing the Group's strategic development, business plans, financial objectives,
capital investment proposals and assumes the responsibilities of corporate governance
of the Group. The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for implementing
its business strategies and managing the daily operations of the Group's businesses to the

executive Directors and members of senior management of the Group.
Board Meetings

The Board conducts meetings on a regular basis and on an ad hoc basis, as warranted by
business needs. During the year ended 31 December 2022, four Board meetings, two
audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) meetings, one remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) meeting and one nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) meeting were convened. Details of attendance of Board meetings of each of
the members of the Board are set out in “Attendance of Individual Directors at Meetings”

below.

Notices for regular Board meetings are given to each Director at least 14 days prior to
the meeting, whereby the Directors can put forward his proposed items into the agenda.
The agenda and the relevant Board papers are then circulated to the Directors not less
than 3 days before a Board meeting in order to enable the Directors to make an informed

decisions. For other Board meetings, reasonable notices are given.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board at all times met the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive Directors with one of them possessing appropriate professional qualifications or

accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence from each of
the independent non-executive Directors. The Company is of the view that all the
independent non-executive Directors meet the guidelines for assessing independence as

set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers them to be independent.
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Board Diversity Policy

Pursuant to Code Provision A.5.6 of Corporate Governance Code, the Board has adopted
a Board Diversity Policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) which sets out the Company's
approach to achieving diversity of its Board. The Company recognises that an increase
in diversity at the Board level will support the achievement of its strategic objectives and
sustainable development. The Company seeks to increase Board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors including, but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. The Company will also take into consideration its own business model and specific

needs from time to time in determining the optimum composition of the Board.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

As at the date of this report, Hu Xiang is both the chairman of the Board and chief
executive officer of the Company, responsible for the leadership and effective running
of the Board to formulate overall strategies and business development directions for the
Group and for the daily management of the business of the Group, implementation of the
policies, business objectives and plans set by the Board and is accountable to the Board

for the overall operation of the Group.

Code Provision A.2.1

This code provision stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should
be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. Currently, Mr. Hu Xiang
is both the Chairman and chief executive officer of the Company. Mr. Hu is one of the
founders of the Group and has extensive experience in the telecommunication industry.
Given the current stage of development of our Group, the Board believes that vesting
the two roles in the same person provides our Company with strong and consistent
leadership and facilitates the implementation and execution of our Group's business
strategies. We shall nevertheless review the structure from time to time in light of the

prevailing circumstances.

Non-Executive Directors

The term of appointment of all the non-executive and independent non-executive
Directors of the Company is three years. Under the Company's Articles of Association,
one-third of all Directors (whether executive or non-executive) is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at each annual general meeting provided that every Director

shall be subject to retirement at least once every three vears.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The Board established the Remuneration Committee with specific written terms of
reference which deal clearly with its authority and responsibilities. The Remuneration
Committee comprises all the independent non-executive Directors, namely Li Tianshu,
Zhang Han and Ge Xiaojing and one non-executive Director, namely Qu Degian. The

Remuneration Committee is chaired by Li Tianshu.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for assisting the Board in achieving
its objective of attracting and retaining Directors and senior management of the
highest caliber and experience needed to develop the Group's business successfully.
The Remuneration Committee is also responsible for the development of a fair and
transparent procedure in determining the remuneration policies for the Directors and
senior management of the Company and for determining their remuneration packages.

The principal functions of the Remuneration Committee include:
. formulation of remuneration policy for approval by the Board;

. recommendation to the Board the policy and structure for the remuneration of

Directors and senior management;

. determination of the remuneration of executive Directors and senior management,

including benefits in kind and compensation payments;

. review and approval of the compensation arrangements in connection with any
loss or termination of their office or appointment, or dismissal or removal for

misconduct to executive Directors and senior management; and
. determination of the criteria for assessing employee performance.
No Director is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Remuneration Committee held one
meeting to review the Company's remuneration policies, the terms of the service
contracts and the performance of all executive Directors and senior management. Details
of attendance of Remuneration Committee meetings of each of the members of the
Remuneration Committee are set out in “Attendance of Individual Directors at Meetings”

below.

Details of the emoluments of each Director, on a named basis, are set out in note 10 to

the financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board established the Nomination Committee with specific written terms of
reference which deal clearly with its authority and responsibilities on 22 March 2012. The
Nomination Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Li Tianshu, Zhang Han and Ge Xiaojing, one non-executive Director, namely Qu Degian
and one executive Director, namely, Hu Xiang. The Nomination Committee is chaired by
Hu Xiang. Currently all new appointments to the Board will be considered by the Board

whose deliberations are based on the following criteria:

. possession of core competencies, including but not limited to financial literacy,
that are appropriate to the Company’s business and complement the skills and

competencies of the existing Directors on the Board;

. ability to commit time and effort to carry out duties and responsibilities effectively;
and

. possession of a good track record of experience at a senior level in corporations/
organizations.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Nomination Committee held one
meeting to review the structure, size and composition of the Board to ensure that it
has a balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the
business of the Company. Details of attendance of Nomination Committee meeting of
each of the members of the Nomination Committee are meeting of each of the members
of the Nomination Committee set out in “Attendance of Individual Directors at Meetings”

below.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board established the Audit Committee with specific written terms of reference
which deal clearly with its authority and responsibilities. The Audit Committee comprises
all the independent non-executive Directors. Zhang Han is the chairman of the Audit

Committee.

The Audit Committee serves as a focal point for communication between the Directors,
the external auditors and chief financial officer as regards their duties relating to, among
other things, financial and other reporting, internal controls and external audits and
to assist the Board in fuffilling its responsibilities by providing independent view and

supervision of financial reporting.
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The Board is of the opinion that the members of the Audit Committee have sufficient
accounting and financial management expertise or experience to discharge their duties.

The principal functions of the Audit Committee include:

. to make recommendations on the appointment, reappointment and removal of

external auditor and to approve the remuneration and terms of such appointments;

. to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity;

. to develop and implement policies on the engagement of external auditor for non-

audit services;

. to monitor the integrity of the financial statements, annual and interim reports and
the auditor’s report to ensure that the information presents a true and balanced

assessment of the Group's financial position;
. to review the Group's financial and accounting policies and practices;

. to oversee the Group's financial reporting system, risk management and internal

control systems;

. to ensure the management has fulfilled its duty to maintain an effective internal

control system; and

. to review the external auditor's management letter and any questions raised by the

auditor to the management and the management's response.

Two meetings were held by the Audit Committee during the year ended 31 December
2022. The Audit Committee reviewed, together with the management and the external
auditors, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022,
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and statutory compliance.
In addition to reviewing the Group's risk management and internal control systems and
the effectiveness of the internal audit function, the Audit Committee also reviewed the
independence of the external auditors and approved the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditors. Details of attendance of Audit Committee meetings
of each of the members of the Audit Committee are set out in “Attendance of Individual

Directors at Meetings” below.
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ATTENDANCE OF INDIVIDUAL DIRECTORS AT MEETINGS

The Code Provision stipulates that the board should meet regularly for at least 4 times
a year at approximately quarterly intervals. The attendance of individual Directors
at meetings of the Board, the Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee, the annual general meeting during the year ended 3| December

2022, respectively, is set forth in the table below:

CREARS

EESHESEER
SFRABRNHATESSATHETEE  8F
ED4RNEEE-IR - BE2002F12A
3IBLEEE  SEFHFEES  FMWZEE
g BREEY REZEGRBRFEAFK
FEEBERADRIEN T

Meetings attended/Meetings held

Remuneration

Board Committee

Name of Director EEHS EEE FHEES

Hu Xiang e 4/4 N/A
NEA

Qu Degian fBE 4/4

Li Tianshu EREF 4/4

Zhang Han M 4/4

Ge Xiaojing EEE 4/4

EhkERERLXT
20224 3R

HREEHEER BTHER

Annual
Audit  Nomination General
Committee Committee Meeting

EREEE REZEE RRBFAE

N/A [/1 11
TEH

N/A 11 11
TEH

22 11 11

212 11 /1

2/2 [/1 [/1
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

Pursuant to A.6.5 of the Corporate Governance Code, all Directors should participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
The Directors are regularly briefed on the amendments to or updates on the relevant
laws, rules and regulations. From time to time, Directors are provided with written
materials to develop and refresh their professional skills. The Directors had fulfilled the
relevant requirements under A.6.5 of the Corporate Governance Code during the year
ended 3| December 2022.

COMPANY SECRETARY’S TRAINING

Pursuant to rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, the Company Secretary must take no less than
I'5 hours of relevant professional training in each financial year. The Company Secretary
is Mr. Lau Wing and has taken more than |5 hours of relevant professional development

during the year ended 31 December 2022.

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE AND EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company (“Articles”), without prejudice to
and in addition to complying with the applicable requirements set forth in the Listing Rules
and other applicable laws and regulations, the Company has since 17 December 2009,
the date on which its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange adopted a stringent system
to avoid potential conflict of interests respecting transactions (“Relevant Transactions”) in
which any Directors are interested in, and transactions with any of our connected persons
(as defined under the Listing Rules) or any company in which the controlling shareholder
(as defined under the Listing Rules) of the Company or its shareholders, individually
or collectively, owns a direct or indirect equity interest of 10% or above (including
transactions with ZTE Corporation and Shenzhen Zhongxingxindi Technologies Co., Ltd.)

("Relevant Companies”), as follows:

(1) Any Relevant Transactions be approved by way of a resolution passed by a majority
of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors, provided
that any non-executive Director or independent non-executive Director interested
in the transactions in question will declare his or her interest and will abstain from

voting on such matters;

(2)  Any Director has a conflict of interest will not participate or be involved in matters

relating to the Relevant Transactions;
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(3)  An executive committee (the “Executive Committee”) comprising the chief financial
officer and the deputy financial officer of the Company has been established to
monitor, review and manage all Relevant Transactions, and to prepare semi-annual
report in relation to the execution of the Relevant Transactions (“Semi-annual

Report") for the supervisory committee’s (the “Supervisory Committee”) review;

(4)  The Supervisory Committee comprising three independent non-executive
Directors (each of whom shall not have any interest in any transaction under
consideration by the Supervisory Committee and shall not be in a position of
conflict of interest when acting in such capacity) has been set up, among other
things, to supervise the Executive Committee, review and approve the terms and
conditions of continuing connected transactions and Relevant Transactions, devise
and review rules and guidelines for the Executive Committee to follow, review
Semi-annual Report from the Executive Committee, report its findings to the Board
and give recommendations to the Board to ensure that the Relevant Transactions
will be entered into in the interest of the Company and its shareholders as a whole;

and

(5)  The Board will disclose the decisions, findings and recommendations on the
transactions reviewed by the Executive Committee and the Supervisory Committee

in the Company's interim and annual reports.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, two meetings were held by the Supervisory
Committee to review the report on Relevant Transactions in respect of the sales and
purchase entered into by the Group with the Relevant Companies prepared by the
Executive Committee. As reported by the Supervisory Committee, (i) it had reviewed
and approved the master agreements entered into by the Group and the Relevant
Companies and considered the terms and conditions therein were fair and reasonable; (ii)
it had reviewed the supplier procurement bidding documents and internal procurement
procedures of the Group; (iii) it had devised and reviewed rules and guidelines for
Executive Committee and the Executive Committee had followed accordingly; and (iv)
it had reviewed the report submitted by the Executive Committee. The Supervisory
Committee considered Relevant Transactions conducted during the review period were
in line with the respective master agreements and the intemnal procedures of the Group,
were on fair and normal commercial terms and there was no other matter that needs to

be brought to the attention of the Board and shareholders of the Company.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, Certified Public Accountants, the external auditors of the
Company, were responsible for providing services in connection with the audit of the

financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the total remuneration in respect of audit services
provided by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for the Group amounted to approximately
RMB2.20 million.

The Audit Committee recommended to the Board (which endorsed the view) that,
subject to shareholders' approval at the forthcoming AGM, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu be
re-appointed as the external auditors of the Company for 2023.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board aims to present a comprehensive, balanced and understandable assessment
of the Group's performance, position and prospects. The management provides such
explanations and information to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the

matters put before the Board for approval.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial statements of
the Group and for ensuring that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with

applicable statutory requirements and accounting standards.

The Group has announced its annual results in a timely manner within the limits of three

months after the end of the financial period, as laid down in the Listing Rules.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The main objectives of the Group's risk management and internal control systems are
to provide a clear governance structure, policies and procedures, as well as reporting

mechanism to facilitate the Group in managing risks across its business operations.

The Group has established a risk management framework, which consists of the Board
of Directors, the Audit Committee and the Risk Management Taskforce. The Board of
Directors assesses and  determines the nature and extent of risks that shall be taken in
achieving the Group's strategic objectives, and ensures that the Group establishes and
maintains appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems. The
Board also has overall responsibility for monitoring the design, implementation and

effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control systems.
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The Group has formulated and adopted a Risk Management Policy for providing direction
in identifying, evaluating and managing significant risks on at least an annual basis, the Risk
Management Taskforce identifies risks that would adversely affect the achievement of the
Group's objectives, and assesses and prioritizes the identified risks according to a set of
standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans are established and risk owners are then assigned

for the management of those risks considered to be significant.

In addition, the Group has established an internal audit function to assist the Board of
Directors and the Audit Committee with ongoing monitoring of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group. Deficiencies in the design and implementation of
interal controls are identified and recommendations are proposed for their remediation.
Significant internal control deficiencies are reported to the Audit Committee and the

Board of Directors on a timely basis to ensure that they are promptly addressed.

Risk management and internal control reports are submitted to the Audit Committee and
the Board of Directors at least once a year. The Board of Directors performs an annual
review of the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control systems
including, but not limited to, changes in the nature and extent of significant risks after
the review in the prior year, the Group's ability to cope with its business transformation
and changing external environment; the scope and quality of the management’s ongoing
monitoring of risks and internal control systems; results of internal audit work; the extent
and frequency of communication of the results of monitoring of risk management and
internal control systems to the Board of Directors; significant failures or weaknesses
identified and their related implications; and the effectiveness of the Group's processes for
financial reporting and Listing Rules compliance. Following its review for the year ended
31 December 2022, the Board of Directors considers the Group's risk management and

internal control systems are effective.

The risk management and intemal control systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable

and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR THE HANDLING AND
DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Board has established an Inside Information Policy for the handling and dissemination
of Inside Information. The Group complies with requirements of the Securities & Futures
Ordinance (“SFO™) and the Listing Rules. It discloses inside information to the public as
soon as reasonably practicable unless the information falls within any of the Safe Harbours,
as provided in the SFO. Before information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group
ensures that it is kept strictly confidential. If the Group believes that the necessary degree
of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may have been breached,
the Group would immediately disclose the information to the public. The Group is
committed to ensuring that information contained in announcements is not false or
misleading as to material fact, or omission of material fact, and to presenting information in
a clear and balanced way, including through equal disclosure of both positive and negative

information.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
As one of the measures to safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each substantial issue, including the

election of individual Directors for shareholders’ consideration and voting.

Resolutions put forward at our shareholders” meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant
to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of our Company and of

the Stock Exchange after each shareholders” meeting,
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Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 79 of our Company's Articles of Association, an extraordinary
general meeting shall also be convened on the written requisition of any two
or more members of the Company deposited at the principal office of the
Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a
principal office, the registered office specifying the objects of the meeting and
signed by the requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held as at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.
An extraordinary general meeting may also be convened on the written requisition
of any one member of the Company which is a recognised clearing house (or its
nominee(s)) deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in
the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist, provided
that such requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company. If the Board does not within 21 days
from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting
to be held within a further 30 Days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them,
may convene an extraordinary general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as
possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the Board provided that
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to

them by the Company.
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(i)  Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals at general meetings may
achieve so by means of convening an extraordinary general meeting following the

procedures set out in paragraph (i) above.

As regards the procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a

Director, they are available on our Company's website (www.mobi-antenna.com).
(i)  Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, shareholders may send written
enquires to our Company by addressing them to the Company Secretary by mail at

Unit A, 25/F, One Island South, 2 Heung Yip Road, Wong Chuk Hang, Hong Kong.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
During the year ended 31 December 2022, there has not been any change in the

Company's constitutional documents.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Group establishes and maintains different communication channels with its
shareholders through the publication of annual and interim reports, information of the
Stock Exchange, a corporate website, and general and investor meetings. The Group is
going to report to its shareholders twice a year and maintains a regular dialogue with

investors.

The annual general meeting provides a useful forum for shareholders to exchange
views with the Board. Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each

substantially separate issue, including the election of Directors.
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We sell our products to network operators in China and overseas directly for deployment
into the networks they are constructing and operating. We also sell our products to some
of the world's leading wireless network solution providers who incorporate our products
into their wireless coverage solutions, such as their proprietary base stations, which they

then sell to network operators worldwide.

The Company relies on scientific management and a people-oriented corporate
culture in pursuing “dedication, devotion, pragmatism and pioneership”. We deem it
our responsibility to provide our employees with an ideal working environment and
development opportunities so that they can exert their full potential. Through scientific
management, we aim to create a good working atmosphere for employees while providing
reasonable incentives to promote their healthy growth. It is our relentless pursuit to satisfy

customers, employees, investors and the whole community.

The Company adheres to the principle of sustainable development and lays great
emphasis on environmental protection throughout its entire product life cycle in the
course of its business operations, from product design and development, procurement of
parts and components, manufacturing to product delivery. Through systematic planning
and operation, we ensure that the impact on the environment is minimized, and that the
use of resources is efficient from the source so as to reduce resource consumption and

achieve energy conservation.

In terms of the establishment of its management system, the Company passed the
ISO9001 Quality Management Systems Certification, TL9000 Information Communication
Technology (ICT) Quality Management System Certification, 1SO14001 Environmental
Management System Certification, 1SO45001 Occupational Health and Safety
Management System Certification and ESD 520.20 ESD Protection Management System
Certification. It made efforts in social responsibility management, risk management, carbon
emission, conflict minerals and corporate governance by setting up and strictly complying

with corresponding policies and standards, thereby achieving substantial results.

We are committed to providing quality and sophisticated products and building long-term

partnerships with our customers.
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COMPANY VISION

“Becoming a global leading provider of RF technology for mobile communications.”

CORPORATE MISSION

“Explore and walk on the path to survival and development of the Company with
collective intelligence from employees; continuously bring management and technology
innovation into practice; and develop MOBI into a global leading provider of RF

technology for mobile communications.”

CORE VALUES OF THE COMPANY
“Accountability, devotion, diligence and efficiency, team-spirit, care for people, mutual

respect.”

HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT PHILOSOPHY OF THE COMPANY
“Human resources is the core to the sustainable rapid development of the Company, we
pay close attention to the performance and remuneration of the employees, as well as

their development.”

TABLE OF CONTENTS
About this Report
Environmental/Occupational Health and Safety Policy of MOBI
General Rules on Corporate Social Responsibility of MOBI
Devotion to Environmental Protection
Emissions
Use of Resources
Environment and Natural Resources
Conflict Minerals
Establishment of a Team of Excellence
Staff Employment
Health and Safety
Development and Training
Labor Standards
Staff Activities
Responsible Supply Chain and Product Liability Management
Supply Chain Management
Product Liability
Compliance in Operation
Compliance with Laws and Regulations
Anti-corruption
Community Involvement
Charity Activities
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Pursuant to the requirements set out in the ESG Reporting Guidelines (“ESG Guidelines"),
Appendix 27 of the Main Board Listing Rules of the HKEx, the Company is pleased to
publish this report on the environmental, social and governance aspects for the disclosure
on the relevant information (this “Report”). This Report covers the period from | January
2022 to 31 December 2022 (the “Reporting Period"). This Report mainly covers the
performance of MOBI Development's subsidiaries in three places of operation (Shenzhen,
Guangdong; Xi'an, Shaanxi, and Ji'an, Jiangxi) with respect to environmental, social and
governance.

The Board of Directors of the Company assumes full responsibility for the overall
environmental, social and governance strategy and reporting of the Company, and has
established a corporate social responsibility governance structure. The Board is responsible
for assessing, determining and prioritizing the issuers’ risks in relation to environment,
society and governance (including risks to the Company's businesses) and for ensuring that
the Company establishes appropriate and effective environmental, social and goverance
risk management and internal control systems, while the management is responsible for
monitoring and managing the risks associated with environment, society and governance
and the effectiveness of the management system. The management personnel will be
responsible for checking the information disclosed in this Report, while the Board of the
Company will be responsible for review and approval thereof. The Board has authorized
the environmental, social and governance working group to carry out the day-to-day work
in relation to corporate governance and corporate social responsibility. The responsibilities
of the working group include conducting internal and external materiality assessments,
implementing the strategies and policies of the Board, preparing environmental, social and
governance reports, and collecting and monitoring information and data related to daily
corporate social responsibilities.

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company assumes the overall responsibility
on the Company's management tactics and reports on ESG as well as for the identification,
assessment and determination of the Company's risks concerning ESG and ESG target
progression. The Board ensures that the Company has established a proper and effective
system of ESG risk management and internal control. In addition to providing supervision
and guidance, the Board regularly listens to management teams' reports on production
safety, operation and management, internal control, corporate social responsibility and
ESG target. The Board assesses and ranks risk hierarchies, taking consideration of, among
others, the impacts on our corporate strategies, policies, procedures and commitment,
impacts on the Company's competitive edges and management excellence, and current
and future financial impacts on the Company.

The Company has established an internal audit department and will also engage a third
party to carry out an independent assessment of risk and internal monitoring systems
every year to provide improvement suggestions on risk management and internal control
as required. The management personnel will be responsible for checking the information
disclosed in this Report, while the Board of the Company will be responsible for review
and approval thereof.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The Company conducts business activities in a responsible and sustainable manner
to create value for employees, customers and shareholders, as well as to fulfill its
commitment to the environment and society. We understand deeply that exhaust
gases and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land and generation of
waste can adversely affect the environment and we understand the scarcity of natural
resources. Therefore, the Company will persist in adopting appropriate measures to
achieve sustainable development during its business operation. We are convinced that
sustainability in business is not just window dressing, but is essential to the development of
the Company. By adopting sustainable development practices, we will gain a competitive
edge, increase our market share and bring value to our shareholders in the long run. On
top of that, we will keep a focus on social responsibility and continue to take practical

actions for the benefit of the community.

This Report has been prepared in accordance with four reporting principles in the ESG

Guidelines, namely “quantitative”, “consistency”, “materiality” and “balance”.

“Quantitative™ The Company has established internal guidelines and procedures,
by reference to industry practices, guidelines of exchanges or relevant government
departments, laws and regulations, and has collected environmental performance data
from various business departments and kept records from relevant monitoring instruments

or supporting documents.

“Consistency": The statistical method for the data and contents disclosed in the report
is the same as that for the previous year, and the same statistical and conversion
methods have been used. Relevant historical data have been disclosed in the report to
give stakeholders a clearer understanding and comparison of the Company’s sustainable

development performance.

“Materiality”: In defining material ESG issues related to the Company's business and
stakeholders, we maintain communication with internal and external stakeholders
of the Group to understand their expectations and suggestions. We maintain close
communication with all stakeholders, including employees, investors, customers, suppliers,
local government agencies and local organizations, whether they are affected by or have a

significant impact on our operating business.

“Balance™: This Report presents the Company's environmental, social and governance

performance in an impartial manner.
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The Company understands the importance of the stakeholders’ participation in achieving
its sustainable development, so the Company persists in communicating with relevant
internal and external stakeholders regularly to know about their opinions on the
Company's business development, environmental, social and governance aspects, and to
help us satisfy the stakeholders' expectations. The Company's key stakeholders and the

communication methods with them are as follows:

Stakeholders Communication Methods
KiE BRI
Investors and shareholders *  Website of the Group
REERRR o KEB

®  Shareholders meeting

«  [ERKE
Employees *  Website of the Group
BT o  KEMU

L Internal email

. ABEH

*  Employees training

o« BT
Customers *  Website of the Group
EF o  KE®I

° Customer hotline

.«  EPHE

Suppliers *  Website of the Group
(At o  KE®U

. Business meeting
\ N
° S

° Performance evaluation

.« KB
Government and regulatory authorities o Public consultation
B REEHE s  RAWHA

. Email

. wF
Media and the public *  Website of the Group
BEIAR o KEAU

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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®  Annual and interim reports
o  FHRETHES

®  Announcement
N

o Employees activities

e BIEH

o Enterprise WeChat

o BERME

®  Performance evaluation

o TEREMZ

° Questionnaire survey

s MHEHE

° Questionnaire survey
o MBHHE
° Plant visit

s BREE

o Evaluation report

o G

° Press release

o HE®



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The management of the Group regularly reviews the operation of its various departments,
identifies relevant environmental, social and governance issues, consults and synthesizes
the results of stakeholders’ participation and assesses the significance of these issues to
our business and our stakeholders. We will disclose in this Report the environmental,
social and governance issues we deem to be most material. Our environmental, social
and governance working group has verified and confirmed the major environmental, social
and governance issues and their correlation with the key performance indicators of the

corresponding ESG Guidelines. The materiality assessment results are shown as follows:

Important Issues

Rz #HERERES

AEEEEETHRT S BPIEFERNLE
FMBRE  HERELREH  2ENERE
BEFNHE2EBENER  YHEABE
EHEMOEBARSHNENERNE - &
BRAREBNERE HERELIRBERER
ABEF  ZFNRE - L@ REBTIED
HERERERATIBEEARE HEkER
mELNERARTECRER  HEkER
HOINEREBIERNME - BRUNGSE
RIFFIEE -

EERE
Environmental

R5
i Emissions . Environment and Natural Resources
o B o  RERRARER
o Use of Resources d Conflict Minerals
o EBRER o HRBEE

Social

e
*  Staff Employment ®  Employees Activities
e BIER e BIEH
o Health and Safety ®  Supply Chain Management
s [BEELZE o fHrEsgEEl
®  Development and Training ®  Product Liability
o BRI o EmEft
*  Labor Standards e Community Involvement
o BIAR s HEZE

Governance

BR
®  Compliance with Laws and Regulations *  Anti-corruption
o BYARIEAR s RES
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RiIR HERERES

Based on the materiality assessment results, this Report serves to provide an overview
of our sustainable development principles, policies and actual practices under five topics,
namely Devotion to Environmental Protection, Establishment of a Team of Excellence,
Responsible Supply Chain and Product Liability Management, Compliance in Operations

and Community Involvement and Visit and Guidance of Officials of the Government.

ENVIRONMENTAL/OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY POLICY OF
MOBI

We are committed to: conducting our business activities in a manner that takes
responsibility for the environment and the health and safety of our staff, fulfilling our
responsibilities in protecting the environment and promoting the health and safety of our

staff, in order to provide more competitive products and services to our customers.

To this end, we have developed a clear environmental/occupational health and safety

management policy, requiring us to:

Maintain precautions for strengthening risk management;

Comply with environmental and safety regulations, raise the awareness of all parties;
Advocate green operations, step up emissions reduction;

Emphasize pollution prevention, perform environmental and safety commitments;

Pay attention to employee health, ensure safe production;

Create environmental and safety culture, support consultation and participation;
Optimize environmental and safety performance, encourage continuous improvement;

Collaborate with all stakeholders, achieve synergies and progress.

Details of the environmental/occupational health and safety management policy are as

follows:

> Adhere to the ideology of maintaining precautions in the first place, establish,
implement and maintain a documented EHS (“EHS") management system, to
achieve systematic and standardized management, incorporate risk management
into our normal operations and business activities, and strengthen the identification,
assessment and control of sources of danger and environmental risk factors
of occupational health and safety, emphasize the identification and analysis of
and response to risks and opportunities in our management system, and plan

countermeasures;

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Comply with international agreements, laws and regulations and environmental and
health and safety requirements of relevant parties, continue to provide education
and training on the environment and health and safety, enhance the awareness,
knowledge and skills of employees in terms of the environment and health and

safety, to enhance the initiatives of all employees in taking part;

Promote the philosophy of green operations, adhere to the sustainable
development strategy, and incorporate it into the entire life cycle of products and
services; consider and pay attention to the potential impacts on the environment
in the early stage of the life cycle of products and services; taking into account
the whole life cycle of product, and adopting concrete measures in all aspects to
prevent harm to the environment, reduce energy and resource consumption, and

strive for environmental affinity;

Emphasize and raise the awareness of pollution prevention, and take prior
control measures to avoid pollution prevention; meantime, attach significance to
the sustainable use of resources, mitigate and adapt to the climate change, and
protect biodiversity and ecosystem, performing our commitment to environmental
protection. MOBI is also committed to eliminating sources of danger, and takes all

feasible measures to reduce occupational health and safety risks;

Put the occupational health and safety of our staff in the first place to ensure that all
business activities strictly comply with respective working procedures and policies,
so as to create a healthy and safe working environment for our employees with a

pursuit of zero injuries and zero accidents;
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> The Company strives to create and advocate a culture of protecting environment,
saving resources, preventing pollution and paying attention to safety that supports
the environment and occupational health and safety management system to
achieve expected results. We have established and improved the Health and
Safety Committee and ensured its exercise of functions. We have also set and
implemented a mechanism and process for staff consultation and participation
to ensure that our staff can actively participate in occupational health and safety
activities, provide consultative suggestions and opinions and participate in process
of the decision-making, thereby ensuring that our employees at all levels are fully
communicated with the effective occupational health and safety management and

the importance to meet its requirements;

> Continuously optimize environmental and health and safety management system
performance, persevere in developing new technologies, processes, approaches and
products that are beneficial to the environment and the health and safety of our

employees, and always search for “better solutions”;

> We advocate the concept of EHS, and incorporate related requirements into our
supply chain management activities, to improve performance with our suppliers,
contractors, and subcontractors from the perspective of the overall supply chain,
with a pursuit of a harmonious balance between corporate development, social
responsibility and the health and safety of our employees, promoting common

progress.

Safe production is a core value of the Company. It is the Company's basic responsibility
to prevent casualties and fatalities of our employees and to create a safe and healthy
working environment. The Company strives to become an outstanding organization with
continuous improvement and long-term development. In developing the Company's
strategic objectives, action decisions and in conducting daily operations, the Company will

consider factors such as economy, environment, health, safety and social responsibility.

All of our management personnel are the medium to promote our priorities in the
environment, health and safety, and the exponent for putting such ideas into practice. All
employees are required to comply with the Company's safety regulations and policies.
Employees are the Company's most essential wealth and each employee's contribution
to the Company is unique and value-adding. The Company encourages, recognizes and
rewards employees for their active contributions to the Company's environmental, safety

and health performance.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2022

> REAENEENEBE-BRERS 6
WER  BBRZ IERE UXFH
RENBRREZEEEBANGES
BRI BUMB2EENZE2ER
BeYRBEITRBRE BEUMERE—
ETEAEREMBEMESH RBE -
REEBRERELZZEPTIEARRE
TRR2EER - REEAZAENER
SERBREORE - BRAFEEE
HABEARNBERBRZ2EENUR
NERERELE2ERERNEEML L
RARDEER

> RENERBENERZE2EEREBRE
B BTG NEREERERIIE
ABRRZEZEAMAFEN - T
B HERNERD  BRREBEERA
B DSBRY - RAERL]

> EBHR ?ﬁﬁA HERERKBAGE
REEED  ABRBHERNGY - &
ﬁ%ﬁ~%&%ﬂ%aﬁ—ﬁ%%%
Mo BRERER HEEEMAER
REZZHMES— » (RERFES -

ZEEERDAMNZUEE BE2EET

BAEBIMET Bl —ERE - BEMNIIE
R BRAAMEREE - RAIB KA

EHERAFENAERESENRREEND

B EFEARBEER  TERELHARE
AEEDNRE  ARgZELE  RE -
B Z2MHEEASERE -

ARBINAEERAEBYRERE  BRENL
EFE-EUNEEA LHENTEREE
TOMARIBFAETRAANZEREMN
HE - BIRAANKERNE BEET

HORERMERBAEBRIEIEEY -
NEEE - RAMEBREARRNRE - &
2 REXENEGER -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

GENERAL RULES ON CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY OF MOBI
The Company manages its social responsibility and commitment within the scope of
its control and influence, and ensures that the management systems and regulations

it formulates comply with national laws and regulations and internationally recognized

SAB000 ethical standards.

This includes the principles of the following international agreements and relevant
national laws, regulations and policies: International Labor Organization Convention 29
and Convention 05 (forced labor and debt-bondage), Intemational Labor Organization
Convention 87 (freedom of association), International Labor Organization Convention 98
(right to organize and collective bargaining), Intemational Labor Organization Convention
100 and Convention || (equal remuneration and discrimination), International Labor
Organization Convention 135 (workers' representatives), International Labor Organization
Convention 138 and Recommendation 146 (minimum age and recommendations),
International Labor Organization Convention 155 and Recommendation 164 (occupational
safety and health), International Labor Organization Convention 159 (vocational
rehabilitation and employment), International Labor Organization Convention |77 (home
work), The United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child under The Universal

Declaration of Human Rights etc.

The Company hires, manages and assigns employees in accordance with the requirements
under relevant laws and regulations, including the Labor Law of the PRC, the Labor
Contract Law of the PRC, the Social Insurance Law of the PRC, the Employment
Promotion Law of the PRC, the Implementation Regulations of the Labor Contract Law
of the PRC, the Special Rules on Labor Protection of Female Employees, the Provisions
on the Prohibition of Using Child Labor (Order No. 364 of the State Council), Regulatory
Standards for Penalties Against the Employment of Child Labor (Ministry of Labor, MOF
Document, Laolizi (1992) 27), Regulations on the Special Protection of the Minority
Workers and Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC to pay the salaries of employees at
standards higher than local minimum wages and complies with the provisions of the Labor
Law on working hours, overtime compensation and remuneration. We strictly prohibit the

recruitment of child labor.
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The Company promises not to use any form of forced labor or involuntary labor, and
signs an employment contract with the employee’s consent and full understanding of
the terms, and will not require any employee to pay any “deposit” or deposit identity

documents at the beginning of employment.

The Company has appointed the manufacturing director of the senior management team
to take full responsibility for the health and safety of all employees, and the Group and its
subsidiaries has formed Safety Production Committee which is responsible for ensuring
and achieving safe production on the part of the Company. The Company has established
an occupational health and safety management mechanism to effectively identify sources
of danger and to reduce and prevent potential threats to employees' health and safety

through hazard assessment, preventive measures and related emergency mechanisms.

The Company is committed to providing a safe, clean, healthy and productive working
environment for all employees by providing drinking water, medical and sanitation facilities,
fire safety and proper ventilation conditions. The Company will also take necessary
measures on its own initiative to minimize possible hazards in the workplace when
possible in order to avoid work-related accidents and health hazards. The Company
regularly focuses on reviewing health and safety conditions in the workplace, canteens and

dormitories, and makes constant improvements based on issues identified.

The Company provides training for all employees on health and safety, energy
conservation, environmental protection and various management systems and standards.
In addition, it also provides induction training for new staff, and retraining for transferring

staff.

The Company has formed a trade union which helps its members to safeguard their
legitimate rights and interests, encourages regular communications between employees
and the Company, and assists with solving any special difficulties they have. The Company
respects the freedom of all employees to participate in the trade union, and collective

bargaining as well as their freedom of association.
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The Company is strictly prohibited from engaging in or supporting matters based on
race, ethnicity, social hierarchy, nationality, religion, physical disability, gender, age, sexual
orientation, trade union membership or political discrimination in matters relating to the
appointment, remuneration, welfare, training opportunities, promotion, discipline, dismissal

or retirement.

The Company fully respects the personal religious beliefs and ethnic customs of
employees. We prohibit any personal discrimination and infringement of rights. The
Company does not interfere with the rights of employees to observe their religious beliefs

and customs.

The Company undertakes to respect and treat every employee impartially. It prohibits
compulsive, abusive or exploitative acts of intrusion in the form of gesture, language and
physical contact. The Company also prohibits the engagement or support of corporal

punishment, mental or physical persecution and verbal humiliation.

The Company actively takes measures against extortion and bribery or any form of

corruption, advocates fair and orderly competition and prohibits unfair competition.

In assessing and shortlisting suppliers, the Company considers the ability of suppliers to
meet the requirements of this policy and prioritizes them who have the ability to meet the

requirements.

If necessary, the Company may provide information to stakeholders and communicate
with them on, including but not limited to, the results of its management reviews and
audits. The Company may provide stakeholders with reasonable information and access
to information for them to determine whether the Company fulfills its social responsibility
and ethical commitments. If there is any doubt as to whether the Company fulfills its
obligation on social responsibility and ethical commitments, the Company will conduct
timely investigations before handling and responding to related enquiries. If any employee
presents a question as to whether the Company complies with the requirements of this
provision, the Company will not penalize, dismiss or discriminate against the employee
for it. If any violation of corporate social responsibility and ethical commitments is found,
the Company will take appropriate remedial measures and correctible actions against in

accordance with the severity of its nature.
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The Company engages third parties to conduct annual tracking and auditing of the
relevant management system to ensure that it complies with relevant management
system requirements and standards. In recent years, the Company has also received
more surveys on the EHS, carbon emissions, conflict minerals from key customers,
to which the Company has given positive response. During the Reporting Period, the
Company has not received any complaints and penalties from government, third parties
and customers in these respects. In order to listen to all different opinions, the Group
has a reporting mechanism, employee suggestion boxes and conducts regular opinion
surveys, so that employees can report suspected misconduct, fraud, improper, fraud-
related or safety-related issues without fear of retaliation. Our reporting mechanism and
internal procedures ensure that the Group will make its best efforts to act confidentially
and prudently, without the divulgence of the identity of the reporters and contents of the

reports.

DEVOTION TO ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Company persists in operating its business in an environmentally responsible manner
and adheres to the concept of sustainable development by taking various measures to
reduce the environmental impact arising from its production and business activities with
an aim of achieving harmonious coexistence with the society, the environment and its
stakeholders. The concepts of innovation and environmental consciousness have also been
infiltrated into our entire product life cycle and all business processes from research and
development, production, logistics to customer service. We spare no effort in reducing

energy consumption, resource consumption and greenhouse gas emissions.

The Company has been monitoring and managing our emissions for many vyears. In recent
years, we have also begun to monitor greenhouse gas emissions and energy consumption.
We hope to strike a balance between business growth and environmental protection by
improving our business operations and practice, and encouraging employees to work in an

environmentally responsible manner in the workplace.
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The Company complies with the EU RoHS and China RoHS-related Directive. We
conduct comprehensive management of hazardous substances from product design,
procurement, production and delivery, to avoid the use of prohibited substances, and
to ensure that the volume of restricted substances is within relevant restricted ranges.
The Company also provides declarations of hazardous substances and the content
of substances for customers that require them. Where necessary, the Company may
also provide inspection reports from third parties on the composition of substances to

customers as required.

The Company complies with the EU WEEE Directive and adopts ecological design
concept in the product design stage with full consideration of recyclability of products,
generalized design and the most economical design principle, to satisfy the recovery rate
and the recycling rate of products and to minimize the environmental impact on the

product life cycle from the source.

In general, the Company's production process and business nature enable low-emission,
low-energy consumption and low pollutant generation. We are committed to operating
our entire business in compliance with relevant environmental protection laws and
regulations. During the Reporting Period, the Company did not violate any relevant
environmental protection laws and regulations and was not subject to any related penalty

either.

EMISSIONS

The Company focuses on the waste management arising from its operating process.

The Company mainly adopts mechanical processing, assembly and testing for its
production and does not discharge industrial wastewater. The Company's domestic
wastewater mainly comes from the drainage of office washrooms and water from
its kitchen. There is no discharge of toxic, hazardous or special substances. For oily
wastewater produced from cleaning canteen kitchens, solid waste is first filtered through
cleaning tank filters. Preliminary fittered kitchen wastewater will flow towards a three-stage
grease trap, where major pollutants are removed during grease treatment before being
discharged into the municipal sewage pipe network. Toilet sewage will go through septic
tank treatment in the industrial area, and will be discharged through the local municipal

sewage pipe network.
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Industrial air emissions arising from the production process of the Company mainly come
from residual lead-free solder exhaust, which is collected from exhaust gas collection
devices installed in the workshops and led to the top floor of the workshops through
pipelines to achieve high-altitude emissions. Meanwhile, we continue to improve the
ventilation of our workshops. The emission of exhaust gases after treatment meets the
“Air Pollutant Emission Limit" standards and produces little impact on the surrounding

environment.

The noise sources of the Company include certain production equipment, such as the
CNC punch press, stamping equipment, die-casting equipment, air conditioning units, air
compressors, cooling towers, fans, pumps and other ancillary power equipment. With
machine layout of the workshops and routine regular equipment maintenance, the noise
generated in the production process meets the “Standard of Boundary Noise of Industrial

Enterprise” and has limited impact on the surrounding environment.

The solid waste produced by the Company includes general industrial solid waste,
domestic waste and a small amount of hazardous waste. Among these, the general
industrial solid waste mainly comprises of production packaging materials, metal scrap,
lead-free slag and plastic scrap, which are sold to relevant external parties after collection
by category, for recycling treatment. Domestic waste is handled by environmental and
health departments after collection by category. Residual hazardous waste produced
during the production process mainly comprises of waste organic dissolvent, waste empty
containers, waste oil, waste hydraulic oil and waste cutting solvent, the volume of which
falls below the minimum requirements for transport, and so they are regularly delivered
to external parties with relevant qualifications in hazardous waste disposal for collective

treatment.
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In addition, through continuous improvement of our production process, including the
gradual shift to semi-automatic or fully automated production methods, the Company
strives to enhance production capacity and reduce labor input to increase production
efficiency, while improving staff training and management to improve operating
performance, consummating and standardizing the management system of the Company,
vigorously promoting clean production, and actively pursuing energy-saving measures by
using environmentally friendly materials and improving the utilization of raw materials.
We always use recyclable packaging materials to reduce pollutant emissions and achieve

advanced circular economic standard.

Consumption of Packaging Materials

(Tons)
760 7427

720

680
639.4
) =
600
2021 2022

Consumption of Packaging Materials per Unit

00025 (Tons/unit)
0.0024
0.0023
0.0022 0.002169
00021 0.002056
0.002
2021 2022

Note: Orders decreased, and product shipments declined from 342,308 to 310,984. Moreover, some
packaging materials could be recycled and reused to reduce the amount of packaging materials

used. Therefore, the consumption of packaging materials decreased as compared with 2021.
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The Company's statistics on waste in 2022 are as follows:
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Note:

Industrial wastewater: none.

Domestic sewage: 179,114 tons, recording a decrease in generation from 2021.
In 2022, due to a decrease in the number of employees and the adoption
of measures such as Operation Thunder (FEZE{T8)) (ie. formulating water
inspection standards, strengthening the frequency of daily inspections, focusing
on the inspection of faucets and water valves, water pipes, sewers, direct drinking
water, canteen dishwashers, operating pools, green spraying, etc., confirming that
there is no abnormality or water leakage, meanwhile, posting water conservation
signs to strengthen employees’ awareness of water conservation, inspecting to
achieve the purpose of promoting employees to save water and promptly making
improvements when problems are identified) to save energy and reduce emission
and urge employees to save water on an ongoing basis, the total amount of
domestic sewage decreased in 2022. The amount of water used in public areas
and infrastructure did not decrease, thus, the decrease in proportion of the total
amount of water output was not as high as the decrease in proportion of the
numbers of employees, resulting in an increase in the amount of water generated
by person per unit. The company has not encountered any major problems in

obtaining suitable water sources.

Domestic Sewage Output
(Tons)

183,569

179,114

2021 2022

Domestic Sewage Output per Person

(Tons/person) 10611

68.78

2021 2022

Since the amount of domestic sewage output is directly related to the number of persons, the
statistical method of calculating domestic sewage density was adjusted to the output per person in

2022.
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2. Lead-free solder exhaust: traces in compliance with regional environmental standard

and without significant environmental impact.

Factory noise: in compliance with regional environmental standards.

General solid waste (recyclable): in 2022, the amount of general solid waste
(recyclable) was 7441 tons, and the amount of waste per working hour was
0.0000341 tons, which was a trace amount. There was a decrease in the generation
of solid waste (recyclable) as compared with 2021 due to the decrease in

production in 2022.

General Solid Waste (Recyclable) Output
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Household waste: in 2022, the amount of household waste was 272.9 tons, and the
amount of waste per person was 0.16. Household waste decreased as compared
with 2021, due to the decrease in the number of employees and the strengthening

of precise management of waste classification in 2022.

Household Waste Output
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Household Waste Output per person
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0.l
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Note: Since the amount of household waste output is directly related to the number of persons, the

statistical method of calculating household waste density was adjusted to the output per person in

2022.

Hazardous waste: in 2022, the amount of hazardous waste was 2.08 tons, and the
amount of waste per working hour was 0.00000095. The amount of hazardous
waste decreased as compared with 2021, due to the decrease in production in
2022. Based on the Company's average annual reduction in hazardous waste
generation, continuously taking 2021 as the base year, the Company sets annual
targets to manage and control the hazardous waste production per working hour,
which is estimated to be reduced by 1.99% in 2023, 3.94% in 2025 and 8.65% in
2030. In order to achieve the expected objectives, the Company will make the

following efforts:
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set management and control objectives annually and incorporate them into

daily management activities;

strengthen the source control of hazardous waste generation, rationalize the
procurement of chemicals, cutting oil, engine oil and other items to eliminate

the generation of excess hazardous waste;

strengthen the management and control of the use process, collect
chemicals, cutting oil, engine oil, etc. as needed, and store and use them in
accordance with the instructions to avoid waste of chemicals, cutting oil,

engine oil, etc, resulting in excess hazardous waste;

control and manage hazardous waste in strict accordance with the
requirements of the latest national hazardous waste list, and dispose of

hazardous waste in a reasonable and compliant manner;

implement measures such as anti-seepage and leakage prevention in the
storage area of hazardous waste to avoid the proliferation and pollution of

hazardous waste.

Hazardous Waste Output
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The statistics about the Company's total greenhouse gas emissions in 2022 were as

ARENONFERAERBAFHERT AR

follows: W
2022 2021
2022 2021 5
Carbon emissions Carbon emissions
(carbon dioxide Volume per (carbon dioxide Volume per
Emission (CO,) equivalent) working hour  (CO,) equivalent) working hour
BHE e E BENTHE o8 BENTHE
(Z&EfkCo, (=& {kiCo,
EE) EE)
Total greenhouse gas emissions (tons) 704206  0.0032/working hour 758858  0.0033/working hour
BERBEHNE (W) 00032/ IH 00033,/ LH
Scope | direct emissions — emissions from
vehicles, power generators and boilers (tons) 21668  0.0001/working hour 27296 0.0001/working hour
BEAR(BE) - 78  BEEK
AR PR (WE) 00001,/ L# 00001,/ T
Scope 2 Indirect emissions — emissions from
electricity (tons) 682538  0.0031/working hour 7,315.62  0.0032/working hour
IR HER (EE2) — MELEAR (W) 00031,/ LB 00032/ Lk

As the Company's greenhouse gas emissions mainly involve electricity and relevant energy,
there is a goal of reducing electricity consumption in 2022. On this basis, taking 2021 as
the base year, the electricity consumption per working hour in 2022 will be reduced by 1%.

Meanwhile, for this purpose, the Company will make the following efforts:

the Company will adopt measures such as Operation Thunder to save energy and

reduce emission;

2. in daily production, the Company will reduce the energy and electricity
consumption of each production equipment by continuously strengthening the
daily maintenance of production equipment and carrying out optimization through

technological measures, etc,

3. the Company will continue to carry out publicity for the employees’ awareness of
energy saving and consumption reduction, so that the employees will develop the
habit of saving electricity in daily work, such as tumning off the lights when people

walk away, thus reducing the electricity consumption.
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Note |:Total working hours in 2022 were 2,183,281.434 hours. Total working hours decreased as
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compared with 2021, due to the decrease in production in 2022.

Note 2:The calculation of the above greenhouse gas emissions is based on the 2019 China Regional Grid

Baseline Emission Factors announced by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the People's

Republic of China.

Note 3:The total greenhouse gas emissions decreased as compared with those 2021. The emissions per

working hour basically remained stable as compared with those of 2021. For detailed analysis of

reasons, please refer to the following description on usage of energy resources.
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USE OF RESOURCES: ENERGY, WATER AND OTHER RAW MATERIALS

The main raw materials consumed in the Company's production are aluminum, copper,
steel, plastic, PCB boards and others. At the product level, we focus on the efficient use of
resources. In the product development stage, we conduct rigorous design and assessment
to assure product features and performance while using a variety of materials in the most
frugal manner by the use of environmentally friendly and recyclable or reusable materials.
This not only ensures that costs can be controlled, but also reduces the consumption of
resources. We promote clean production and strengthen equipment maintenance while

improving energy efficiency.

In our daily office operations, we advocate the concept of energy-saving. Through regular
self-examinations, inspection and reporting, we enhance the awareness and capability of
our staff in energy-saving and reducing emissions. Meanwhile, we advocate a paperless

office to reduce the use of paper, and always reuse waste paper, such as print and copy

paper.

The Company attaches great importance to electricity saving, and promotes environmental
protection and energy conservation through the implementation of relevant policies and
measures, to achieve energy conservation and consumption reduction. For example,
we make full use of natural light when the weather is bright. We always choose energy
saving products when purchasing lamps and electrical appliances. We switch off idle
lights, computers and electrical appliances. In summer, our air conditioning is generally
set at room temperature of above 26 degrees. We conduct timely maintenance of
air conditioners to ensure their good operation. In addition, we encourage the use of
telephone and video conferencing systems to reduce business travel. We also post some

energy-saving tips on our intranet to remind employees to practice energy-saving ideas.

In terms of water saving, water in the Company comes from the city water supply
system. It is mainly used as domestic water in our offices. Our production process does
not involve industrial water and therefore does not have a serious adverse impact on
rivers, lakes and underground water. We develop and refine water-saving management
system with the use of a water saving faucet, to ensure that the concept of water-saving is

implemented in practice.
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Achieving the efficient use of resources not only requires a sound management system,

and implementation of relevant policies, but also the cooperation and support of staff.

The Company strives to create a corporate culture that treasures resources, enhances

employee awareness of environmental issues, and encourages employees to actively

participate in and fulfill our environmental commitments.

The major energy and resources consumed by the Company in daily life are electricity,

water, paper, natural gas, gasoline and diesel. The following table shows the use of energy

resources for 2022 and 2021:

Energy Consumption
RRH#

Electricity (KWh)

B (TRE)

Water (Tons)

7K (1)

Paper (Sheets)

(%)

Canteen liquefied gas (Litres)
RER(LR ()

Motor gasoline (Litres)

B (71)

Motor and power generator diesel (Litres)

BERAREERA ()

2022
20 E

Rz #HERERES

BRERER TEZEXENEERE
HEEENEEEFRRRE NS MX
o ARABNEELRERNEEE
REEINRRER HBEIBEHELEN
BERIRREAG

ARRIHEERNTIERRNERAEN -
KR RARKM A MR - TRIIT

002FFM0 I FEMERERFERER

2021
021 E

Total Consumption
AR

8,487,171.37

186,625.59

2,326,156.00

12,419.50

27,239.07

31,950.28

Consumption

per working hour

EUTRERE

3.887/working hour
3887/ TH
0.085/working hour
0085/ LB
1.065/working hour
1,065,/ TF
0.006/working hour
0006,/ TF
0.012/working hour
0012/ T8
0.015/working hour
0015/ I8

ELERERLA

20224 3

Total Consumption

HEHE

9,096,768.06

193,256.35

3,053,880.00

16,554.10

3691941

36,842.52

Consumption
per working hour
BN THEEE

3.935/working hour

3935/ Th

0.084/working hour

0084/ TE

.32 1 /working hour
1321,/ T
0.007Aworking hour

0007,/ T8

0.016/working hour

0016/ TE

0.016/working hour

0016/ TE
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CHERERRE

Total Consumption of Energy

2021 2022

9,09%,768.06

8,487,171.37

3,052,880.00
2,326,156.00

19325635 18662559

Electricity (KWh)

Water (Tons) Paper (Sheets)

Total Consumption of Energy
( Litres)

W 2021 W 2022
3691941 36,842.52

31,950.28

27,239.07

16,554.10
12,419.50

Canteen liquefied gas

Motor gasoline Motor and power

generator diesel

Energy Consumption per Working Hour
(Electricity, Paper)
4 393 1087 W 2021 W2022

35
25

1.5

132

05

Electricity Paper

Energy Consumption per Working Hour
(Water, liquefied gas gasoline, diesel)
W 2021 W 2022
0084 0,085

0016 0016 0015
—— 0012

Water Canteen
liquefied gas

Motor gasoline  Motor and power
generator diesel
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40,000
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10,000
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002
00l

BERHERE
W 20214 W2022%

909676806
8,487,171.37

305288000
2,326,156.00

G253 18662559

B (TEH) K (W) #® (R

BEREEAE (7H)

W 20214 W2022%F
3691941 3684252

31,950.28

27,239.07

1655410
12,419.50

HMAH

HEARFEERMALH

REREM TREREE (B -4)
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25
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1.065

05
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o 0012
K 7 =
= i
& A
4 i
ﬁ

BN 0 a8 B 4t

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIR - HERERES

Among which,

the total consumption of electricity and the consumption per working hour in 2022
decreased over those in 2021, mainly because the production and the number
of employees decreased, and we adopted measures such as Operation Thunder
to save energy and reduce emission, and continued to promote the awareness of
all employees in energy saving and strengthen daily inspections in 2022. For the
purpose of saving resources and protecting the environment, continuously taking
2021 as the base year, the Company sets annual targets to manage and control the
amount of electricity generated per working hour and greenhouse gas emissions
per working hour, which are estimated to be reduced by 1.99% in 2023, 3.94%
in 2025 and 8.65% in 2030. In order to achieve the expected objectives, the

Company will make the following efforts:

set management and control objectives annually and incorporate them into

daily management activities;

2. strengthen equipment transformation and improve efficiency;

3. renovate lighting energy-saving, control and improve electricity quality, and

improve electricity utilization rate;

4. formulate electricity usage inspection standards, strengthen daily inspections,

and identify problems and rectify them in a timely manner;

5. promote and train all employees on energy saving to strengthen the

awareness of electricity saving.
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20224 R
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The total consumption of water in 2022 decreased whereas the consumption per
working hour in 2022 increased over that in 2021, mainly because the production
and the number of employees decreased, and we adopted measures such as
Operation Thunder to save energy and reduce emission, continued to promote
the awareness of all employees in energy saving and strengthen daily inspections,
and continued to improve the pipeline network in the park, thus reducing leakage
of pipelines in 2022. We also urged employees to save water, resulting in a slight
decrease in the total consumption of water and the consumption per working hour
in 2022. Taking 2021 as the base year, the Company sets annual targets for water
output per working hour, which is estimated to be decreased by 1.99% in 2023,
3.94% in 2025 and 8.65% in 2030. In order to achieve the expected objectives, the

Company will make the following efforts:

set management and control objectives annually and incorporate them into

daily management activities;

2. strengthen the daily maintenance and management of water facilities to
reduce or even eliminate the occurrence of water leakage and other

abnormalities;

3. formulate water usage inspection standards, strengthen daily inspections, and

identify problems and rectify them in a timely manner;

4. post water conservation signs, promote and train all employees on energy

saving, and strengthen employees awareness of water conservation.

The total consumption of papers and the consumption per working hour in 2022
increased over those in 2021, mainly because the production and the number of
employees decreased, and the Company continued to promote online approval of
documents, strengthened the approval of paper applications and strictly controlled
the amount of paper applications in 2022. The employees' awareness of saving
paper increased, which led to a decrease in paper consumption and consumption

per working hour.
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4. The total consumption and the consumption per working hour of canteen liquefied
gas in 2022 decreased over those in 2021, mainly due to the decreased canteen
liquefied gas consumption caused by the decreased number of employees and the
decreased employees dining in canteens in 2022.

5. The total consumption of motor gasoline and the consumption per working hour in
2022 both decreased over those in 2021, mainly because the Company continued
to strengthen management and control of vehicles, and optimized their vehicle
dispatching, while employees from department used the same vehicle to reduce
the frequency of vehicle usage.

6. The total consumption of diesel and the consumption per working hour in 2022
both decreased over those in 2021, mainly because the transportation of antenna
goods declined due to the product structure adjustment, and we unified shipments
to reduce the frequency of trucks.

7.

Type hl

RF (PCS) 5758 (1)

Antenna (PCS) Rz (1)

Microcell antenna (PCS) R KRR (1)

Aesthetic microwave products (PCS) FMbRER (1)

Cable (M) F8 OK)

Note: In addition to integrated aesthetic antennas, statistics data of products such as stands and elevator

components was added to aesthetic microwave products in 2022.
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20224 R

Rz #HERERES
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FHEENEL0  FEEFRE T8
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EBHR -

Shipments
HEE

2022 2021

2022 2021 5

234,541 254,873

47356 76325

3,572 6,600

25515 4510

2,603,975 2315221
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Shipments

2021 2022
3,002,000 3,002,000

2,603,975
2,502,000 231521 2,502,000
2,002,000 2,002,000
1,502,000 1,502,000
1,002,000 1,002,000
502000 | 54573 paasal 502,000
000 : 5 a3 3m 4510 28,515 o0

‘ RF ‘ Antenna ‘ Microcell ‘ Aesthetic ‘ Cable '
(PCS) (PCS) antenna microwave ™)
(PCS) products
(PCS)

ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

Based on the nature of the Company's main business, our business activities will not have
a significant impact on the environment and natural resources. However, the Company
will continue to enhance environmental protection to reduce any adverse effects on the

environment brought about by our business operations.

According to the environmental laws, regulations and relevant policies of the PRC,
including the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Environment Protection Tax Law of People’s Republic of China, Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Water Pollution Prevention and Control, Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution, Law of the
People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Noise Pollution, Law of the
People's Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by
Solid Wastes and the Energy Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of China.
When carrying out project construction, the Company will assess the potential pollution
arising during the construction and production process, the feasibility of governance
measures, whether production processes and products are in line with clean production
requirements, and the impact of the actual discharge of pollutants on surrounding
environment. An Environmental Impact Assessment Report (“EIA Report™) will be
submitted to the environmental protection department in accordance with the laws and

regulations.

With regard to major climate changes which may occur and affect the Company, such
as typhoons, rainstorms and earthquakes, the Company has formulated the Emergency
Preparation and Response Control Procedure, and routinely prepares an annual
emergency response plan according to the requirements of the document. In case of any
major climate change, the Company carries out emergency treatment according to the

emergency response plan.
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CONFLICT MINERALS

Since the late 1990s, most of the minerals mining in the Democratic Republic of the
Congo and its neighboring countries and territories has contributed to local armed
conflicts, leading to long-term instability in the region and creating serious human rights
and environmental problems. In 2012, the US Securities and Exchange Commission has
required all securities issuers whose production processes involve the use of four types of
minerals, namely tantalum, tin, tungsten and gold, to disclose their mineral sources. These
four types of conflict minerals are widely used in the information and communications
technology products manufacturing industry. The Company takes the initiative to refrain
from using minerals from conflict-affected or high-risk areas and conducts surveys on
conflict minerals every year in cooperation with clients. The Company has signed Conflict
Minerals Agreements with a total of 232 related suppliers in 2022, and has undertaken not

to procure and use metal minerals from conflict-affected or high-risk areas.

Quantity Distribution of Suppliers
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China China China
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ESTABLISHMENT OF A TEAM OF EXCELLENCE

The Company is committed to creating a good working environment for its employees.
We attach great importance to the value of talents, carry out selection of high-quality
talent and make good use of their talents. We mainly recruit through on-campus and
general recruitment. Our recruitment procedure is open, fair and reasonable. The
Company has established a series of standardized human resources recruitment and
training programs and systems, which have been strictly implemented. The human
resources and corporate cultural management center of the Company provided
educational training and training functions for all levels of the Company, providing valuable
seminars to support and strengthen the knowledge and skills of employees for the
benefit of their career development and promotion. The Company provides competitive
remuneration packages, sets working hours complying with relevant national policies and
regulations. We also provide various types of paid leave, as required by the government,
and do not allow any inequality or discrimination in respect of job opportunities and other

aspects.
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STAFF EMPLOYMENT
. Employment Chart:
(1) Region Distribution Chart:

By Region (Person)

B Shenzhen ™ Xi'an m Ji'an

556

799

(2)  Age Distribution Chart:

Age Distribution of Employees

W Age 30 and below M Age 3140 M Age 4150 M Age 51-60 M Age 61 and above

47 2
367

619

756

(3)  Education Structure Chart:

Education Structure

m Master's degree g Bachelor’s
and above degree

High school or
¥ College M technical secondary
school and below

36
291

206

1,258
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(4)  Employment Type Distribution: (4) EREZS
Employment Type Distribution {RIEER 5 4
B Number of labor ™ Number of contracted mARET AR mARHIE A
dispatch workers employees

448 448
1343 1,343
(5)  Gender Distribution Chart (5) HEMES
Gender Distribution IR MBI D
B Number of Male = Number of Female m FHEAK AR
760 760
1031 103!
Employee Turnover Rate ABRKE
8000% 80.00%
6390% 66.67% 63.950% 66.67%
6000% 6000%
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Employee Turnover Rate (by Region)

80%
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50%
40.64%
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Shenzhen
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Employee Turnover Rate (by Education Structure)
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|

Master's degree
and above

61.68%
4027% I
Bachelor's College
degree

High school or
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Note: Factors such as decrease and occasional fluctuations in orders and the pandemic have resulted in

large changes in frontline production personnel and a higher turnover rate in Jian and Xi'an site

area.
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HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Company established an occupational health and safety management system which
was recognized by the I1SO45001. The day-to-day operation of the Company follows
national laws and regulations, including the Production Safety Law of the People's Republic
of China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases, the Law of the People's Republic of China on Prevention and
Treatment of Infectious Diseases, the Fire Control Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Regulation on Work-Related Injury Insurances, the Regulations on Safety Supervision
of Special Equipment, the Regulation on Work Safety Permits, the Measures for the
Administration of Registration of Hazardous Chemicals, the Social Insurance Law of the
People's Republic of China and the Measures for the Administration of Occupational
Health Examination, and its health and safety policy and regulations to ensure a safe and
healthy working environment and to protect the physical and mental health and safety of

our employees.

Since the outbreak of the COVID-19 epidemic, the Board has been closely monitoring
the epidemic and responded cautiously. The executive directors and senior management
of the Group established “MOBI Group Emergency Management Commanding Team
for the Prevention of Epidemic” on 26 January 2020 to closely monitor and respond to
the development of the epidemic, and report major issues to the emergency team as
soon as possible for making unified decisions and coordinate the management team and
various departments of the Group to implement relevant measures. The Group has also
adopted comprehensive and strict preventive and control measures in accordance with
relevant regulations issued by the Chinese government to fight against the epidemic, and
the relevant measures have begun to show results. Although the Group has gradually
resumed production, the Group will continue to strictly abide by these preventive and
control measures to ensure that employees can work in a safe and healthy environment.
During the Reporting Period, the Company did not receive any report on the violation of

laws and regulations related to health and safety in workplaces.

Staff health examination: The Company provides staff health examinations on an
annual basis. Funded by the Company, all staff are entitled to physical health checks
at medical institutions where medical reports as well as health advices will be

provided.
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Occupational disease inspections: The Company conducts occupational disease
inspections on annual basis for employees identified with potential exposure to
minimize the risks. In 2022, a total of 286 employees have been arranged for

occupational disease inspections.

Work injury data: In the past three years, there were no cases of death arising out
of work-related injuries in the Company. In the meantime, the Company recorded
the total reportable accident rate per a million working hours of 0.65 and the
lost-time rate per a million working hours of 262.18 in 2022, which decreased as
compared with those of I.19 and 274.59 in 2021, mainly because the Company
further improved safety rules and regulations, strengthened traffic safety protection
measures for employees, strengthened internal safety production and traffic safety
promotion and training, invited external professional units to organize work injury
and first aid training, identified the Company's hazard source zoning management
and control, and strengthened team assessment. Therefore, the total recordable
accident rate per a million working hours and the loss-time rate per a million

working hours in 2022 are lower than those in 2021.

(Note: total reportable accident rate per a million working hours = total number of reportable
accidents (including work-related injuries and accidents) |0%total working hours, and
lost-time rate per a million working hours = lost working hours (including work-related

injuries and accidents) |0%total working hours)

Total reportable accident rate per a million working hours

119
.

2021 2022
Lost-time rate per a million working hours

27459
261 18

2021 2022
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4. Health and safety manual: The health and safety manual was available to every
employee at any time on the WeChat platform of the Company so that they could
learn about the Company's health and safety concepts, strategies, measures, and
safety guidelines, and know about what is right or wrong though pictures and texts,

so as to prevent risks and reduce health and safety hazards.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Company's human resource and corporate cultural management center has a
wealth of courses, including courses on corporate culture and rules and regulations,
new employee induction training courses, staff basic skills training, on-the-job knowledge
training, management skills and leadership, and other aspects. The course lecturers
include the Company's in-house instructors and external lecturers from external schools
and training institutions. In 2022, the Company provided 62,129 hours of training, with
a total of 12,534 trainees including 99.82% of the employees, and 4.96 hours of training
per person. 100% of employees at middle and senior levels were trained, and 99.81% of
ordinary employees were trained. The female and male trainees accounted for 99.86%
and 99.79% respectively. The decrease in the overall number of employees and the
significant decrease in new recruits resulted in a decrease in total training hours and a

slight decrease in the average training hours per person.

Total Training Hours (h)
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Average Training Hour Per Person (total)

4.96
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Training Hours (by Gender)
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employee safety knowledge culture
induction training and professional  and management.
skills quality

The Company has also cooperated with a number of tertiary institutions. Through the
provision of pre-courses to send students to the Company as intems, we hope to alleviate
the disconnection between school learning and the actual needs of enterprises with

common training of practical talents.

The Company has established an internal platform for career development and promotion
in operations, technology and management. Through a well-functioning mechanism,
employees are encouraged to exert their talents, expand their horizons and maintain
their vitality, ensuring that the development of our employees synchronizes with the

development of the Company.
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(1)  Greenhouse Gas Emission Training:

() BEREHHEI

(2)  ESD $20.20 2021 New Standard Training:

3)

Hazardous Substances Management System and Zhongxing Environmental

() FEVEEERARTERRERE
Protection Requirements Training:
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20224 R 93



94

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RiIR - HEREREE

(4 QCO080000 Internal Auditor Training: (4 QCO080000E &1 :

(6)  Work Injury Prevention Training in Ji'an Site Area: () BHEREIGEEFBEI :

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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(7)  Succession Management Cadre Training Course: (7) BEEEHIBEIIG

(8)  Fire Drill (8) HFEZ

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
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LABOR STANDARDS

The Company strictly abides by national laws and regulations, including the Labor Law of
the PRC, the Labor Contract Law of the PRC, the Social Insurance Law of the PRC, the
Employment Promotion Law of the PRC, the Labor Dispute Mediation and Arbitration
Law of the PRC, the Law on Safeguarding Women's Interests and Rights of the PRC, the
Law on the Protection of Minors of the PRC, the Implementation Regulation of the Labor
Contract Law of the PRC, the Special Rules on Labor Protection of Female Employees
of the PRC, the Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labor, the Regulations on
Paid Annual Leave for Employees and the Provisions on Minimum Wages. We do not
employ child labor or use any forced labor in any of our businesses. In the recruitment of
employees, we will verify the age of candidates through an identity card verification system
to prevent non-compliance. During the reporting year, there was no violation of the Labor
Law in any form. For details, please see “General Rules on Corporate Social Responsibility
of MOBI" above.

In order to prohibit the use of child labor, the Company checks the ID cards, household
registers, education certificates and knowledge mastery of the employees at the time of
employment. The Company undertakes that it will not use any form of forced labor or
involuntary labor, and that it shall not require employees to pay a “deposit” or deposit
their ID cards at the time of employment, it provides each employee with statutory social
security such as five insurances and one fund (pension, medical care, unemployment,
workers' compensation, maternity, housing provident fund) in accordance with national
policies. In addition, the Company will also maintain corresponding commercial insurance
for employees as required. If any violations are found, the Company has established
channels for employees to report immediately, and management will take immediate

follow-up actions.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not materially violate employment-related
laws and regulations or labor standards. The Group's human resources policies and

operations complied with local labor-related laws and regulations.
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Al suppliers/contractors who provided services to the Company shall comply with the
Working Procedures of Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Management of Suppliers,
Contractors and Outsourcers, and shall not use child labor or force employees to work,
and shall comply with labor law, labor ethics, environment and occupational health and

safety and other laws and regulations of local governments.

The Company strictly follows national laws and regulations and provides various kinds of
paid time off to ensure that every employee has reasonable working hours and holidays,
including statutory holidays, marriage leave, maternity leave, paid annual leave and paid sick

leave, to encourage employees to strike a balance between work and life.

STAFF ACTIVITIES: CULTURAL CAMPAIGNS AND RECREATIONAL
SPORTS

We pay great attention to humanistic care and team building. For many years, we continue
exploring new cultural and sports mechanisms for staff, and striving to assist employees
in achieving a work-life balance, improving the working and living conditions of staff and

enhancing their happiness and sense of belonging.

(1) 2022 “Mobi Cup” Tug of War Competition:
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(2) 2022 “MOBI Cup” 6x100m Running Relay Competition () 20225 [EELLHF J6*100 KB DL

(3) 2022 “Enjoying the Dragon Boat Festival and Passing on the Culture” Dragon () 202FIRFE mikinT - EAEH ]
Boat Festival Activities EE

(4) 2022 “Celebrating the Mid-Autumn Festival Passionately and Caring about  (4) 2002FFHREBEP - FREL
MOBI” Dragon Boat Festival Activities: EE

98 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIR - HERERES

(5) 2022 Company Team Building Activities: () 202025 AEEEES :

3 2

i ﬁ i5E l“%&‘ Jr 1» b8 ,fH.L.
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(6)  Caring for Employees with “Health Caravan” Free Physical Examination Activities (6) BERIREAZE|ERELER
in the Park: BEE

(7)  Employee Free Health Consultation Activities: (7 EBIRERRDED:

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
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(8) 2022 MOBI Model Commendation Activities: 8 20NFEERTED :

(9)  Staff Forum Activities: (9 BIERHESEH:

1 00 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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RESPONSIBLE SUPPLY CHAIN AND PRODUCT LIABILITY MANAGEMENT

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Company is committed to promoting the integrity of business practices and positive
social responsibility, to guiding the suppliers’ code of conduct, and stipulating requirements
on corporate social responsibility of suppliers in relation to integrity, law-abiding, respect
for human rights, employment of labor, health and safety, environmental protection and
business ethics. We require each supplier to follow the standard and the relevant laws and

regulations of their place of operation, especially key suppliers with long-term cooperation.

Meanwhile, in respect of supply chain risk, the Company identifies and controls supply
chain risks every year, including but not limited to customer communication risks, business

risks, transportation risks and other risks.

The Company evaluates new suppliers and conducts an annual inspection of qualified
suppliers according to the Working Procedures of Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)
Management of Suppliers, Contractors and Outsourcers and the Management Procedures
of Acquisition of Suppliers, etc., to confirm whether the suppliers comply with the laws
and regulations and the requirements of the Company in terms of labor ethics, corporate

social responsibility, environment and occupational health and safety.

In 2022, we signed corporate social responsibility agreements with 232 suppliers with a

view to exerting influence on their environmental, social and governance requirements.

The types of agreements and undertakings signed are as follows:

“Supplier's Green Product (GP) Declaration”

“Supplier Quality Assurance Agreement”

“Supplier Quality Assurance Agreement — Supplemental Agreement”

“Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Agreement with Suppliers, Contractors, and
Outsourcers of MOBI"
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PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

The Company emphasizes the management of product responsibility. During the product
research and development stage, we carry out stringent implementation of product
management, not only to identify product features and performance requirements, but
also to identify the demand in environment, safety, reliability and other aspects for the
products. We strictly adhere to the industry and international standards to meet customer
and legal requirements in all respects. During the production and delivery stage, in
accordance with the processes and standards developed by the Company, we carry out
product checks and tests at all stages from stocking, manufacturing to product delivery
to ensure the safety of products delivered. In 2022, the Company did not receive any
product returns due to product health and safety problems, and the customer satisfaction
reached 95.4%.

In 2022, the Company received 19 complaints from customers. In responding to
customer complaints, the quality engineering department of the quality center received
the customer complaint information, and confirmed the complaint information with the
sales department; the quality engineering department was responsible for transmitting the
customer complaint information to the corresponding departments and following up the

treatment of the issues until the case was closed.

The Company has implemented an intellectual property policy for many years. We have
documenting procedures and systems to regulate the management and operation of the
Company's intellectual property rights. As of the end of 2022, the Company had applied
for 1,066 patents, with 51 ones newly increased as compared with that at the end of
2021. And 789 patents had been granted, with 53 ones newly increased as compared
with that at the end of 2021. No patent infringement incidents occurred in 2022. The
Company has formulated internal controls to protect customer information. There are
clear guidelines available for the collection, storage, use and destruction of customer
information. We have also adopted a variety of measures to prevent leakage, including
providing training on the customer information confidentiality and conducting regular
checks for each safety and security measure. The Company has also established a product
recall system, and there were no product recalls caused by product quality and safety
incidents in 2022. In accordance with customer requirements, the Company will sign
business framework agreements on mutual cooperation with its customers to ensure
that confidential information of both sides will not be disclosed. In 2022, the Company
did not receive any complaints and litigation caused by leakage of customer information
and confidential data. The Company has established a corresponding customer complaint
and handling procedure to regulate the follow-up of customer complaints and product
returns or exchange. In addition, the Company will maintain product liability insurance for

customers’ products in response to their individual requirements.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2022

EmER

ARREREREANERE  HEMWFERE
B BROTEREE  TMEHRERDE
g ENER  MESHAILERER
BkE - EBEFENRR  BETE
MEREE  2FURREP RERERE
Ko EEMEENRMAREER - RRBAFE
FURIEMARE - TR - REBIE - MR
NEERBRARSEERZEHBMHARE
B BRELHEMNEZZME - 2002F - A
AEXIEARERBRENZEMEEBNE
mRE - EPMEFET954%

VDFEBEFPHIIRRF  BHEFH
R - EEROMEIRTETERPRHRE
BRI IR HERFIETREE B AR
R mEIRFABERZRESERGHEE
BBPT - RAERBR N EE T FRE -

ARTRTEEHERBRZF - BHXH
MENHIERAER A EEHERENEENE
E o BIE2002F K - REIEBRFEEF 1066
{4 - FBLE202 1 R - BTIES| {F o IEFFI789
o 2021 FR - #8534 - 2022 K
BEEAFENERESEN  ARREHIEASD
THILMRER P ER - HHEHNMKE - R
B FRARBERIBEWNIES - TRRS
BlEmmEeBRER  EREEEEFPE
BRENE - REARESELERERE
e ARILEY TEmMBEHE - 2022F K
BEAMAAERRERREFHENMNE
MBEEMH : ARERBEFLEX BEP
BEBETEBAEERRTE  BREFNE
BAEEE - 2002F @« RAIARBETRNRAR
BEFPEHRWEETMNRFMFA 27
BUTHENEFPRFEEEREN  HE%
FRFMBBENEE B AR EMER
BEPHEX gREEREEERETR -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

During the Reporting Period, the Company did not experience any material breach or

failure to comply with relevant product liability laws and regulations.

Number of Patents
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COMPLIANCE IN OPERATION

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

It is the basic principle of the Company to carry out operational compliance by abiding
by business ethics and observing the laws and regulations of China and other countries
where the Group operates. The Company is committed to ethical operations and legal
compliance in operations. We practice “zero tolerance” of any violation of laws and
regulations, and any breaches of business ethics. We carry out compliance in operations in
a proactive, effective and scientific manner, and are willing to work with global customers,

suppliers and other business partners to achieve sustainable development.

The business of the Company is mainly carried out by its subsidiaries in Mainland China,
and it is listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The operations of the Company strictly
comply with relevant laws and regulations of Mainland China and Hong Kong. During the
Reporting Period, there was no serious breach or non-compliance with relevant laws and

regulations (including prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering).
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ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Company actively takes measures against extortion and bribery or any form of
corruption. It has a zero-tolerance policy for corruption, and strictly abides by relevant
local laws and regulations, including the Law of the People’s Republic of China Against
Unfair Competition and Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China. The Company
encourages all employees to report any case of corruption and has established a
formalized management system as well as developed a formalized process for the daily
business operations to prevent the occurrence of corruption. The Company has set up
an independent audit department to strengthen the regular review of the operations of
various centers and departments of the Company in order to detect any non-compliance
with the code of ethics. The Group has effective reporting procedures to ensure that any
suspicious, improper or illegal behavior can be reported. The reporters may report all
details and evidence of any suspected misconduct to the department head or the Board
of the Group orally or in writing. If the reporter believes that the misconduct is related to
the Board, the reporter may directly report such misconduct to the audit committee. In
order to protect the interests of the Group and the safety of reporters, all investigations
will be conducted in a timely and confidential manner. If any suspicious criminal acts
are found, the Group will report such matter to the local functional departments if the
management deems it necessary, and will ensure that the identity of the reporters and the
contents of the reported cases are kept confidential. During the reporting vear, the Group
did not materially violate the code of conduct and anti-corruption and competition laws.
Sound corporate governance is the foundation of our anti-corruption work. For more
information on the corporate governance structure and practices of the Group, please
refer to the section headed “Corporate Governance” in the annual report 2021/22. In
addition, the Company engages independent auditors to conduct accounting and auditing
of the financial management system on an annual basis to prevent financial and internal
control risks. During the Reporting Period, the Company was not involved in any litigation
in relation to corruption or bribery. In 2022, the Company trained employees of the
marketing department in anti-corruption and the code of conduct of marketing personnel,
which mainly included the training in current laws and regulations and the code of conduct

to which marketing personnel were subject.
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COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

As a company that values sustainable development, the Company has been committed to
contributing to the interests of the community, and spared no effort in creating more value
for the community, with a view to fulfilling corporate citizenship responsibilities. MOBI
pays attention to the interests of the community and gives back to the community, by
activities including but not limited to: children’s education in poverty-stricken areas, social
and environmental protection, labor demand of vulnerable groups, cultural construction
of the community, active participation in sports activities, etc. In the donation project in
community engagement activities in the year, the Company donated clothes and carried
out charity blood donation in poor mountainous areas (Daliang mountain in Sichuan,
Maqu in Gansu, Lijiang in Yunnan). The Company will more actively organize employees
to participate in relevant charity and donation activities, and encourage employees to

create value for the community, thus further enhancing our corporate image.

CHARITY ACTIVITIES
During the Reporting Period, the Company has actively participated in various charity

activities, leaming activities organized by Community Party Branch and other activities.

. MOBI Party Branch actively participated in activities such as the Party history

learning activity and Party Branch forum activity organized by the local

community party branch
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RiIR - HEREREE

2. 2022 “Giving Care and Spreading Love” Charity Activities 2. F[FHEBEE - BEEL]ARE
B
MOBI organized employees in three places to donate clothes to poor mountainous HBARI=HMBETIABRLE (U)X
areas (Daliang Mountain in Sichuan, Maqu in Gansu, Lijiang in Yunnan). R HERTSE - EEERL) BERY -

v
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3. 2022 “Staying True to the Original Aspiration and Offering love” Charity Blood 3. 202F [ A - FREO I DER

Donation Activities M5EE
MOBI organized employees to participate in voluntary charity blood donation ABARBEIHERERIDEE -
activities.
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Directors and Senior Management

DIRECTORS

Executive Director

Hu Xiang, aged 69, is an executive Director, the chairman of the board of Directors and
the chief executive officer of our Company. He is also a director, the chief executive
officer and legal representative of MOBI Shenzhen and MOBI Xian and a director of
MOBI Jian and MOBI HK. Mr. Hu was appointed a Director on 19 December 2002. Mr.
Hu was an engineer. Mr. Hu graduated from the Xian Infrastructure University (now
Xian University of Finance and Economics) majoring in radio communication in August
1981. During the period from 1972 to September 1981, Mr. Hu worked in the hydraulic
transmission and control department of the Northwest Industrial University. Mr. Hu
then served as chief of the planning and supply department at Shenzhen Zhongxingxin
Tongxun Shebei Co,, Ltd. for the period from 1992 to 1999. Mr. Hu joined our Group in
August 1999. Mr. Hu was a director of Shenzhen Kang Cheng Jixie Shebei Co,, Ltd. from
June 2002 to June 2007 and the general manager of Shenzhen Zhongxing Weixiantong
Shebei Co,, Ltd. from March 2000 to September 2007. He is a shareholder of Fangyi
Collaboration Holdings Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company.

Non-executive Director

Qu Degian, aged 60, is a non-executive Director, and a director of MOBI Shenzhen,
MOBI Jian and MOBI Xian. Mr. Qu was appointed a Director on |9 December 2002.
Mr. Qu graduated from Shaanxi Institute of Finance and Economics (now School of
Economics and Finance of Xian Jiaotong University) in June 1992 and he further obtained
the qualification as an accountant in the PRC in October 1994. From June 1993 to
April 2003, Mr. Qu was the chief of ZTE Corporation’s accounting and auditing centre
and the deputy chief of its financial centre. In April 2003, Mr. Qu was appointed as the
deputy general manager of Shenzhen Zhongxing Weixiantong Shebei Co., Ltd. and since
September 2007, has been the general manager of Shenzhen Zhongxing Weixiantong
Shebei Co,, Ltd. Mr. Qu joined our Group in December 2002. He is a shareholder of
Fangyi Collaboration Holdings Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Li Tianshu, aged 69, is an independent non-executive Director. Mr. Li was appointed a
Director on | July 2007. Mr. Li graduated from Xi'an Jiaotong University in 1976 majoring
in computational Mathematics. From 1985 to 1988, Mr. Li studied business economics
at Universitat Mannheim in Germany and pursued a doctoral degree at Universitat
Mannheim in 1988. From 1988 to 1995, Mr. Li worked as a research assistant in the
business economics department of Universitat Mannheim. During the period from March
1995 to September 1995, Mr. Li worked in Germany for Friatec Aktiengesellschaft, an
international manufacturing enterprise, and was designated to become the future managing
director for China. From 1995 to 1998, Mr. Li first worked for KSB Aktiengesellschaft,
an international machinery manufacturing enterprise, as the assistant to the chairman of
the management board of KSB and then became the chief representative of its Beijing
Representative Office. During the period from 1998 to 2002, Mr. Li took the position of
regional director of Messer, an international chemical manufacturing enterprise, responsible
for its business development in Northern China as well as the operation, sales and profits
of its joint ventures and wholly owned companies in the Northern China region. During
that period, Mr. Li also served as the general manager of Messer North China Industrial
Gas Co, Ltd. and the chairman to the board of Tianjin Messer Gas System Co,, Ltd. Since
2002, Mr. Li has been the general manager of Beijing Delintech Technology Co., Ltd, a
technical promotion service provider and sales service provider. Since 27 March 2011,
Mr. Li has been the general manager of Beijing Zhong Biao Fang Yuan Anti-counterfeiting
Technology Co. Ltd. Mr. Li has valuable experience in international corporate management

and enterprise resources planning (ERP). Mr. Li joined our Group in July 2007.
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Directors and Senior Management

Zhang Han, aged 59, is an independent non-executive Director appointed on 25
November 2009 and the chairman of the audit committee. Mr. Zhang is currently an
independent director of Perfect World Co,, Ltd. (stock code: PWRD), a Nasdaq listed
company, where Mr. Zhang has also served as a member of its audit committee since
July 2008. The responsibilities of such role include overseeing the accounting and financial
reporting processes as well as external and internal audit of the Company. Mr. Zhang
received his bachelor's degree in chemistry from the Peking University in 1985. He
later obtained an EMBA degree from the China Europe International Business School
in 2004. From 1985 to 1988, Mr. Zhang worked at Beijing Fiber Reinforced Plastic
Research & Design Institute. Mr. Zhang was the Manager in the securities department
of Shenzhen Shekou China Merchants Co,, Ltd. from 1989 to 1994. Mr. Zhang was the
deputy manager at the finance department of China National Technical Import & Export
Corporation, and also the general manager of Shanghai CNTIC Investment Advisory
Co,, Ltd. from 1994 to 1998. From 1999 to 2000, Mr. Zhang served as assistant to the
general manager, investment director and fund manager at Penghua Fund Management
Co, Ltd, a fund management company in China. Mr. Zhang served as the deputy general
manager of Rongtong Fund Management Co,, Ltd,, a fund management company in
China, from 2001 to 2003. Mr. Zhang also served as the general manager of Great Wall
Fund Management Co., Ltd, a fund management company in China, from 2004 to 2005.
Mr. Zhang is currently a partner of Share Capital Partners Ltd, a Chinese venture capital
firm. Mr. Zhang has built up his experience in conducting due diligence work in respect
of the financial performance, management and corporate government quality of various
companies and conducting financial analysis of listed companies throughout his various

tenures in the investment industry. Mr. Zhang joined our Group on 25 November 2009.
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Ge Xiaojing, aged 62, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the
Company with effect from 3 August, 2018. She is a partner of SAIF Partners. Ms. Ge
joined SAIF Partners as vice-president in 2009 and became a partner in 2018. At SAIF
Partners, Ms. Ge has been responsible for investments in high-end smart manufacturing,
big data, energy, education, new media and other areas, and has also led the investments
in certain successful enterprises, including Orbbec (BBLLHY), QKM (ZEEEE)L),
UniFortune Supply Chain (Bf& F 2 &5 ), SuperC Technology (JE#%HY ), Hujiang
Education (JE)T#XE ) and Annoroad Technology (% #&#). In addition, Ms. Ge
is currently a director of QKM (ZEBE){t), UniFortune (BtE FE) and SuperC
Technology CB#3%H%) . From 2005 to 2009, Ms. Ge was the deputy general manager
and financial controller of Mobi Antenna Technologies (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (EELE KR
By CRID BRA

other things, corporate finance and operation, international business development,

). Ms. Ge has nearly 30 years of working experience in, among

project management and information technology. Ms. Ge graduated from The George
Washington University in 1994 with a master degree. She obtained her master and

bachelor degrees from Tsinghua University in 1986 and 1983, respectively.
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Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Shao Zhiguo, aged 59, was an executive Director of the Company from | April 2012
to 25 March 2015 and is the executive vice-president in research and development and
quality of the Company, MOBI Shenzhen, MOBI Xian and MOBI Jian respectively. Mr.
Shao graduated from the Northwest Telecommunications Engineering College (now
Xidian University) with a bachelor degree in wireless equipment structure design in
1984. In 1998, Mr. Shao obtained a master degree in systematic engineering from Xian
Electronic Technology University. During the period of 1984 to 1999, Mr. Shao has held
such positions as engineer and senior engineer at the Shijiazhuang Communications Survey
and Control Technology Institute. Mr. Shao has over |5 years experience of research and
development in the area of telecommunication measurement and control technology and
has received a second class award in Scientific Technology Advancement of the Ministry
of Machine Building and Electronics Industry. Mr. Shao is a senior member of the Chinese
Institute of Electronics. Mr. Shao was a director of Kang Cheng from June 2002 to June
2007. Mr. Shao joined our Group in August 1999.

Kong Weitong, aged 59, is the executive vice-president of the Company, which
responsible for the overall business of the antenna research and development system.
Mr. Kong obtained a bachelor's degree in economics from Shaanxi Institute of Finance and
Economics (now School of Economics and Finance of Xian Jiaotong University) in August
1998. Mr. Kong worked at the China Aerospace Corporation from 1982 to 2002 in the
areas of accounting and audit, where he was appointed as an accountant in 1992 and as
a senior accountant in 1999. Mr. Kong became a non-practicing member of the Chinese

Institute of Certified Public Accountants in 2006. Mr. Kong joined the Group in May 2002.

Chen Yang, aged 41, is the vice president of the Company, responsible for leading
businesses in the operator market in China. Mr. Chen resigned on 26 August 2022. Mr. Chen
Yang graduated from Xidian University majoring in electronic information engineering, in 2003,
with a Bachelor' s degree. He joined the Group in 2003, and has successively acted as sales
manager in provinces in China and general manager in the international key account marketing

region.
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Ye Rong, aged 43, is the vice-president of the Company responsible for leading the
business of the research and development of RF products. Mr. Ye Rong graduated from
Xidian University in 2005 with a master of science degree in electromagnetic field and
microwave technology. He joined the Group in 2005 and successively held the posts of
electrical engineer, research and development project manager, division head and the

general manager of the radio-frequency product business division.

Wu Qian, aged 34, was appointed as chief financial officer of the Company with effect
from 13 July, 2018. Ms. Wu joined the Group in 2015 and successively held variously
positions, such as manager of investment and financing, manager of investor relationship,
head of securities and investment department, etc. From 2013 to 2015, she joined a joint
venture of the Shell Oil as a management trainee, responsible for matters relating to
supply chain. Ms. Wu obtained a bachelor's degree in management from School of Public
Affairs and another certificate in second major of finance from School of Economics,
Zhejiang University in July 201 1. She subsequently obtained her master's degree in science

from University College London in November 2012.

Zhou Lingbo, aged 42, is the executive vice-president of the Company responsible for
the personnel and administration system, the domestic market system, the strategic
development and empowerment division. Ms. Zhou Lingbo graduated from the
department of law of Nanjing University in 2004 with a LLB degree. She joined the Group
in 2004 and successively held the posts of director of the infrastructure office and director

of the president’s office.

Zeng Zhi, aged 41, is the vice president of the Company, responsible for leading
antenna product research and development businesses. Mr. Zeng resigned on |7 January
2022. Mr. Zeng graduated from the School of Electronics and Information Engineering,
Harbin Institute of Technology majoring in communication and information system in
2006, with a Master of Engineering degree, and from the Shenzhen Graduate School,
Harbin Institute of Technology majoring in communication and information system in
2015, with a Doctor of Engineering degree. Mr. Zeng joined the Company in 2006, and
has successively acted as antenna engineer, research and development project manager,
department manager, technical director, and general manager of the antenna business

department.
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Directors and Senior Management

COMPANY SECRETARY AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Lau Wing, aged 50, is our deputy financial officer, authorized representative and company
secretary. He is also the deputy financial officer of financial centre of MOBI Shenzhen.
He is responsible for our company secretarial, financial and accounting management and
internal audit affairs. Mr. Lau obtained a bachelor's degree in accountancy from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University in 1996, and later obtained a master's degree in business
administration (financial service) in 2005. He is a Certified Public Accountant of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Lau has over 20 years of experience in finance,
accounting, auditing and company secretarial matters. Mr. Lau had held senior financial

positions in several listed companies. Mr. Lau joined our Group in May 201 1.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial

statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION
The Company was incorporated with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 16
December 2002.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Stock Exchange on |7 December 2009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the
subsidiaries comprise the research, development, manufacture and sale of antenna system,
base station radio frequency subsystem and products of coverage extension solution.
There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group's principal activities during

the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
including a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an
indication of likely future developments in the Group's business, can be found in the
Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 12 to 39 of this annual report. This

discussion forms part of this report of the directors.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 3| December 2022 and the state of affairs of
the Group at that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 138 to 268.

The Board did not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the year ended 31
December, 2022.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is a 5 years summary of the resufts and assets and liabilities of the Group

for the last five financial years, as extracted from the Prospectus and the audited financial

MBERHE

TEBEAEBRERENBRFENEER
BEMABE RERRERREEGVHR

statements. xKo
Year ended 3| December
BZ1A3IHLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
2022 20215 2020%F 20194 2018%F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TRE ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARETR
RESULTS ¥i5
Revenue WA 687,000 661,389 884,541 1214929 1,257,215
(Loss) profit before taxation ~ FiAT (&) FIH (222,082) (308,038) (43,388) 16,756 10,021
Income tax (expense) credit ~ FT1$H% (FisZ) K (7,679) (21,663) 13,575 6,855 6,668
(Loss) profit for the year FR (BE) M (229,761) (329,701) (29.813) 23611 16,689
(Loss) profit and the total ARRAER AREIGH
comprehensive (expenses) FE (8 MER
income for the year 2H (FAX) AR
attributable to owners
of the Company (229,761) (329,701) (29.813) 23611 16,689
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EBERE&E
Non-current assets FnBEE 383,295 472,233 567,187 547,649 537,626
Current assets MBEE 926,938 1,086,665 1,381,187 1,422,185 1,764,814
Current liabilities mEaE (740,652) (756,573) (747,208) (780,636)  (1,126905)
Non-current liabilities eV (4,587) (6,680) (75,117) (17,770) (12,773)
Net assets BEFH 564,994 795,645 1,126,049 1,171,428 1,162,762
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT V¥ BERGE

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year

are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

On 13 January 2010, 18,443,000 over-allotment shares of USD0.00000! each of the
Company at price of HKD3.38 per share were issued pursuant to the underwriting
agreement of the IPO of the Company. Pursuant to a shareholder resolution passed on |
June 2010, a bonus issue of 72,446,099 shares of USD0.00000! each of the Company is
issued to the persons whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
at the close of business on | June 2010 on the basis of one share for every ten shares held

on | June 2010. These new shares rank pari passu with the existing shares in all aspects.

Details of movements in the Company's share capital and share options during the year

are set out in notes 28 and 29 to the financial statements, respectively.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save for the share option scheme of the Company as set out on pages 120 to 122, no

equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed during the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

At 31 December 2022, the Company's reserves available for distribution, calculated in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, amounted
to RMB456.4 million. This amount includes the Company's share premium account
of RMB402.6 million at 31 December 2022, which may be distributed provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary

course of business.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
In the year under review, revenue attributed to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for 85.7% of the total revenue for the year and revenue attributed to the

largest customer accounted for 50.8%.

Purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers for the year is less than 36.5%.

The Directors’ Interests in a major customer and suppliers are set out in the paragraph
headed "Directors’ Material Interests in Transactions, Arrangements or Contracts” on

page 125 of this report.

EhkERERLXT
20224 3R

Report of the Directors

EEEHRE

PR A I B IR R

2010F1 A 138 ARBIREB X LAHETH
BB R IR TR 338 BTN EBREITAR
118,443,000 1% FAR E{E0.00000 | ETTHEEE
FREE %15 - BIE20105F 6 A | HBBRIRE R
FE - ADQBEM10F6H | BEERRLER
RBIIAREREAMAIRRN2010F6 A |
BEREB TR DRI — AR B L HI 21T
AT 72,446,099 2 & AR E 1H0.00000 | 3£ TTHI
AR - ZENBRHNERETEERERN=E
BRSkE:

FR - ARRRARBRENESFE D
B IS RRPTEE28 ] 29 o

S i

R 1202 5% | 2 BEDIM AR R BER 2
b REERF AR R] L o7 T ek
AR

RARAE D IREE
R202F12A318 ' AREIREHEHS A
AEREA ENTT R Y RFHEERARE4564
BT - ZeBBEALAN202%12A31H
MR B ERARE40268T - ZEROE
BRfHOR - ARRARERERZ YRR
B2 BRINARNBEEREEBTMEBE
jﬁ% °

FTEFFRHER

EEFER  REAERBRAAREPHKAELSF
RABKARIB57% TR BHRARFAKAL
50.8% °

FAMASEIAHERNRBRELRN
36.5% °

EERTREPRHEENESHNARS
FIBAEEERRS  RHIAHZEXE

-8

117



118

Report of the Directors
EEEHRG

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:
Executive Director

Hu Xiang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Director

Qu Degian

Independent non-executive Directors

Li Tianshu
Zhang Han
Ge Xiaojing

Under the provisions of the Articles, all of the Directors are subject to retirement by

rotation and re-election.

In accordance with Article 130 of the Articles, Mr. Li Tianshu & Mr. Zhang Han,
independent non-executive Directors will retire and, being eligible, will offer themselves

for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an
annual confirmation of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
and the Board still considers each of the independent non-executive Directors to be

independent from the Company.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior management of the

Group are set out on pages 107 to | |3 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT
Each of the executive Director and non-executive Director has entered into a service
contract with our Company commencing from |7 December 2021 for a term of three

years, respectively.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Zhang Han and Ms. Ge Xiaojing
has entered into a letter of appointment with our Company for a term of three years
commencing from |7 December 2021 and 3 August 2021 respectively (except for Mr.
Li. Tianshu whose engagement with us commenced on | July 2007) and renewable by

mutual agreement on annual basis.

None of the Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other

than statutory compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, every Director shall be entitled to
be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he
may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in

relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage

for the Directors and officers of the Group throughout the year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Directors' emoluments are reviewed by Remuneration Committee with reference to

Directors' duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

As at 31 December 2022, the number of ordinary shares in respect of which options had
been granted and remained outstanding was 36,191,000 (2021: 40,036,000), representing
4.44% (2021: 4.90%) of the total ordinary shares in issue at end of the reporting period.

The total number of ordinary shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of options
granted and to be granted to each eligible participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any period of twelve consecutive months up to and including the
date of grant shall not exceed [% of the ordinary shares in issue as of the date of grant.
Any further grant of options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders” approval in

advance in a general meeting.

Particulars of the Company's share option scheme are set out in note 29 to the financial

statements.

The following table discloses movements in the Company's share option scheme during

R

R202F12A31 8 - RBEERERLE
MARITENERERSROEBREE R
36,191,0008% (2021 F : 40,036,0000% ) * {57
EWMMREETETBREZMNA.44% (2021
F 1 490%) °

BESLBRERS (BEZE) LEE 128
AEMHE BIfEETEERTEAER
SEEBRE (BRETERHRITEZE
BE) ME TR TRITZERRER T
FHBHERLRHZEE#TERRBEZ
1% o (B — S REBBARB L BERER
ERERRIRRAG L - TAEE -

AR BB B RN B S SRR MR 29

TERAEAL AR BF A

the year:
Exercise price Outstanding Granted Cancelled Exercised Outstanding
per share (RMB) as at beginning during during during asatend
Name Option type Date of grant BRITHEE Exercisable period of the year the year the year the year of the year
4 BRERD  RHEE (ARE) AT ERE ENHATE ERi ERd#  FREAR  FREAGE
Directors:
g
Hu Xiang W0150ption A 2632015 147 142016 -2532025 450000 - - - 450000
#3 DISERREA
20150ptionB 2632015 147 142017 - 2532025 450,000 - - - 450,000
155 E iR
W0I150ptionC - 2632015 147 1420182532025 600,000 - - - 600,000
WISERREC

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Exercise price Outstanding Granted Cancelled Exercised Outstanding
per share (RMB) as at beginning during during during asat end
Name Option type Date of grant ERITHEE Exercisable period of the year the year the year the year of the year
8 FRESN  RARH  (ARW) TEHE ENHANE ERiH ERi#  FREAE  FREAGRE
Qu Degian 0130ption A 23122013 109 [62015- 22122023 150000 - - - 150000
) NI3EERIEA
0130ptionB 23122013 1.09 142016 -22.122023 150,000 - - - 150,000
I3FERER
W0130ptionC 23122013 1.09 [42017- 22122003 200,000 - - - 200000
I3FRREC
0150ptionA 2632015 147 142016 - 253-2025 150000 - - - 150000
NI5EERIIEA
0150ptionB 2632015 147 142017 - 2532025 150,000 - - - 150,000
0I5FBRER
0150ptionC 2632015 147 142018 - 2532025 200,000 - - - 200000
WISFRREC
Sub-totat: 2500000 - - - 2500,000
It
Other participants:
AfpgRE
Participants 2005 Option 3182005 0665 3182006 - 3082015 - - - - -
paE 205 R
Participants 013 Option A 23122013 1,09 162015 -22.122023 - - - - -
paE DI3FEREA
20130ptionB 23122013 1.09 142016 - 22122023 - - - - -
I3FERER
0130ptionC 23122013 1.09 [42017- 22122023 - - - - -
I3FRREC
Participants 0150ption A 2632015 147 142016 - 2532025 - - - - -
baE DISFRREA
0150ptionB 2632015 147 142017 - 2532025 - - - - -
WISFRRED
W0150ptionC - 2632015 147 142018 - 2532025 - - - - -
2I5FRREC
Sub-total: - - - - -
I

ELERERLA
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Exercise price Outstanding Granted Cancelled Exercised Outstanding
per share (RMB) as at beginning during during during asat end
Name Option type Date of gant BRITEE Exercisable period of the year the year the year the year of the year
i FREEN  RHAS  (ARW) fTEHE FAMANE ERiRd FRiE#E  FREME  FRHAGE
Other employees:
HfpfES -
Employees 0130ptionA 23122013 109 [62015- 22122023 5570000 - (619500) - 4950500
& I3FRREA
2013OptionB 23122013 1.09 142016 - 22122023 6,134,000 - (619.500) - 5514500
VI3FERIED
0130ptionC 2312203 109 [42017- 22122003 8,652,000 - (826,000) - 7826000
NI3FEMIEC
Employees 0150ptionA 2632015 147 142016 -253.2005 5154000 - (534000) - 4620000
& DISFRREA
0150ptionB 2632015 147 1420172532005 5154000 - (534000) - 4620000
D155 EIED
0150ptionC 2632015 147 1420182532025 6872000 - (712000) - 6,160,000
0I5 EIIEC
Sub-totat 37536000 - (3,845,000 - 33691,000
It :
Total: 40,036000 - (3,845,000 - 36,191,000
it

The weighted average closing share price immediately before the dates on which the HEEIREETFE R - RO IETEY
options were exercised was HK$1.53. WHERISIBIT

1 22 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors, the chief
executive or their associates in the share capital, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO™) ) which were notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of SFO),
or which, as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange

pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the

Report of the Directors
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“Model Code"), were as follows:

FARBRTEER S HIETFA (28T
BI)) A& A R R R ERTAR N

T
Ordinary shares of the Company: ARAEBR
Approximate
percentage of
Number of the Company’s
shares and issued capital
Number of underlying shares HEERT
Name of Director Nature of Interest Number of shares underlying shares 5 K& B¢y
BEEpE ERME ROBE HERGEE HERROBE BRAHE 2L
Hu Xiang Personal 26,102,500 1,500,000 27,602,500 3.39%
FiiE2) EPN Long Position Long Position Long Position
=9} =) 29y
Qu Degian Personal — 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.12%
[EE EPN Long Position Long Position
=) 59y
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Share options of the Company:

Details of the Directors interests in share options of the Company are set out in the

Section headed “Share Options” in this report.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors or the chief
executive of the Company had registered any interest or short position in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
SFO), or which as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN

SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

So far as is known to the Directors and Chief Executive of the Company as at 3|
December 2022, shareholders (other than Directors and Chief Executives of the
Company who had interests and short positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Ordinary shares of the Company: RAREBR
Approximate
percentage of
Number of the Company’s
shares and issued capital
Name of Substantial Number of underlying shares HEERT
Shareholder Nature of Interest Number of shares underlying shares R K 2RT
FTERREW BEME BHEE HERORE HEROHE BRANBED
Fangyi Collaboration Beneficial owner 230,607,300 — 230,607,300 28.29%
Holdings Limited EnBBA Long Position Long Position
TEERAR AR =9 =9
Li Xiaoyong Beneficial owner 52,679,000 — 52,679,000 6.46%
FINE ERBEAAN Long Position Long Position
=9 =

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,

ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

As at 31 December 2022, Directors' interests in a major customer were as follows:

ZTE Corporation (“ZTE")

EERRS  REHSHNZEAER

R2002FNA3IH  EXEBERFHNESS

AR YRR AN T -

RESEARDARAR ([ EEA )

. Hu Xiang and Qu Degian, Directors of the Company, are members of the 39 .

shareholders (“Beneficial Owners”) of Fangyi Collaboration Holdings Ltd. (“Fangyi"),

a substantial shareholder of the Company.

. The Beneficial Owners had an indirect equity interest of approximately 9.9% in d

ZTE, the second-largest customer of the Group for the year ended 3| December

2022, through their shareholdings in Shenzhen Zhongxing Weixiantong Shebei Co.,

Ltd. (“Shenzhen Weixiantong™). Shenzhen Weixiantong owns 49% shareholding

interest in Shenzhen Zhongxingxin Tongxun Shebei Co., Ltd. (“Zhongxingxin”),

which in turn had approximately 20.29% shareholding interest in ZTE.
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. Hu Xiang and Qu Degian together held approximately 4.1% shareholding interests
in Shenzhen Weixiantong. Therefore, they have indirect shareholding interests in
ZTE through their shareholding interests in Shenzhen Weixiantong.

As of 31 December 2022, Directors' interests in major suppliers were as follows:

Shenzhen Zhongxingxindi Technology Co., Ltd. (“Zhongxingxindi") which former name as
Shenzhen Zhongxingxindi Tongxin Qicai Co., Ltd.

. The Beneficial Owners have an indirect equity interest in Zhongxingxindi, a supplier
accounted for 0% purchase of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022,
through their shareholdings in Shenzhen Weixiantong. Shenzhen Weixiantong
was a 34.3% shareholder of Zhongxingxindi. Shenzhen Weixiantong owned 49%
shareholding interest in Zhongxingxin, which in turn had a 70% shareholding

interest in Zhongxingxindi.

. Hu Xiang and Qu Degian as members of the Beneficial Owners, therefore, have
indirect shareholding interests in Zhongxingxindi through their shareholding

interests in Shenzhen Weixiantong.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance in relation to the Group's business to which the Company's or any of its
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or its connected entities had a material
interest (whether directly or indirectly) subsisting at the end of the year or at any time

during the year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Details of the significant related party transactions entered into by the Group are set out
in note 36 to the financial statements which did not fall under the definition of “connected

transaction” or “‘continuing connected transaction” under Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's articles of association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares

on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge
of the Directors, as at the date of this report, the percentage of shares of the Company in
public hands is in compliance with the prescribed level of the minimum public float as set

out in Rule 8.08 of the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company has set up an audit committee with written terms of reference. The audit
committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors and reports to the

Board of Directors.

The Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022
have been reviewed by the audit committee of the Company, who are of the opinion that
such statements comply with the applicable accounting standards and legal requirements,

and that adequate disclosures have been made.

AUDITOR
A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to re-appoint Deloitte

Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
MOBI Development Co., Ltd.

Hu Xiang
Chairman

21 March 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of MOBI Development Co,, Ltd.
(the “"Company™) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out
on pages 138 to 268, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs")
issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code™), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit

evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS HREZEE
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most BREZFERRMNZXAEH - BRA
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. MG BRRTREENEE - ZINE

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial MEBRSAERREIENNEEBERIME
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a ~ FXER. ' MAEHLEEBRER/ERER

separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters

HRELER BMREGRINEERRERER

Valuation of inventories

FEMGE

We identified the valuation of inventories as a key — Our procedures in relation to valuation of inventories included:

audit matter due to the use of judgment and estimates

by the management in estimating the allowance for e Understanding how management estimates the allowance of
inventories. obsolete and/or slow-moving inventories items;

In determining the allowance for inventories, the Obtaining the inventory aging information and checking its
management considers the aging information, classification by age on a sample basis to relevant documents;

technology development of the industry, net realisable

value for obsolete and slow-moving inventories ¢ Checking on the net realisable value of inventories to subsequent

that are no longer suitable for use in operation and selling prices less costs of completion and costs necessary to make

subsequent sales or usage. the sale or usage of inventories on a sample basis to relevant
documents;

BB EERERESRRELZSEE  RARE HRMABEFEHERRWNIEZEFEHE:
I B (et T B R RS (2 P H B M At

- TREBEWAGEERE R RE T E B
EETFERRR BEEZETENRKESR
MEAFE  THEa€ENREHEXEAN « DMEFERERES  BMERERESBIEEX D
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EMRELRINEERRELER

Valuation of inventories (Cont'd)

FEAEGE)

As disclosed in note |9 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2022, the carrying
amount of inventory was RMB180,836,000, net of
allowance for inventories of RMB137,262,000.

WA I SRR MIEE 19PN EE - R20224F 12 A3
H FEREEAARE 1808360005 @ HIKTF
BB AR 137,262,0007T °

Evaluating the reasonableness of the allowance of obsolete and/
or slow-moving inventories identified by the management with
reference to the aging information of inventories, subsequent sales

and usage of inventories; and

Performing a retrospective review on the allowance estimation by
management by comparing historical allowance made to the actual

selling prices and actual loss incurred.

HEEEE2REFENRKES FENREHENERM
BRIRER SR EBRENSEN &

HBLLBEREREREREENEREENER  UFEE
EEENEERE -

ELERERLA
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BYZBERE

Key audit matters

HRELER

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EMRELRINEERRELER

Impairment assessment of the Identified Long-lived Assets (as defined below)

ERAIRMEE (EXR M) NRERE

We identified the impairment assessment of the long-
lived assets relating to the Group's business of research,
development, manufacture and sale of antenna system,
base station radio frequency subsystem and products of
coverage extension solution, comprising certain property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
(the “Identified Long-lived Assets”), as key audit matter as
significant judgement by the management is required to
assess the amount of impairment of these assets.

During the year ended 3| December 2022, the
management of the Group performed an impairment
assessment of the Identified Long-lived Assets due to the
indication for impairment as disclosed in notes 4 and 14
to the consolidated financial statements. For the purpose
of assessing impairment of these assets, the recoverable
amounts of these assets have been determined by the
management of the Group by value in use calculations
using financial budgets based on past performance and
expectation for market development, where the key input

parameters include growth rates and discount rate.

HFIERBRERBRREL - ZUSTHATRER
LBEELEHEDREROTR - M3 HWERHEE
EBMEHEE (BREETYE  BELRE
EREEENETEE) [EFERHEE]D W
BEFGERSBREZER  SANEEER
ZIFHEARHEAHERXFEENRESRE

REZE2002F12A3IBLLFE - EXEEEEER
MRGEE T BHRERM T4 R 14h B EAORETR
M BRI RBEE#RITREN G - RZEEE
WHERENS ZSEEN KOS BERE
SEERENFERAEENGEET  FREAEN
TENENBENEERTEST SRRV ETE
E HARRGASLEREERERITAE -

Our procedures in relation to management's impairment assessment of the
Identified Long-lived Assets included:

. Understanding the Group's impairment assessment process, including

impaiment assessment model adopted and assumptions used;

. Evaluating the independent qualified professional valuer's competence,

capabilities and objectivity;

. Engaging our internal specialists to review the reasonableness of the
impairment assessment model adopted and assumptions used by the

management of the Group;

. Assessing the reasonableness of the management's estimate of the
growth rates with reference to the historical performance and the latest
budgets of the Group and market data;

. Assessing the reasonableness of the discount rate used by management

in determining the value in use, with reference to the current market risk-

free rate of interest and the industry and company specific risk factors;

BMBEEENCHRIRAEERENENETFRE

- BERESEREFNGREF  SREMAERKRERHER AT
LN S

« AHABYARMBEFEEMER  ENMFEML

- ZEABZERFHEEEETIEERRAMERGEER LA
ERERERAE RN

. SEERRATRARSFEEURTENE FETRE
R R AN |

SLEZHMSERRON R RITEAR QB EE R A
= RMEREEECEMEERMERBRENGIEN
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Key audit matters

HRELER

Independent Auditor’s Report
R R S

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BMREELRINEERRELER

Impairment assessment of the Identified Long-lived Assets (as defined below) (Cont'd)

BRI RPEE (ERRTX) WRERNE (&)

Based on the management's assessment, an
impairment loss of the Identified Long-lived Assets of
RMB45,156,000 has been recognised in profit or loss
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

As disclosed in note |4 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2022, the aggregate
carrying amount of the Identified Long-lived Assets
was RMB322,533,000, net of impairment loss of
RMB106,072,000.

BIEEEENTMG - B E2022F 12831 HIESF
- BEREBIREEERNREEEAREA4S5,156000
TTERERPHER -

WNEEE BRI 14T EE - 720224 12
A3 B BRI EHEENEERETEAARE
322,533,0007C © KR IBIE EIE A R ¥ 106,072,000
7TE o

Assessing the sensitivity analysis prepared by management on the
significant assumptions to evaluate the extent of impact of these

assumptions on the impairment assessment model.

AHEEEREBEEERIFARNBBESN - UHEZFR
REBEMEELANZERE

EHERAERRZSF

20224 3

133



134

Independent Auditor’s Report
B BT R

OTHER INFORMATION
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not include

the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is
to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other

information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due

to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no

realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial

reporting process.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and

maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or

the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

ELERERLA
20224
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B BT R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contd)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors” use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Group's ability to continue as a going concem. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events

or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner

that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of
the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit

opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,

the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contd)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, action taken to eliminate threats or safeguards

applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor's report is

Wong Kit Sum.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

21 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
GERaRkEME2EREERR

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

2022 2021
2022F 20215
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
P aE ARBTT ARETTT

Revenue WA 5 687,000 661,389
Cost of sales SHERAR (580,160) (644,582)
Gross profit E7 106,840 16,807
Impainment losses under expected credit loss (‘ECL")  TBER(EE&E ([FEHEEEE])

model, net of reversal EXTHRERE - kAL (12,480) (4,185)
Impairment losses on Identified Long-lived Assets BB REBEEHREEE (45,156) (60916)
Other income =N 6 39,296 34,354
Other gains and losses H o ies & &8 6 (85,365) (9,494)
Research and development expenses MEFS (86,300) (121,179)
Administrative expenses TEFY (89,360) (98,631)
Distribution and selling expenses DIHNIHERX (45,138) (55,172)
Finance costs B FSAK AR 7 (4,970) (7,692)
Fair value change on derivative financial instruments MELBITEATEES - (1,454)
Share of results of associates k=N 3 551 (476)
Loss before tax A& 1B (222,082) (308,038)
Income tax expense Bk Diba 8 (7,679) (21,663)
Total comprehensive expense attributable to RATRHEE AEWS

owners of the Company 2HEFAXERE 9 (229,761) (329,701)
Loss per share BRER

~ basic (RMB cents) - ZUNE S 13 (28.08) (40.29)

— diluted (RMB cents) -85 (ARER) 13 (28.08) (40.29)

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e B AR Rk

At 31 December 2022
R2002F12R318

2022 2021
2022 20215
Notes RMB’000 RMB000

P aE ARBTT ARETTT

Non-current Assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment R 14 280,529 325,507
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 24,087 31,625
Deposits for purchase of plant and equipment BERELRBEE RS 13,136 13,240
Deferred tax assets BERIEEE 16 43,026 50,69
Intangible assets B EE 17 17,917 47,088
Derivative financial instruments TEeRMITA 27 - 33
Interests in associates NN ol Ee 18 4,600 4,049
383,295 472233
Current Assets REEE
Inventories wE 19 180,836 213,113
Trade and other receivables B 5 M EMEUER 20 482,036 550,839
Pledged bank deposits BHEIRRITER 21 89,791 72,167
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEED 21 174,275 250546
926,938 1,086,665
Current Liabilities k=
Trade and other payables B 5 LEMEMERR 22 690,574 599,277
Contract liabilities BREE 23 6,102 13,347
Bank and other borrowings RITREAM AR 24 38,560 137277
Lease liabilities HE&E 25 3,630 4402
Deferred income B 26 1,786 2270
740,652 756,573
Net Current Assets REEEFHE 186,286 330,092
Total Assets less Current Liabilities BEERRBEE 569,581 802,325
BEtkB#RAERAL2A 139
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
mE B AR R

At 31 December 2022
R2002F 128318

2022 2021
2026 2021 4
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
b= AR¥TR ARETIT
Non-current Liabilities FREEE
Lease liabilities HE&E 25 2,220 2,66
Deferred income EIEWA 26 2,367 4019
4,587 6,680
Net Assets BERE 564,994 795,645
Capital and Reserves BRAK
Share capital (LZN 28 6 6
Reserves & 564,988 795,639
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ARRER ANEIGHER 564,994 795,645

The consolidated financial statements on pages |38 to 268 were approved and authorised FIBEBEMNFAMBHRELESEN

for issue by the board of directors on 21 March 2023 and is signed on its behalf by: 2023F3 21 BRUEMBETIE - WHIATE
ERREE
Hu Xiang
iz
DIRECTOR
=
1 40 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GERRBBHRE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HR20FENA3IBLEE

Enterprise  Statutory
Share Share  expansion surplus Special Share option  Retained
capital  premium fund reserve fund reserve reserve  earnings Total
TERRE  EERS BRE
Bx  RoaE -5 HE BHRE e REEA @zt
RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR AREBTR ARBTT ARMTT ARMTRT ARMTR ARETR AR%TR
(note 2) (note b) (notec)  (note29)
(Bizta) (Hrakb) (M) (WE29)
At | January 2021 R0FI A8 6 404,145 3034 69990 2999 25,186 620689 1126049
Loss and the total comprehensive EEEER
expense for the year THRXES - - - - - - 3w (329700)
Transfer o - - - 3 - - (32) -
Transfer of share option reserve upon 75 B AR A 8 %
forfeiture of share options BIRERRE - - - - - 2391) 2391 -
Repurchase and cancellation of shares BB R R 17
(note 28) (FitzE2s) - (666) - - - - - (666)
Repurchase of shares (note 28) Mg (fizas) - (37) - - - - - (37)
At 31 December 2021 #2021 F 124318 6 403442 3034 70022 2999 22,795 293347 795,645
Loss and the total comprehensive FEERR
expense for the year PERAXEE - - - - - - Q9781 (209761)
Transfer of share option reserve upon 1% YRR RR 1R
forfeiture of share options ERERERE - - - - - (1829) 1,829 -
Repurchase and cancellation of shares &Il RET R 17
(note 28) (FizE28) - (476) - - - - - (47¢)
Repurchase of shares (note 28) RADEEE (FizE28) - 414) - - - - - (414)
At 31 December 2022 R0NF12A318 6 402552 3034 70022 2999 20966 65415 564994

ELERERLA
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GERERBBHRE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

Notes:

@

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands (2009 Revision), the share premium of the
Company may be applied for redemption or purchase of any shares of the Company, payment of
distributions or dividends to shareholders provided that immediately following the date on which
the distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, payment of its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business. During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021,

no dividends were paid out of its share premium.

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"),
the Company's PRC subsidiaries are required to maintain statutory reserve. Appropriations to such
reserve are made out of net profit after tax reported in the statutory financial statements of the
PRC subsidiaries while the amounts and allocation basis are decided by their respective boards of
directors annually. The statutory reserve can be used to make up their prior year losses, if any, and
can be applied in conversion into capital by means of capitalisation issue or expanding the capital

base of the PRC subsidiaries by means of capitalisation issue.

Special reserve represents the difference between the paid-in capital of BELL KARFEIT (FRYINAE
f% 2] MOBI Antenna Technologies (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“MOBI Shenzhen”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and the nominal value of the Company's shares issued in connection
with the acquisition of MOBI Shenzhen. MOBI Shenzhen was acquired pursuant to the group
restructuring completed on 19 December 2002, at which time the Company entered into an

equity transfer agreement for the acquisition of the entire equity interest in MOBI Shenzhen.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GERERER

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HR20FENA3IBLEE

2022 2021
2022F 20215
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETTT

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Impairment loss on the Identified Long-live Assets

Amortisation of intangible assets
Write-down of inventories
Unrealised exchange (gain) losses
Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Finance costs

Impairment losses under ECL model, net of reversal

Loss on fair value change on derivatives

Loss (gain) on disposals of property, plant and equipment HEME - BERZER

Share of results of associates
Provision of settlement expenses
Interest income from bank deposits

Government grants related to assets

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital

Decrease (increase) in inventories

Decrease in trade and other receivables

Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables

(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities

Settlement for derivative financial instruments

Cash generated from (used in) operations

Taxation paid

R
TRl ER (222,082) (308,038)
SATEBEL AR
ME - BERRETE 32,645 31,852
ERAIREEENREEE 45,156 60916
B EESE 17,807 20,668
FEMOR 4,489 69,211
REREN (Wx) BE (9,594) 10,299
EREEERE 5,895 7067
B DR 4,970 7,692
HHEEERER TH
AR - MEREE 12,480 4,185
THETARTEZEERE - |,454
Eia (ss) 8,847 (17)
i dNEIE 3 (551) 476
MEERRE 83,255 -
RITIE R EBA (9,683) (5,127)
REERBOBN#HEE (2,136) (2513)
AT EEECEYINCERERE (28,502) (101,875)
FERD (Em) 27,788 (12,307)
B 5 K H At e AR TR 44,306 63,587
H 5 KA MR BRR G N OR ) 24,590 (23,134)
BHBEORD) B (7,245) 6,075
EEITETRITA 33 (2,836)
s (TR Re 60,970 (70,490)
BENHE (14) (10)
BEL#*RERASF 143

20224 3



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HERERER

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

2022 2021
200E 20215
RMB'000 RMB000
ARBTR ARBTT
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATING ReEBME (A B %8
ACTIVITIES 60,956 (70,500)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REER
Placement of pledged bank deposits FEBEMRTER (107,277) (41,120)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEVE BELRE (13,706) (27,165)
Deposits paid for purchase of plant and equipment HEERE LREX RS (13,136) (13,240)
Development costs paid and capitalised B RERCERKAR (6,/481) (19,692)
Redemption of pledged bank deposits BB RRTER 89,653 81,769
Interest received BUCHE 9,683 5,127
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEME  BERREOMERIE 6,763 9435
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REGEHMAR S FHE (34,501) (4,886)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEED
Repayments of bank and other borrowings BRBITRAMER (158,220) (99.575)
Repayments of lease liabilities EBEHEEEE (5,699) (6,775)
Interest paid EAFLE (4,867) (6,906)
Repurchase of shares P {n B el (890) (703)
New bank borrowings raised FTILRITIER 59,503 72,277
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEBMARSFE (110,173) (41,682)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RekBReEBWFERD
CASH EQUIVALENTS (83,718) (117,068)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT | JANUARY RIAIBRREERESEED 250,546 371,930
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES SNERE R F B 7,447 (4316)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER R 12A3I HWBRE KRS ZEY 174,275 250,546

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

MOBI Development Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) is a public limited company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“The Stock Exchange”) on 17 December 2009. The address
of its registered office is Maples Corporate Services Limited P.O. Box 309, Ugland
House, Grand Cayman KYI-1104, Cayman Islands and its principal place of business
is 7 Langshan First Road, Science and Technology Park, Nanshan District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province, the PRC.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are

production and sale of antennas and radio frequency subsystems.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB"), which is

also the functional currency of the Company and its principal subsidiaries.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™)
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group's annual period
beginning on | January 2022 for the preparation of the consolidated financial

statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3
BEBMBHRELR L3N (BFTAK)
Amendment to HKFRS 16
BERIBHEERFE 165% (BRI X)
Amendments to HKAS 16

BB ERIE 65 (BATA)
Amendments to HKAS 37

BB GERIE37H (BATAR)
Amendments to HKFRSs
BERIBHEER (BFTAK)
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Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021

2021 F6 A30 REM019BRESHEESESR
Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use
WE - BEKRE — BEARRAEIA

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
LEAH — BITRHMMRA

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020
ERMBHREEN2018FE2020FBH 2 FEUE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2.
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Contd)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

(Cont'd)

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no

material impact on the Group's financial positions and performance for the current

and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial

statements.

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs

that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the October 2020 and February

2022 Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts'

BB HREERIE 175 (A3E20205 108 K& REREL
202292 AR BB SRS RIS 1758 (18R] AK))

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

BARMBREEE 0% R

BB RTERIF 285 (B AK)
Amendments to HKFRS 16
BERMBHEERE 165% (BRI X)
Amendments to HKAS |

EEGERE % (BFIX)

Amendments to HKAS | and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

BRGHERIE R REEHBRELER
BERHREE2T (BITA)

Amendments to HKAS 8

BB ERE (BRI X)

Amendments to HKAS 12

BB GERIE 125 (BATA)

EREEUHREER (R
PRGN ) BRI AR (2)
FEERFER 2 EBUBHREENE
HENGY
RAFEEAEBHBRELEZER]
REAEERNE A B EEFE 2 BB
RERBRR/ REEGE W BREKA
HoRBIEBATE -

EEMEERERHTEBUBRE
ZARERMBREEINETA
AEEYERPEA TR BMERR
EWMZHR] BB RELR RBEY
BREEAEETA -

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and

its Associate or Joint Venture?

REEREBENRSAE R ANEERELTE

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?

ERMERRZTHEERR

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related

amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)'

BEIBRRDAIERBARBTBREESH (20205) 2 BRER]

Disclosure of Accounting Policies'

SRR BE

Definition of Accounting Estimates

Sitfhat &

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction'

BE-QHELZEAERABERBRERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Contd)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Cont d)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

: Effective for annual periods beginning on or | January 2024.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the directors of
the Company anticipate that the application of all other new and amendments to
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the

foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS | and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of

Accounting Policies

HKAS | is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant accounting
policies” with “material accounting policy information”. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together with other information
included in an entity's financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements

make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may be material
because of the nature of the related transactions, other events or conditions, even if
the amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy information relating
to material transactions, other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity
chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such information

must not obscure material accounting policy information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Contd)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Cont d)

Amendments to HKAS | and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of
Accounting Policies (Contd)

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the "Practice
Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity applies the “four-
step materiality process” to accounting policy disclosures and to judge whether
information about an accounting policy is material to its financial statements.

Guidance and examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact on
the financial position or performance of the Group but may affect the disclosures
of the Group’s significant accounting policies. The impacts of application, if any, will

be disclosed in the Group's future consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary amounts in financial
statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty”. An accounting policy
may require items in financial statements to be measured in a way that involves
measurement uncertainty — that is, the accounting policy may require such items
to be measured at monetary amounts that cannot be observed directly and must
instead be estimated. In such a case, an entity develops an accounting estimate
to achieve the objective set out by the accounting policy. Developing accounting
estimates involves the use of judgements or assumptions based on the latest

available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in HKAS 8 is retained

with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact on

the Group's consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Contd)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Cont d)

Amendments to HKAS |2 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition exemption of deferred
tax liabilities and deferred tax assets in paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 /ncome
Taxes ("HKAS 12") so that it no longer applies to transactions that, on initial

recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

As disclosed in Note 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements, for leasing
transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities,
the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to the relevant assets and liabilities as a
whole. Temporary differences relating to relevant assets and liabilities are assessed

on a net basis.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group will recognise a deferred tax
asset (to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised) and a deferred tax
liability for all deductible and taxable temporary differences associated with the

right-of-use assets and the lease liabilities.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
| January 2023, with early application permitted. As at 31 December 2022, the
carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities which are subject to
the amendments amounted to nil, net of impairment loss of RMB5,676,000 and
RMB5,850,000 respectively. The Group s still in the process of assessing the full

impact of the application of the amendments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong

Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical
cost basis except for certain financial instruments that are measured at fair
values at the end of reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies

set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given

in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable
or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of
the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics
into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair
value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16 and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but
are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value
in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets ("HKAS 36").
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (Cont d)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a
market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset
in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that

would use the asset in its highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level |, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to
the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs

to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

. Level | inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the

measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within
Level I, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or

indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of
the Company and entities controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable retumns from its involvement with

the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three

elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over
the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary.
Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control

until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed

to the owners of the Company.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group's

accounting policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Basis of consolidation (Cont'd)

Al intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full

on consolidation.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those

policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these
consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of associates used for equity accounting purposes are
prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method,
an investment in an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate. Changes in net assets of the associates other than profit or
loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When
the Group's share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group's interest in
that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group's net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations

or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Investments in associates (Cont'd)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from
the date on which the investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period

in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the interest
in an associate may be impaired. When any objective evidence exists,
the entire carrying amount of the investment is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance
with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment

subsequently increases.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2022

3. HEMBRROGREEREX
SRR (@)

32

ERERBE ()
RBERAZRE ()
BREHRKA— B E QT
Hﬁ'w—ﬁﬁﬁﬂjzhﬁ%
REDEANEK - BUSREBE D7)
PHRER  RERABBAE
BEEREHSROAFMNEERR
B A FEFETAEDEND
NHEALBE (BEEMARE
HRREER) - EBEHFER -
ARBEMHBABMEERAE
A EFETAENDEBB
RERA - QB S BN
BRARENE M IRt A Baf -

AEEERAFERBERE
TR —FEEE AR MR AT
HEEFEE - MFEERREE
B REZ2DEAGESSRE
BAGHERENHIERE—5
ERETRENR - FEALRE
AkEeE(EREERATE
ﬁﬁ%W$2F%%vﬁﬁ%ﬁ
E - WHERZEMREBETR
PEEEMEE (B %%ﬁ&ﬁ
RHEEZ —Ho0EE) - ZRE
EEAMBEREEESHE
RISE36SRHER - HEXBERIZ N2
AIRERE SRR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Investments in associates (Cont'd)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate, it
is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group
retains an interest in the former associate and the retained interest is a
financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS
9"), the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The difference
between the carrying amount of the associate and the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing the relevant interest in
the associate is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal
of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate on
the same basis as would be required if that associate had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities,
the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant

associate,

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and
losses resulting from the transactions with the associate are recognised in the
Group's consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in

the associate that are not related to the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is
satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the particular

performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of
goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that

are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant

performance obligation if one of the following critenia is met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits

provided by the Group's performance as the Group performs;

. the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that the

customer controls as the Group performs; or

. the Group's performance does not create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment

for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer

obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont d)

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in exchange
for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a customer that
is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance with
HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the Group's unconditional right
to consideration, ie. only the passage of time is required before payment of

that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or

an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract are

accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for

consideration.

ELERERLA
20224

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HR20FENA3IBLEE

3. HEMBRROGREEREX
SRR (@)

32

ERERBE ()
REEFEHHIKRA (B)
ANEERASERAREESE
BT EPHE IR RIAE
HORER - M 5% A 1A AR A AR R A5
- AREERBE B BRE
RRFIFETTRIER M M -
YA EASE KRR ER
ERITERN - B —BRERIER
BVES (B -

ANBERAREREBEPR
BAE (REBMRESR)  MA
BREMIMBTEL 2EH

#HE

HEA TS
HEHRBRRRENSE TE—R
B ] PO AR 1) AT 3 R B EE (PR A
Kl - RZANAEESREHEE -

157



158

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Leases (Cont d)

Definition of a lease (Cont d)

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application or arising from business combinations, the Group assesses
whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under
HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the

contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the

non-lease components.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases
that have a lease term of |2 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis

over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Leases (Cont d)

The Group as a lessee (Contd)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less

any lease incentives received;

. any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

. an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which it is
located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by

the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease

liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term
are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over

the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the

consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Leases (Cont d)

The Group as a lessee (Contd)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-

use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures
the lease liability at the present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses
the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the

interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease

incentives receivable;
. variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially

measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;

. amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value

guarantees;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Leases (Cont d)

The Group as a lessee (Contd)

Lease liabilities (Cont'd)

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably

certain to exercise the option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects

the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest

accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding

adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of
exercise of a purchase option, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a

revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in market rental rates
following a market rent review, in which cases the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using

the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the

consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

162

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. HAMBBRRNEREEREKX
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 2BER (&)
32 Significant accounting policies (Cont d) 32 EXREFHEE(A)
Leases (Contd) HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (Cont d) FEEERFATEA ()
Lease modifications MEESR
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if: fWHIRATIER  BIAEEHE

. the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right

to use one or more underlying assets; and

. the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope
and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect

the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the
Group remeasures the lease liability less any lease incentives receivable,
based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the

modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making
corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset. When the
modified contract contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the modified contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone

price of the non-lease components.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Leases (Cont d)

The Group as a lessee (Contd)

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease payments as a result of
interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future lease payments as a result
of interest rate benchmark reform, the Group applies the practical expedient
to remeasure the lease liabilities by discounting the revised lease payments
using the unchanged discount rate and makes a corresponding adjustment
to the related right-of-use assets. A lease modification is required by interest

rate benchmark reform if, and only if, both of these conditions are met:

. the modification is necessary as a direct consequence of interest rate

benchmark reform; and

. the new basis for determining the lease payments is economically
equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the basis immediately preceding

the modification).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Leases (Cont d)

The Group as a lessee (Contd)

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes in lease
payments resulting from rent concessions the same way it would account for
the changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes are not a lease modification.
Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are accounted for as variable lease
payments. The related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts
forgiven or waived with a corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit

or loss in the period in which the event occurs.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating
leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee,
the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as

operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment

properties measured under fair value model.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Leases (Cont d)

The Group as a lessor (Cont d)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components, the Group
applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“"HKFRS 15”)
to allocate consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease components.
Non-lease components are separated from lease component on the basis of

their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits
Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under HKFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition

are considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part of the
original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease modifications,
including lease incentives provided through forgiveness or reduction of

rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a new
lease from the effective date of the modification, considering any prepaid
or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease as part of the lease

payments for the new lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Leases (Cont d)

The Group as a lessor (Cont d)

Lease modification (Cont'd)

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease payments as a result of

interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future lease payments as a result
of interest rate benchmark reform for a finance lease that is not accounted
for as a separate lease, the Group applies the same accounting policies as

those applicable to financial instruments (see accounting policy below).

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of

historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Foreign currencies (Contd)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on
the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they arise.

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which

they are incurred.

Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance
that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that

the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over
the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the related costs
for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government
grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct
or otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to profit
or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related

assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

Such grants are presented under “other income”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Employee benefits

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to the state-owned retirement benefit schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Schemes”) which are classified
as defined contribution plans are recognised as an expense when employee

have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Termination benefits
A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of when the
Group entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the termination benefit

and when it recognises any related restructuring costs.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount
of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees rendered the
services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the

cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages
and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount already

paid.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share option granted to employees
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing
similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at

the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at
the grant date without taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based
on the Group's estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest,
with a corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve). At the end
of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant
non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to

the share option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in
share option reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will

be transferred to retained earnings.

ELERERLA
20224

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HR20FENA3IBLEE

3. HEMBRROGREEREX
SRR (@)

32

ERERBE ()

BR G BEELHHH

Uz B LR BRI
HIX 5

RTEBREERE

¥i{E 8 RIEHRBRBA A
TEHB AR AR AR D RE
BRONFRERTANRH B
HAFERE -

REHE RBENAESEEN
B RERNN RO D FE (XL
BEEMAFMSHENRE K
) DEAREETEETAR
SREEBNEBHENERE
X3 - W T (RERERE)
fEREIE M - RE 2K - K
SEERTE RIS IR
MISHE N RE RO RE
Mz TAMNMGEEE - BF R
AEtFE (E) ERETHE
B UERFFARBREEET
At BERESFLARAR -

1T RB AR - 5T A B AR
i HER A & B A AR 8
(B - ERMERNRE B PR
Wk Eim B AREETTRE - STl
REBBHER AT RN EHE
ANRE &M -

169



170

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and

deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit/loss before tax because of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting

period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying
amount of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial

recognition of goodwill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Taxation (Cont'd)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse

in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to

be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying

amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which
the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities,
the Group first determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to

the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Taxation (Cont'd)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the
lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements
to the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary differences relating to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of
depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease payments for the principal

portion of lease liabilities resufting in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by

the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when
they relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the

business combination.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes
(other than plant and machinery under construction as described below).
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and

subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Plant and machinery in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment
loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group's accounting policy. Sale proceeds
of items that are produced while bringing an item of property, plant and
equipment to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management (such as samples
produced when testing whether the asset is functioning properly), and the
related costs of producing those items are recognised in the profit or loss.
The cost of those items are measured in accordance with the measurement
requirements of HKAS 2. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis
as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their

intended use.
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Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Property, plant and equipment (Cont d)

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of properties
which includes both leasehold land and building elements, the entire
consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the
extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably, interest
in leasehold land that is accounted for as an operating lease is presented
as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position.
When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease
building element and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the

entire properties are classified as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets other than
construction in progress less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective

basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is

recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Intangible assets

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and development
expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period

in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development activities
(or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and

only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

. the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will

be available for use or sale;

. the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

. the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

. how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic
benefits;

. the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to

complete the development and to use or sell the intangible asset; and

. the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the

intangible asset during its development.
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STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Intangible assets (Contd)

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and development
expenditure (Contd)

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible asset is
the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the intangible
asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no intemally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are
reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment

losses (if any).

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts
of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss (if any). intangible assets not yet available
for use are tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an

indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the

recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets (Cont d)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporates assets are
allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared
with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of

cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future

cash flows have not been adjusted.
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32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets (Cont d)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units, including
the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment
loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use
(if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss

is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in prior years.

A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement of

financial position include:

(@)  cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits,
excluding bank balances that are subject to regulatory restrictions that

result in such balances no longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b)  cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally with
original maturity of three months or less), highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are
held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather

than for investment or other purposes.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of
inventories are determined on a weighted average method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary
to make the sale include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale

and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or
constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be
required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the

amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated
to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of

those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame

established by regulation or convention in the market place.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value
except for trade receivables arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15, Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or

financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost
of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest income and
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial

recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently

measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is

to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount

outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently

measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is

achieved by both selling and collecting contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount

outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except that
at initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in
other comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither held for
trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business

combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont d)
Financial instruments (Cont d)
Financial assets (Cont d)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Cont @)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near
term; or
. on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial

instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent actual

pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging

instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are
required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at

FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Financial assets (Cont d)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Cont @)

() Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments/receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-

impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Financial assets (Cont d)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Cont @)

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at

amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured at

FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes
any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included

in the “other gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under

HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss ("ECL") model on financial assets (including trade receivables, other
receivables, pledged bank balances, and bank balances) which are subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at

each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Financial assets (Cont d)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Cont d)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
I2-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events that are possible within |2 months after the
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group's historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at

the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables without
significant financing component. The Group always recognises lifetime ECL

for trade receivables without significant financing component.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to
[2-month ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial

recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Financial assets (Cont d)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under

HKFRS 9 (Cont d)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking

information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when

assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial

instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant

decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Financial instruments (Cont d)
Financial assets (Cont d)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Cont d)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Cont d@)
. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating

results of the debtor;

. an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s

ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information

that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount

becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HR20FENA3IBLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. HAMBBRRNEREEREKX
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd) SHE (&)

Significant accounting policies (Cont d) 32 EXREFHEE(A)
Financial instruments (Cont'd) 2HTAE(E)
Financial assets (Cont d) THEE (B)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under BIRER B HREELFEIR T
HKFRS 9 (Cont'd) RSB AEAE ()
(i) Definition of default iy BEHTE

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event
of default occurs when information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any

collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to

demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets (iil)
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-

impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Financial assets (Cont d)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Cont d)

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets (Cont d)

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower's financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)

would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset

because of financial difficulties.

(iv)  Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any

subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Financial assets (Cont d)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under

HKFRS 9 (Cont d)

)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data and forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective
risks of default occurring as the weights. The Group uses a practical
expedient in estimating ECL on trade receivables using a provision
matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or

effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the

effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered on a
collective basis taking into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward looking macroeconomic

information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Financial assets (Cont d)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Cont d)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Cont'd)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration the

following characteristics when formulating the grouping;

. Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

. External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk

characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in which
case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the

financial asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Financial assets (Cont d)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights
to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to

another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the

consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial labilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and

the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue

costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and
deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company's own equity

instruments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Financial liabilities and equity (Cont d)

Equity instruments (Cont d)

Financial liabilities

Al financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables and bank and other
borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective

interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the
Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the

consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows as a result of
interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of a
financial asset or financial liability to which the amortised cost measurement
applies as a result of interest rate benchmark reform, the Group applies the
practical expedient to account for these changes by updating the effective
interest rate, such change in effective interest rate normally has no significant
effect on the carrying amount of the relevant financial asset or financial

lability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Financial liabilities and equity (Cont d)

Changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows as a result of
interest rate benchmark reform (Cont'd)

A change in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows is required

by interest rate benchmark reform if and only if, both these conditions are

met:

. the change is necessary as a direct consequence of interest rate
benchmark reform; and

. the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is

economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the basis

immediately preceding the change).

Denvative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when derivative
contracts are entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their
fair value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is

recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount
presented in the consolidated statement of financial position when, and
only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise

the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are described in note
3, the directors of the Company are required to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.

Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the

revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see
below), that the directors of the Company have made in the process of applying
the Group's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the

amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Capitalisation of development costs

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of the Group's development costs
amounted to RMBI3.4 million (2021: RMB35.5 million), which are not ready for
the intended use, were included in intangible assets. The capitalisation involved
management’s judgement in assessing of whether technical and commercial
feasibility of each project had been achieved. Technical feasibility are evaluated
based on testing results of products and commercial feasibility are evaluated based
on forecast with assumptions on revenue to be generated, budget costs to be

incurred and relevant market analysis of the relevant product.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Contd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that may have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets

and liabilities within the next financial year.

Allowance for inventories

The Group provided an allowance for inventories based on an assessment of
the net realisable value of inventories. Allowance is applied to inventories where
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the net realisable value is lower
than the cost of inventories. The identification of obsolete inventories requires the
use of judgment and estimates on the conditions and usefulness of the inventories.
The management may consider the aging analysis, technology development of
the industry, net realisable value for obsolete and/or slow-moving inventories
that are no longer suitable for use in operation and subsequent sales or usage.
Where the actual outcome or expectation of the net realisable value of inventories
is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
value of inventories and allowance for inventories in the period in which such
estimate has changed. The carrying amount of inventories at 31 December 2022 is
RMB 180,836,000, net of allowance of RMBI37,262,000 (2021: RMB213,113,000,
net of allowance of RMB32,773,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Contd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Contd)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit impaired are assessed for ECL

individually.

In addition, for trade receivables which are individually insignificant or when the
Group does not have reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort to measure ECL on individual basis, collective
assessment is performed by grouping debtors based on the Group's internal credit

ratings.

The Group uses collective assessment to calculate the lifetime ECL for the trade
receivables through groupings of various debtors of same credit rating. Trade
receivables within same internal credit rating have similar loss patterns after
considering of aging, repayment history and past due status of respective trade
receivables. The estimated loss rates are based on the Group's historical default
rates over the expected life of the debtors and taking into consideration forward-
looking information that is reasonable and supportable available without undue
costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are

reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about
the ECL is disclosed in note 33 and the details of the Group's trade receivables is

disclosed in note 20.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Contd)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Contd)

Estimated impairment of Identified Long-lived Assets (as defined below)

Certain long-lived assets are related to the Group's business of sales of the antenna
system and related products, base station RF subsystem and related products and
coverage extension solution and related products, comprising certain property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets (the “Identified Long-
lived Assets”). In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to
exercise judgment and make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an
event has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset value; (2) whether
the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, in
the case of value in use, the net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate
key assumptions to be applied in estimating the value in use including cash flow
projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the assets belongs, including allocation
of corporate assets when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, otherwise recoverable amount is determined at the smallest group of
cash generating units, for which the relevant corporate assets have been allocated.
Changing the assumptions and estimates, including the discount rate or the growth

rate in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the recoverable amounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Contd)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Contd)

Estimated impairment of Identified Long-lived Assets (as defined below) (Cont d)

The recoverable amounts of the Identified Long-lived Assets have been determined
by the management of the Group by value in use calculation on the basis of the
cash-generating unit to which these assets belong. The value in use calculation
uses financial budgets based on past performance and expectation for market
development, where the key input parameters include growth rates and discount
rate. The Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit as it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of each of the Identified Long-
lived Assets individually. Where the expected future cash flows arising from the
relevant cash generating units differ from the original estimation, an impairment loss

may arise. Details of the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in note 4.

As at 31 December 2022, the aggregate carrying amount of Identified Long-lived
Assets was RMB322,533,000 (2021: RMB404,220,000), after taking into account
accumulated impairment losses of RMB 106,072,000 (2021: RMB60,9 16,000).

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the chief executive officer of the Company, being the chief
operating decision maker (“CODM"), for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of goods sold or services

provided.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)

The Group’s reportable and operating segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

Antenna system — manufacturing and sales of antenna system and related products

Base station Radio Frequency (“RF”) subsystem — manufacturing and sales of base

station RF subsystem and related products

Coverage extension solution — manufacturing and sales of a wide array of coverage

products

Performance obligations for contracts with customers

All of the Group's revenue is recognised when goods are delivered or picked up,
being the time when the customers obtain control over the antenna system and
related products, base station RF subsystem and related products and coverage

extension solution.

All the Group's contracts have an original expected duration of one year or less.
As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to the remaining

performance obligation of these contracts is not disclosed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd) 5. WARSHER (&)
Information of segment revenues and segment results EBEIBRARDBEENER
2022 2021
2022 20215
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBETT
Segment revenues 2 EBBA
Antenna system NS 206,999 183,256
Base station RF subsystem EULSTET R4 406,628 360316
Coverage extension solution BELHAR 73,373 117817
687,000 661,389
Timing of revenue recognition LON AT
A point in time PR AR R R 687,000 661,389
Segment results DEEE
Antenna system PN EN (35,372) (95,104)
Base station RF subsystem EUSTRT R4t 18,666 (70,090)
Coverage extension solution BELHAR (7,910) (94)
(24,616) (165,288)
Reconciliation of segment results to loss before tax: DEEEEB A B
Impairment losses under ECL model, net of reversal REEEBBREATHRE
B8 - MkREL (12,480) (4,185)
Other income and expenses, other gains and losses Hp WA RFx - Hfbias
RIEE (46,069) 24,860
Unallocated corporate expenses AOBRERX (134,498) (153,803)
Finance costs BIFSRK AR (4,970) (7,692)
Fair value change on derivative financial instruments TESRIARFEES - (1,454)
Share of results of associates - YNSIE S 551 (476)
Loss before tax BHAIER (222,082) (308,038)
Other segment information HittpMER
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment: ME - BB RREITE
Antenna system KIZZER 14,067 12,649
Base station RF subsystem BULSHEF 24t 6,502 6,381
Coverage extension solution BETHRAR 853 1,172
Segment total DEbAEET 21,422 20202
Unallocated amount AOBLEHE 11,223 1,650
Group total SEEE 32,645 31,852
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd) 5.

Information of segment revenues and segment results (Cont d)

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HR20FENA3IBLEE

WA D EER (&)
BEDBRAR D BEEANER ()

2022 2021
2022 2021 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETTT
Research and development expenses: MERY
Antenna system PN E L 47,826 66,663
Base station RF subsystem B GHET R4t 26,489 39,754
Coverage extension solution BELRAR 11,985 14,762
Group total (note) SEEE () 86,300 121,179
Amortisation of intangible assets: BEESH
Antenna system KIGZER 14,746 7578
Base station RF subsystem BULGHEF 24t 3,061 13,090
Group total SEEE 17,807 20,668
Allowance (reversal of allowance) for inventories FEEE (BR)
Antenna system PN EN 4,240 18,555
Base station RF subsystem EIhGHET R4t (1,061) 44562
Coverage extension solution BERMERR 1,310 6,094
Group total (note) SEEE (PHE) 4,489 69,211
Other segment information Hirpmay
2022 2021
2022 2021 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFRE  ARETR
Impairment losses (reversal of) on Identified BRI RPEENRERR
Long-lived Assets (#m)
Antenna system KIZZER 24,059 46,887
Base station RF subsystem BULSHEF 24t 24,143 7,089
Coverage extension solution BERMERR (3,046) 6,940
Group total (note) SE@E () 45,156 60916

Note:

Amounts included in the measure of segment results.
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For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)
Other segment information (Cont d)
Revenues reported above represent revenues generated from external customers.

There are no inter-segment sales for the years ended 31 December 2022 and

2021.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the Group's
accounting policies described in note 3. The Group does not allocate impairment
losses under ECL model, net of reversal, other income and expenses, other gains
and losses, unallocated corporate expenses, finance costs, fair value change on
derivative financial instruments and share of results of associates to individual
reportable segments when making decisions about resources to be allocated to
the segments and assessing their performance. This is the measure reported to the

CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

No segment information on assets and liabilities is presented as such information
is not reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and

performance assessment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers and information about

products

Revenues from each group of products within the operating segments are as

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HR20FENA3IBLEE

WA D EER (&)
REZEFENNBUARERER DR

REDHANESERARIOBWALIT :

follows:
2022 2021
2022F 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARETT
Segments N
Antenna system KREA
Multi-band/multi-system antennas 2 VLS TN 95,953 45,055
5G antennas 5GKAR 22,467 54213
WCDMA/FDD-LTE single-band/mutti-band antennas WCDMAFDD-LTEE 8,/ % H8R 4R 7,346 24578
Low-band refarming/loT antennas EIBEH B PR 13,537 20,759
Microwave antennas WO K48 29,034 15,696
Multi-Beam antennas LR RKER 21,043 11,473
FDD+TDD antennas FDD+TDDAR#R 13,174 4193
Other antennas RN 4,445 7289
206,999 183,256
Base station RF subsystem HUGTHF R
WCDMAJLTE RF devices WCDMA/LTESTSERR (4 372,289 309,656
TD/TD-LTE RF devices TD/TD-LTEST$BR¢F 6,769 16,712
GSM RF devices GSMETHERR 1 17,513 4309
Low-band refarming/loT RF devices ESEER / WBs AB5T SRR 1 236 2423
5G RF devices 5GBSR 3,788 16,050
Other devices HAhg& 6,033 1,166
406,628 360,316
Coverage extension solution BELMEE
Aesthetic antennas e TN 61,573 99,925
Engineering procurement construction R ERERL 556 3,654
Access point BEAR 136 2452
Small cell Lk 59 5,145
Other products H A m 11,049 6,641
73,373 117817
687,000 661,389
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Contd) 5. WARSTBER &)
Information about major customers FRIEEFNER
Revenues from customers of the corresponding years contributing over 10% of the REREHEFEHRNEBIA BT
total revenue of the Group are as follows: BB 1 0%H) B P E AT -
2022 2021
20226 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARETT

Customer A EYSIN 348,959 255,118
Customer B! %FB 141,888 194,632
Revenue from antenna system and base station RF subsystem. RERE R REILGTIET RFAN o
Geographical information it B &R
Information about the Group's revenue from external customers is presented BEOAREREIBEFPUARNERTS
based on the location where the goods are delivered to: BREXNERHNUEZS :
2022 2021
2022 2021 F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

The PRC # 278,030 355,528
Overseas s
Other countries/regions in Asia MNEMER & 250,453 106,164
Europe B 81,278 140,498
Americas EM 77,234 59,199
Others Hit 5 -
Subtotal AN 408,970 305,861
687,000 661,389
All non-current assets (other than deferred tax assets) of the Group are located in AEEMBEFRBEE (ELHEEE
the PRC. BRON) S9RIRA AR o
206 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HR20FENA3IBLEE

HAWA - EflmsREE

2022 2021
2022 20215
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARSTR  ARETR
Government grants B E
— related to expense items (note a) — BRI B 488 (Fideta) 15,775 16,505
— related to assets (note 26) — EE AR (MEh2e) 2,136 2513
Rental income =G UN 11,702 10,209
Interest income from bank deposits RITIERFELA 9,683 5,127
Other income HA A 39,296 34,354
(Loss) gain on disposals of property, HEWE - BEKREH
plant and equipment (E58) dz (8,847) 17
Exchange gain (loss) BE K Mz (B518) 9,593 (6,032)
Settlement expenses (note b) MEE R (o) (83,255) -
Others HAth (2,856) (3479)
Other gains and losses HAh W R & (85,365) (9,494)
Total fast (46,069) 24,860
Notes: FifsE
() The amounts represent incentives from various PRC government authorities in connection (@) ZEFIRBRF AT EEBITHER 5
with the enterprise expansion support, technology advancement support and product TEER  BRIESREQREMGT
development support during the year, which had no conditions imposed by the respective FE2E) - ZE AP EBTHEAR TH
PRC government authorities. SR P A R o
(b) During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group entered settlement agreements (b) BE00FNANALEFE  AEER

with customers regarding disputes arising from sales transactions occurred in previous
years. The Group agreed settlement payments of an aggregate amount of RMB83,255,000
to discharge all parties from any claims in connection to the disputes. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, an amount of RMB27,990,000 was paid and an amount
of RMB13,280,000 was set off with trade receivables, the remaining balance of
RMB41,985,000 as at 31 December 2022 is included in other payables as set out in Note
22.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BIERAK
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®BTT ARETTT

Interest on bank borrowings RITERFE 4517 7,256
Interest on lease liabilities MEGENS 453 436
4,970 7,692
8. TAXATION
8. BiA
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BT R ARETT
Current Tax: ENEARETE -
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") Bl R PTISHE
([RZMEH) 14 10
Under-provision in prior year BEFERENTE = 982
14 992
Deferred tax expense (note |6) ERERIER X (FTEE16) 7,665 20,671
7,679 21,663
Hong Kong TEEE
The applicable tax rate of the Company and MOBI Technology (Hong Kong) ARRARELBE (BE) BRQA
Limited (“MOBI HK" is 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both years. (TELLEE ) MIEFE R G5 ERTA
ROERRER165%
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been recognised as the Group had no AEENMEF R EETBEEEMN
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for the both years. FERTFE - MU BB EAFEBIED
Bt -
208 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

TAXATION (Contd)

The PRC (excluding Hong Kong)

In September 2014, MOBI Shenzhen was defined by Shenzhen Finance Bureau,
Administrator of Local Taxation of Shenzhen Municipality and Shenzhen Municipal
office of the State Administration of Taxation (the “SZ Authorities”) as a High and
New Technology Enterprise and therefore was entitled to 5% preferential tax
rate from the EIT for three years starting from the year ended 31 December 2014,
according to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law. On 31 October 2017, the SZ
Authorities have further extended the preferential tax rate for another three years
starting from the year ended 31 December 2017. On || December 2020, the SZ
Authorities have further extended the preferential tax rate for another three years
starting from the year ended 31 December 2020. Accordingly, the tax rate for
MOBI Shenzhen is 15% for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

In November 2016, MOBI Telecommunications Technologies (Ji An) Co., Ltd.
("MOBI Jian") was defined by Province Finance Bureau and Administrator of
Local Taxation of Municipality and Municipal office of the State Administration of
Taxation in Jiang Xi (the "Jiang Xi Authorities”), as a High and New Technology
Enterprise and therefore was entitled to 15% preferential tax rate from the EIT for
three years starting from the year ended 31 December 2016, according to the PRC
Enterprise Income Tax Law. On 16 September 2019, the Jiang Xi Authorities have
further extended the preferential tax rate for another three years starting from the
year ended 3| December 2019. On 4 November 2022, the Jiang Xi Authorities
have further extended the preferential tax rate for another three years starting
from the year ended 3| December 2022. Accordingly, the tax rate of MOBI Jian is
15% for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

In December 2019, MOBI Technology (Shenzhen) Co,, Ltd. (“MOBI Technology™)
was defined by the SZ Authorities as a High and New Technology Enterprise and
therefore was entitled to 5% preferential tax rate from the EIT for three years
starting from the year ended 31 December 2019, according to the PRC Enterprise
Income Tax Law. On 14 December 2022, the SZ Authorities have further
extended the preferential tax rate for another three years starting from the year
ended 31 December 2022. Accordingly, the tax rate of MOBI Technology is 15%
for the year ended 3| December 2022 and 2021.

The applicable tax rate of other PRC subsidiaries is 25% for the year ended 3|
December 2022 (2021: 25%).

ELERERLA
20224

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HR20FENA3IBLEE
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12431 BIEFEREER=F - 72020F
AR REREE—FBEENE
REZ2020F 12 A3 HIEFERBIER=
F o FIE - EELFRYIFNEL R 20226 22021
FRA3IBILEFENTEEI5% -

R016F 1A - BHBAEN(FR) B
BRAF ([ E %)) BITrE WEEE -
TREARER R IAEERRER
(MIAER)) RERAFRMESE - B
SRR B EMETAHREZ2016
FNA3 BIEFER=FIS%HEER
RN EPTEH - R20I19F9H 168 -
IREREE—SPHEENEHER
019FNA3IBLEFERBLER=F -
R202% 11 A48 TAREBE—F
BEMEAEZ200F 12831 BILEE
REER=F - Bt - BLELREZE
002F R20IF12A3IBIEFERRE
H515%

R2019F 127 - BERE CFI) BB
RAN(TELEE ] BRIERREA
IR - B AREPE A
BEERBEE2019F12A3BILEE
FR=FAIS%M BB MNP ERS
Bo M0NENAI4B  FIERCHE
—HEEREREE2002F12A31H
HFERBER=F - At - ELEH
REZE2022FM2021F12A3IBIEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

8.  TAXATION (Contd) 8. BEE)
The PRC (excluding Hong Kong) (Cont @) FEARRE (FEEESR) (B)
Taxation for the year can be reconciled to loss before tax per the consolidated FAFER AGAEEREMEERE
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows: HREHBRFAIEELENT
2022 2021
20225 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETTT

Loss before tax HRIEE (222,082) (308,038)

Tax at FIT at 15% (2021: 15%) (note a) REEMEHHE 5% (2021 -

15%) 5t B R HE (Fifeta) (33,312 (46,206)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose TEFERERAZ OB E 1,740 921

Tax effect of share of results of associates FEEBE AR RENN BT R (83) 71

Tax effect of additional deduction on research and BIMNR R R BB 8

development costs (note b) (PFF7ED) (11,804) (16,865)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERUBERNRETE 36,643 45932
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences not ARFER AT E B 2 2R A

recognised RETE 16,070 38,460
Under-provision in prior year PBEFEREEIR = 982
Effect of different tax rates of group entities SEERNTRABENTE (1,575) (1,632)

7,679 21,663

Notes: BisE

(a)  Applicable income tax rate of 15% represents the relevant income tax rate of MOB @ IS%MERMRERNEERARREETF
Shenzhen, MOBI Jian and MOBI Technology, the major subsidiaries of the Company. NEIELRY - B ER KBRS

HEMEHEE -

(b)  Pursuant to the relevant tax rules and regulations in the PRC, additional 100% (2021 b) BEFEEBHRERIRER 281K
100%) of the qualified research and development costs are entitled to claim as PRC BB AR B9 FE SN 100% (2021 5 < 100%)
income tax credits. Such PRC income tax credits are accounted for deduction from AIERBEPREMGEHER - ZZREME
enterprise income tax expenses when relevant conditions are fulfilled. B RN ER R RS ARSI %

Frg BB o
21 0 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting) the following items:

EEEFR

BENENAIAILEE

FEEBEDR GIA) ATER ¢

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTE  ARETR
Directors’ remuneration (note 10) R SR 1,292 1,951
Other staff costs HiB THA 188,507 220011
Retirement benefits scheme contributions for other staff  Efth B TR K@ FTEIE 21,279 23,725
211,078 245,687
Less: amount capitalised as cost of inventories W FEEEKANERNME 2 F
manufactured (74,582) (83518)
136,496 162,169
Auditors’ remuneration ZERH
— audit services — BZIRS 2,204 1971
Lease payment on short-term leases in respect of Y% 2 R EHERNEERT
premises 3,194 1,763
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BERRETE 32,645 31,852
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 5,895 7,067
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESE 17,807 20,668
56,347 59,587
Less: amount capitalised as cost of inventories B FEBBER AN BN &
manufactured (19,403) (18,271)
36,944 41,316
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses R AR X BFERAR 580,160 644,582
Werite-down on inventories (included in cost of sales) FEMR Gt AHEKA) 4,489 69211
Impairment losses under ECL model, net of reversal FEHEEBREATH
REEE - AR 12,480 4,185
Impairment losses on Identified Long-lived Assets BERAIRMEENREEE 45,156 60916

ELERERLA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS 10. EERFETHRAEMS
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments EENTETHAEME
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors and chief executive by BEEAN EmHEA N ARG TR
the Group in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and B AEBMEEANRENEREH
the Group, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the Companies EREMNZRES R TETHAE BN
Ordinance are as follows: EaUNNE
2022
WNE
Other
Retirement emoluments
benefits (mainly basic
scheme salaries and
Fees  contributions Bonus allowances) Total
HittM &
RIKER (FERR
ne HE 5 e EFRER) #st

RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT AR®TR ARE®TRT ARETR ARBT:R

Executive director HITES

Hu Xiang (note a) A (fifsta) 89 = = 695 784
Non-executive director FHITES

Qu Degjan [EEe, 86 - - - 86

Independent non-executive directors BYFHTES

Li Tianshu PN 160 - - - 160
Zhang Han G 138 - - - 138
Ge Xiaojing EEE 124 - - - 124
597 - - 695 1,292
21 2 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HR20FENA3IBLEE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS (Contd) 10. EERFETHAEMNE &)
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Cont d) ESRTETHAEBMS (Z)
2021
20215
Other
Retirement emoluments
benefits (mainly basic
scheme salaries and
Fees  contributions Bonus allowances) Total
Hiofe
RIRAER (F2RRE
#e TR % EHFLEH) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL  ARBT ARETR ARBTR ARETR
Executive directors HITES
Hu Xiang (note ) A9 (Fifata) 82 - - 667 749
Liao Dong (note b) BR (Mizb) 56 14 - 654 724
Non-executive director kHTES
Qu Degian [EE% 83 - - - 83
Independent non-executive directors BYFHTES
Li Tianshu FREF 147 - - - 147
Zhang Han SRR 133 - - - 133
Ge Xiaojing BEE 115 - - - 115
616 14 - 1321 1951

ELERERLA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

10.

DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS (Cont d)
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Cont'd)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as
directors of the Company and the Group and their services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the Company and the Group. The non-executive
director’s emoluments shown above was for his service as director of the Company
or its subsidiaries. The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown

above were for their services as directors of the Company.

Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus payments which

are determined based on the performance of the Group.

Notes:

(a) Mr. Hu Xiang (“Mr. Hu") is also the chief executive officer of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by him as the chief

executive officer.

The retirement benefit scheme contribution of Mr. Hu is paid by Shenzhen Zhongxing
Weixiantong Shebei Co., Ltd. TR ELE T BRAEFR AT ("SZWS") as Mr.
Hu is also a director of SZWS. SZWS s controlled by a group of common controlling

shareholders of the Company.

(b) On 5 November 2021, the board of directors approved the resignation of Mr. Liao Dong

from executive director and chief operating officer of the Company.

During the years ended 3| December 2022 and 2021, no emoluments were paid
by the Group to the directors or the chief executive as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the directors
or the chief executive has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the
years ended 3| December 2022 and 2021,

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2022

10. EERFETRAEME (&)

ESRIRTHRAEME (2)

N EFBMTESR e RN R EE
ERRRRAEBEE R EEALA]
BASE SRR RS A LPEL
FRITEEZME DR BIERALTR
FEFRREFRE 2R A LIS
B FMTES S DR KREER
ARBEFRE R

IF

ARAETHTEEREREAEE
REABEERTEAL °

Bt

@  HEARE (AL TAARRITHA
o A LPIREHS B REAERTRA
HEHEREOME

Al EgTRREERAR (DR
#SiE ) EREBAE X RKETE S
R TERBEET AR &L RE
= R A FBAAD RN —ARFEE
PRACR PRl

(b) H2021F11ASH  BERGQHEBRRL
EBHEADAIRITES RIITHEE -

BE202F K202 F12A31BILE
B AEEVERAEERFETHAS
TR ERBBEMBLNMEAR
SEERNRE  SERAERHE - -E8Z
2002F K202 F 12831 BILEE -
BENESHTETRABHEXRE
HMEMWEE RS



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES M.

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included one director (2021: two
directors) for the year ended 31 December 2022, details of whose emoluments
are set out above. The emoluments of the remaining four (2021: three) highest

paid individuals are as follows:

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HR20FENA3IBLEE

ENRSHFHES
BZ20NFNANBILLFE  A&E
hEGETMATEE-—REE (2021
F MEER)  REOMSFEIERN
b3 EBUE QO2IF  =8) 5B
FHATHBSEHIIT -

2022 2021
20226 20214
RMB’000 RMB000

AR®BTR ARETT

Salaries and other benefits e MEMET 2,665 [,722
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme RIKEFFTEIER 68 48
2,733 1,770

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

BENMS N RATEE

2022 2021

20226 20215

No. of No. of

employees employees

BEAY EEAZ

Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$") nil to HK$ 1,000,000 ZZ1,000,000/& 7T ([FET]) 4 3
DIVIDENDS 2. BRE

No dividends were recognised as distribution for both years.

No final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 was recommended by
the directors.

ELERERLA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

3. LOSS PER SHARE 13.

The loss for calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable to the

ordinary owners of the Company are based on the following data:

BRER

RS EAA TR ABIEER
B R IRNRTE YRS TR0
e

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB000

ARBTT ARETTT

Loss for the year attributable to owners ARRAEE ARIGFENEER
of the Company and loss for purpose of basic RETESRERK

and diluted loss per share HEEENER (229,761) (329,701)

2022 2021

20225 2021 F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BT R ARETT

Number of shares KRGEE

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the RETEBRERREEEEN

purpose of basic and diluted loss per share TR TS5 8

818,214 818,283

The computation of diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2022
and 2021 did not assume the exercise of the Company's share options as the

exercise price of these options was higher than the average market price for shares
for both 2022 and 2021.

21 6 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HR20FENA3IBLEE

4. Y% - BERRKE

Furniture,
fixtures and Leasehold Motor Plantand  Construction in
Buildings equipment  improvements vehicles  machinery progress Total
B %8 e KR
i =2 ET] VET] RE R#zE HRIR @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB000  RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARBTRT ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR AR®TRT AR%TR
COsT S
At | January 2021 R0 IFIAIH 306,766 36476 13,107 6454 263218 34489 660510
Additions AE 150 1,728 6l 45) 9,142 11,004 23087
Transfer B3 710 830 - - 6,803 (8343) -
Disposals e (729) (2209) - (575) (3,649) - (7,182)
At 31 December 2021 R0 128318 306897 36,805 13718 6,331 275514 37,150 676415
Additions AE 140 8,186 1,596 3% 7603 7351 24912
Transfer B3 - - - - 499 (4999) -
Disposals k=3 (1653) @ (139) (106 (7227 (7026) (44,362)
At 31 December 2022 R0NEI12A318 305,384 37,880 15,175 5,141 260889 3476 656,945
DEPRECIATION RERAE
AND IMPAIRMENT
At | January 2021 R0I%FIRIH 80325 0703 7122 5058 166,046 - 281,254
Provided for the year FrkiE 9733 2,705 1,064 467 17883 - 31852
Impairment loss recognised ~ FMERBERZ
in profit or loss HEEE - 5271 1,729 472 35,19 - 42,668
Eliminated on disposals HEEH (705) (1204) - (281) (2676) - (4.866)
At 31 December 2021 R021%E12R318 89,353 29475 9915 5716 216449 - 350908
Provided for the year ERfE 8315 2545 2873 408 18504 - 30,645
Impaiment loss recognised N
in profit or loss HEER - 706 2302 4 7726 4357 21635
Eliminated on disposals HEHK A (1204) (2857) (94) (1027) (23590) - (28772)
At 31 December 2022 R00%12A318 96,464 36,369 14996 5,141 219,089 4357 376416
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2022 R0 12R318 208920 1511 179 0 41800 28119 280529
At 31 December 2021 R0 128318 217544 7330 3803 615 59,065 37,150 325507

ELERERLA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

14.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Contd)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property, plant and
equipment other than construction in progress over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account of their estimated residual value, using straight-line

method, at the following rates per annum:

Buildings Over the shorter of the term of lease
or 30 years

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 19% —31.7%

Leasehold improvements 3% —33.3%

Motor vehicles 9.5% — 19%

Plant and machinery 9% — 33.3%

The Group's buildings are situated in the PRC under medium-term land use rights.

The Group was in process of obtaining certain relevant property ownership
certificates for buildings with carrying amount of approximately RMB5,834,000
(2021: RMB6,089,000) in property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2022.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the relevant property ownership

certificate can be obtained in due time without incurring significant costs.

Due to keen competition in industry of mobile network construction in the PRC
and global market and slower-than-expected progress of 5G network construction
in the PRC during the year ended 3| December 2022, the Group experienced
negative impacts on business performance and suffered losses. The management
of the Group has identified certain long-lived assets (“Identified Long-lived Assets™)
have an indication of impairment loss. For the purpose of impairment assessment,
the management of the Group estimated the recoverable amount of the Identified
Long-lived Assets was RMB322,533,000 (202 1: RMB404,220,000), including
certain property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets of
RMB280,529,000, RMB24,087,000 and RMB17,917,000 (2021: RMB325,507,000,
RMB31,625,000 and RMB47,088,000), respectively, as disclosed in this note and
notes |5 and 17.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Contd)

The estimation of recoverable amounts was based on the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which the Identified Long-lived Assets belong. The value in
use calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
the management covering the following five-year period with a pre-tax discount
rate at 18.69% (2021: 14.24%). The value in use calculations were determined
by an independent qualified professional valuer appointed by the management of
the Group. The forecasted growth rate is based on the Group's budget, future
business development plan and the forecast of the industry growth. Other key
assumptions for the value in use calculations included budgeted sales and profit
margins and their related cash inflows and outflows patterns, estimated based on
the cash-generating units historical performance and management's expectation
of the market development. The cash flow projection beyond the five-year period
is extrapolated using a steady 2.2% (2021: 2.0%) growth rate. This growth rate is

based on the expected inflation rate.

The recoverable amount of building and leasehold lands are estimated individually.
Based on the result of the assessment, management of the Group determined
that the recoverable amounts of certain cash-generating units are lower than the
corresponding carrying amounts. The impairment amount has been allocated to
each category of the Identified Long-lived Assets such that the carrying amount of
each category of asset is not reduced below the highest of its value in use, fair value

less cost of disposal and zero.

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
20224 R

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HR20FENA3IBLEE

ME - BERZE (&)

Al ESENETRERDBIRBE
EFfBNReELEUNERER - Z
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

14.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Contd)

Based on the result of the assessment, the management of the Group determined
that an impairment losses of RMB45,156,000 for the year ended 31 December
2022 (2021: RMB60,916,000) have been recognised against the carrying amounts
of Identified Long-lived Assets, including impairment losses allocated to certain
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets of
RMB21,635,000 (2021: RMB42,668,000), RMB17,845,000 (2021: RMB18,248,000)
and RMB5,676,000 (202 1: nil), as disclosed in this note, note |7 and 15 respectively.

Reasonably possible change in pre-tax discount rate or budgeted sales covering
five-year period, while other parameters remain constant, the effect on the

impairment losses is not material to the consolidated financial statements.

The carrying amount of the building and leasehold lands has not been reduced
since the amounts of fair value less costs of disposal of the building and leasehold

lands are higher than their carrying amounts.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated F

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Contd) 4.
The Group as lessor

The Group leases out certain floors of Group's owned buildings under operating

leases. The leases typically run for a fixed period of | to 10 years. The Group is not

exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases

are denominated in the respective functional currencies of group entities. The

lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to

purchase the property at the end of lease term.

The portions of the Group's owned buildings under operating leases could not
be sold separately or leased out separately under a finance lease and the portions
of the Group's owned buildings which are held for use in the Group's production
of goods or for administrative purposes are not insignificant. Such of the Group's

owned buildings are included in the Group's property, plant and equipment.

inancial Statements
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RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS I5. EREEE
Leasehold lands Leased premises Total
HELH HEMF st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®TR ARBTR
As at 3| December 2022 R2022% 128318
Carrying amount BRmEfE 24,087 - 24,087
As at 31 December 2021 R2021F 128318
Carrying amount REE 24,755 6,870 31,625
For the year ended 31 December 2022  BZ2002F 12831 HLEFE
Depreciation charge nEE 668 5227 5895
Impairment loss recognised in profit or ~ PANE&R ERAHERBE
loss - 5676 5676
For the year ended 31 December 2021 ~ BZ2021 F 12831 ALFE
Depreciation charge nEE 668 6,399 7067
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RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Contd)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

I5. EREEE#)

2022 2021

2022 20215

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARMF T ARBTT

Expense relating to short-term leases B HIHE AR 3,194 1,763
Total cash outflow for leases MERS ML EE 8,888 7,939
Additions to right-of-use assets EREEERE 4,033 4,631

For both years, the Group leases leasehold lands and premises for its operations.
Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of | year to 50 years. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines

the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office premises and staff
quarters. As at 31 December 2022, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to
the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term lease expenses disclosed

above.

In addition, lease liabilities of RMB5,850,000 are recognised with related right-of-
use assets of nil, net of impairment loss of RMB5,676,000 as at 31 December 2022
(2021 lease liabilities of RMB7,063,000 are recognised with related right-of-use
assets of RMB6,870,000, net of impairment loss of nil). The lease agreements do
not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing

purposes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HR20FENA3IBLEE

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 6. EEMRBEE
Excess of Unrealised
accounting profit of
Allowance  depreciation  Allowance inter-

for overtax for credit company Share-based

inventories  depreciation |osses sales  Tax losses payment Others Total

EiiE NAEHE

BHHE FE WARER HRBR

FERfH FENEE BRER NB HEER ERNAR Rt st
RMBO00  RMBO0O  RMB0OO  RMBOOO  RMBO0O  RMB000  RMBOOO  RMBI0O
ARBTR ARETR ARMTR ARRTR ARMTn ARMTR ARRTR ARMT:R

At | January 2021 R0IEIRIR 9215 757 1,458 3835 47491 4276 3330 71,362
Charge toprofitorloss ~ 7EB BRIk
Effect of change of EREEE

temporary difference  K)E/2 (3124) - - (3254) (14300) - 7 (20671)
At3I December 2021 H021 12831 H 6,091 [,757 1,458 581 33,191 4276 3337 50,691
Charge toprofitorloss ~ 7E BRI
Effect of change of T by

temporary difference  KIRE - - - (182) (6143) (1132) (208) (7665)
At3| December 2022 7024124318 6,091 [,757 1,458 399 27,048 3,144 3,129 43026

ELERERLA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

6.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (Contd)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of
RMB711,137,000 (2021: RMB620,077,000) available for offset against future profits.
A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of RMBI163,415,000 (2021:
RMB182,000,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the remaining RMB547,722,000 (2021: RMB438,077,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unused tax losses is tax loss of
RMB693,639,000 (2021: RMB607,765,000) which will expire in the following years

ending 31 December and other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

l6. ELEBIREE (&)

REBEBRKR AEBRSAHRBESE
AR®711,137,0007C (2021 F « ARE
620,077,0007T) A] AR PA K 85 R SR FIJf o
PR AR 1634150007 (20214 = A
R 182,000,000 ) MBS EHERIELERE
HEE - ARAKREBA R EA
- FMWEBEER T ARE547,722,000
70 (0215 AR#438,077,0007T) #ER
ERERIBEE - REOAVBEBREES
RUTEHZ R A3 BLEEEEROTS
BB AR 693,639,0007T (20214 = A
FE#607,765,0007T) & E Al 518 AT SR

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR AREFTT

Unused tax losses with expiry in: R TEES B REAHBESE -
—-2022 —2022%F - 26,734
-2023 —20234F 14,704 14,704
~2024 —2024%F 5,930 5930
—2025 —20254F 5219 5215
- 2026 —2026%F 23,693 31453
- 2027 —2027%F 64,550 54,183
~2028 —2028%F 21,020 21,020
~2029 —2029%F 26,007 26,007
-2030 —2030%F 95,801 99,372
~ 2031 —2031 4 209,466 323,147
-2032 —2032%F 227,249 -
693,639 607,765

Under the relevant laws of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits eamed by the PRC subsidiaries from | January 2008
onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of temporary differences attributable to accumulated profits
of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to RMB61,252,000 (202 1: RMB250,956,000) as
the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable

future.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2022

REPBEMEBEE - H2008F 1 A1 H
- BHREFARRRANFEETROK
SABMBIG - FAEPBHRERALRK
BHEFAREERAFBERESE
AR#61,252,00070 (2021 F : AR
250,956,0007T) FTHRIELERIE - HAR
SEAEHIREESEENRRE B
REEBEAR M BER A R OR I o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HR20FENA3IBLEE

BVEE

Development costs

BREEA
RMB’000
ARETT

COST %N
At | January 2021 0211 A1 H 147229
Additions NE 19,692
At 31 December 202 | 202112 A31H 166,921
Additions NE 6,481
At 31 December 2022 7202% 12 A31H 173,402
AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT B REE
At | January 2021 B2021E 1 A1 H 80917
Charge for the year FAHBR 20,668
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss (note 14) PiEmER < REEE (M 14) 18,248
At 31 December 202 | MR2021 12431 H 119,833
Charge for the year FAMNGK 17,807
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss (note 14) RIEBRER 2 REEE (M5 14) 17,845
At 31 December 2022 7202% 12 A31H 155,485
CARRYING VALUES IREE
At 31 December 2022 M2022F 12 A31H 17917
At 31 December 2021 »2021F12A31H 47,088

Development costs on antenna system and base station RF subsystem are internally

generated and amortised on a straight-line basis over 3 years when they are

ready for use. Included in the cost of the Group's intangible assets, approximately

RMBI3.4 million (2021: RMB35.5 million) were relating to development of systems

not ready for the intended use and, accordingly, no amortisation was made.

At 31 December 2022, the Group conducted an impairment assessment of those

Group's intangible assets and set forth in note 14.

None of the intangible assets were pledged as at 3|1 December 2022. Certain

intangible assets were pledged to independent financial institution to secure other

borrowing of the Group as at 31 December 2021.

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

[8. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

18. RE&E QT zER

2022 2021
20224 2021 £
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®BTR ARETT

Cost of interests in associates N NI £ A N 6,430 6,430

Share of post-acquisition losses and other comprehensive  FE{UZBE /& B 18 R 2 H
income, net of dividends received Yigs - EHIBREWAR S (1,830) (2,381)
4,600 4,049

Details of the Group's associates at the end of the reporting period are as follow:

AN Al IR AR E R 2 R R A

¥
Principal Proportion of ownership
Country of  place of interest held by the Proportion of voting
Name of entity registration  business Group rights held by the Group Principal activity
E: AEERFEH AEEFEN
EREEE AMER  ERHH EEARRLH REEZLLA TREREE
2022 2021 2022 2021
0226 2021 2002%F 2001
Shenzhen Borynet Co,, Ltd, PRC PRC 15.1% 15.1% 15.1% 15.1%  Software technology
("Borynet”) (note i) development
AYTEEERHMBEERRRE & i BRI R %
(TE& 1) (FaE)
Wuxi Gaoyusheng New Material PRC PRC 40% 40% 40% 40%  Matenial development

Technology Co,, Ltd,
("Gaoyusheng”) (note if)

EHT BT RIMER RE R E
BRRA((RFR]) (M)

ZRElEES

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Cont'd)
Notes:

(i) The entity is accounted for as an associate as at year end date as the Group has directors

in the board of the entity and is able to exercise significant influence in the entity.

(if) In October 2019, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and an independent third
party agreed to contribute 40% and 60% equity interest of Gaoyusheng, respectively. The
Group has contributed cash investment amounting RMB4,000,000 to Gaoyusheng. In April
2020, the Group has contributed additional cash investment amounting RMB930,000 to
Gaoyusheng. The Group is able to exercise significant influence in Gaoyusheng as the
Group has the power to appoint one out of three directors of Gaoyusheng and the Group

recognised Gaoyusheng as an associate.

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's material associate,
Gaoyusheng is set out below. The summarised financial information below
represents amounts shown in the associate's financial statements prepared in

accordance with HKFRSs.

Gaoyusheng is accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HR20FENA3IBLEE

REtE QT2 (&)

Bt

() HRZEREFSARELKENES
BAKEAHZERTEEAZES -
ZERNFEAEERBARIMEBZER
e

iy  H2019F10A  KRRREFRAEIR—
HZBUE=FREDHIKESFR40%
R60%E - AEBREFRRAR
SHEARMEA000,0007T ° R202054
R AEERSFEERARSREA
R#9300007C © AEE ML HFRIT
FEAFEN  RAAFEBARZE
BFRZGEFFHP—F - BAEH
ﬁ@ %?%ﬁﬁkaﬁa °

3
?El

BRAKELIERE NS TFRONE
BRBEHIINTX - DAT%‘“QME%
ZEREBRAWHHRE AR 2
DRIPBEREAROEE

BT RABEREG B RERAR

statements.

2022 2021
20225 2021 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARET T
Current assets MENEEE 21,039 22263
Non-current assets FERBEE 8,983 10,788
Current liabilities mEaE 19,473 23,506

Profit (loss) and other comprehensive income (expense)  FE Uz (B518) &
for the year Higz2EMA () 1,004 (1,148)

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Contd) 18. MEtE QT 2R (&)
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented above to the P BERBEENE TR CER Y
carrying amount of the interest in Gaoyusheng was set out below: REEHERNT

2022 2021
2022 2021 FF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTR ARETT

Net assets of Gaoyusheng BFRLEEFH 10,549 9,545
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in AEERAERTR BRI
Gaoyusheng 40% 40%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in Gaoyusheng ~ ASREREFRER Z KEE 4,220 3818
Aggregate information of Borynet that is not individually material ERFEABEEREH
2022 2021
20224 2021 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMEF T ARBTT
The Group's share of result from continuing operations ~ AEBE(GIFBLE £/ 2 %18 149 (17)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's interest AEENEE 2 EH 2 REE
in Borynet Pk 380 231
228 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HR20FENA3IBLEE

19. INVENTORIES 9. &

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB000

AR¥ETR AREF T

Raw materials [ 50,897 54,021
Work-in-progress & 14,640 19,473
Finished goods S 115,299 139,619
180,836 213,113

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. EZRHAMEWERR

2022 2021

20224 20215

RMB'000 RMB000

ARE TR ARETIT

Trade receivables — contracts with customers BHRKER —BEAY 329,739 323523
Less: allowance for credit losses W EEERRE (27,158) (14,678)
302,581 308,845

Notes and bills receivables e E & 84,578 138,456
Rental and utility deposits M kFiEze 926 1219
Advance to suppliers [r] (B 7 #A 30 38,310 49,858
Value added tax receivables FEU (BT 37,600 20,765
Other receivables and deposits HAh AR Rz 18,04 31,696
482,036 550,839

R2021 1A REEPEHH
EHRBERNERE (NREES
BEEAR10,493,0007T) AARE
356,422,007 °

As at | January 2021, the carrying amount of trade receivables from contracts
with customers amounted to RMB356,422,000, net of allowance for credit losses
amounted to RMB10,493,000.

ELERERLA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

20.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Contd)

The Group offers credit terms generally accepted in the antenna system, base
station RF subsystem and coverage extension solution manufacturing industry to its
trade customers, which range from 30 to 240 days (2021: 30 to 240 days) from the
invoice dates. For the Group's major customers which are network operators and
domestic and overseas wireless network solution providers with good reputation
and repayment records, a longer credit term may be granted to them, depending
on price, the size of the contract, credibility and reputation of them. In order to
manage the credit risks associated with trade receivables effectively, credit limits
of customers are evaluated periodically. Before accepting any new customer,
the Group conducts research on the creditworthiness of the new customer and

assesses the potential customer's credit quality.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables net of allowance for credit

losses presented based on the invoice dates:

20.

B RHEMEWERR (&)
ARENESEPRERERS B
AT RARBER A REETEY
BEINEES FEHEERAH
FEETT30%2240H (2021 F : 302240
B) BRE®ELH RBERIMNERHE
BERAARUEHEAERTBRERE
HEENAEETEZF AR T
BRRHEER  BTER  SRREK
BHTFPOEREREBEME - REX
EEHE S RIETEENEERR
ARREHHEFPNEERBELETT
i o REBER/ERHETLA - 8RS
ZENEPHERLHLTIHEEREP
HEEEX -

AT AREZBHHANE HRUER
(MR EEBRRE) BRE D -

2022 2021
2022 20214

RMB'000 RMB'000

AR¥TR ARBTT

0to 30 days 0%30H 83,251 123,924
31 to 60 days 315E60H 44,346 54,065
61 to 90 days 61 £90H 42910 38,631
91 to 120 days 91ZE 1208 18,270 15,033
121 to 180 days 121F180H 33,096 17,589
Over 180 days 818180 H 80,708 59,603
302,581 308,845

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Contd)

At 31 December 2021, included in the Group's trade receivables balance are
debtors with aggregate carrying amount of approximately RMB 101,634,000 (2021:
RMB82,036,000) which are past due at the end of the reporting period. Out of the
past due balances, RMB67,946,000 (2021: RMB63,656,000) has been past due over
90 days and is not considered as in default because the trade receivables are of
good credit quality and repayment records history. The Group does not hold any

collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables for the year ended

31 December 2022 and 2021 are set out in note 33.

The following is an aged analysis of notes and bills receivables presented based on

the notes and bills issue dates:

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HR20FENA3IBLEE

20. EZREMBUIRT (#)

R2021F12A318  RBEHKE
BHCEREREEEGROAR
#101,634,0007T (2021 F - AR
82,036,0007C) it AKX KB 2 B 5 IR
AR o BHEIEER AR 67,946,0007C
(20214 + AR¥63,656,0007T) B #1H
iR - ARWRARL  REARE
FRBEREEERRBTERZHR
i - AEEHEBEEABNZEEA
EHE AR

HZE002FER2021F12A3IAILEE
WE 5 N H M EWER TR E T R FE S
EPAMIEE33 ©

UTREZERTHYFNERREN
FREe DT -

2022 2021
202246 20214
RMB’000 RMB000

AR®BTR ARETT

0 to 30 days 0&30H 11,724 19,149
31 to 60 days 31E60H 9,630 18,238
61 to 90 days 61 £90H 11,155 36,443
91 to 120 days 91Z120H 16,254 27,052
Over 120 days 8381208 35815 37574

84,578 138,456

All notes and bills received by the Group are with a maturity period of less than

one year.

ELERERLA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Contd) 20.

Analysis of trade and other receivables denominated in currencies other than the

functional currencies of the relevant group entities is set out below:

B2 REMEBRERR (&)
NEBSEERNNEERUIMNER
AHMEME S R EMEKERRA T T :

At 31 December

RI12A31R
2022 2021
20028 2021 F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FR ARETT

United States Dollar (“USD") E(E) 160,276 43052
Furo (“EUR") ot ([BT]) 4710 73,136
164,986 116,188

21.  PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21, BERBITER REREE

Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits and short-term deposits for
the purpose of meeting the Group's short term cash commitments, which carry
interest at market rates range from 0.001% to 0.35% per annum (2021: 0.001% to
0.35% per annum).

The Group's pledged bank deposits represent bank deposits with original maturity
within 12 months and carry fixed interest rate from 0.30% to 3.85% (2021: 0.30%
to 3.85%) per annum. They are mainly pledged to banks to secure bills payables,

certain of the bank borrowings and letter of credits of the Group.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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21.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(Cont'd)

Certain of the Group's cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank deposits
with an aggregate amount of RMB155,185,000 (2021: RMB145,770,000) were
denominated in RMB which is not a freely convertible currency in the intemational
market. The government of the PRC has implemented foreign exchange control
and the remittance of these funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions

imposed by the government of the PRC.

Analysis of pledged bank deposits together with cash and cash equivalents
denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of the relevant

group entities is set out below:

21.

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HR20FENA3IBLEE

CEFBRTER BekRE
ZEM (&)
AREETRERFELCSEURER
HIRITER - &R AR 155,1850007T
(20215 : AR¥145,7700007T) AAR
BEHE - MAREIFEER IS EH
RBEE - AEBNETINEEH - &
B EHPERIIMEFE T BB RE
SRR o

BURR B BRI S E M 2
EMEEREATR  BRBLRAS
ZENHATRSIDT

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB000

ARBTT ARETTT

UsD EY 102,193 166,262
EUR BT 1,514 2,808
HK$ BT 5,143 7810
Indonesian Rupiah & 31 63

108,881 176943

ELERERLA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

22.  TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22. EZRHMENERR
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETTT

Trade payables B HREMNER 403,729 424,303
Notes and bills payable FANES 178,701 102,888
Payroll payable ERNTIE 20,276 27,161
Payable for purchase of property, plant and equipment ~ BEEY - BE R EBOERN RN 16,315 12,268
Value added taxes payable FERTIE(ER 4,305 8,853
Accrued expenses HRER 10,413 9,627
Interest payable JERIFI8 - 350
Settlement payables FEfTFAR & 41,985 -
Others Hit 14,850 13827
690,574 599277

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice BREZBEGNE ZHENRRN KRR D

dates: i N

2022 2021
2022 2021 F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETTT

0 to 30 days 0230H 69,999 97,666
31 to 60 days 3IE260H 53,456 80,369
61 to 90 days 61 290H 38,855 57,235
91 to 180 days 91E180H 88,539 63,766
Over 180 days #8:8180H 152,880 125267
403,729 424,303
Typical credit term of trade payables ranges from 60 to 120 days from the invoice BHRNERNEEN —REETE %
dates. FRHEET0HZE20R o
234 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Cont'd)

The following is an aged analysis of notes and bills payable presented based on the

notes and bills issue dates:

22.

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HR20FENA3IBLEE

EZREMENRR (Z)

BEEBEETARNENZENRR S
T

2022 2021
20226 20214
RMB’000 RMB000

AR®BTR ARETT

0 to 30 days 0&30H 3,187 24941
31 to 60 days 31E60H 56,722 2,927
61 to 90 days 61 £90H 1,340 23,500
Over 90 days #8:890H 117,452 51,520

178,701 102,888

Typical credit term of notes and bills payables ranges from 90 to 180 days.

The Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all

payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

Analysis of trade and other payables denominated in currencies other than the

functional currencies of the relevant group entities is set out below:

ENEENEEH-REERIOBE
180H °

ALEEFEMHERERBER - AR
RABRNRSEEEHNAEE -

NEBREEBENNEEEIAINE
AHMEME S M EMEMNRRATOT -

At 31 December

RWI12A31R
2022 2021
20026 20214
RMB’000 RMB000

ARBTR ARETT

UsD £t 489 7832
HK$ BT 311 417
800 8249

ELERERLA
20224
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

23. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

BHRE

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB000

ARBTT ARETTT

Receipt in advance from contracts with customers BB P &KFIE

6,102 13,347

As at | January 2021, contract liabilities accounted to RMB7,272,000.

Contract liabilities are to be settled within the Group's normal operating cycle and

are classified as current liabilities.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, revenue amounting to RMBI 3,347,000
(2021: RMB7,272,000) was recognised in the current year which relates to carried-

forward contract liabilities.

For revenue recognised upon sales of antenna system and related products, base
station RF subsystem and related products and coverage extension solution, the
Group receives certain of the contract value as advance payments from customers
according to the contracts terms. The advance payments give rise to contract
liabilities at the commencement of a contract until the customer obtains control of

the respective goods.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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P02 F I AIENEHNEEAARE
7.272,0007T °

HZE200FNA3BILEE AAFE
E R AU AR 13,347,0007T (2021
F o AR¥ET727200070) BEEAHE
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24.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o)

MR RMEE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HR20FENA3IBLEE

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 24. RITREMER
2022 2021
2022 2021 F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
(P EE) AR®BT R ARETT
Bank borrowings: RITE
— Unsecured fixed rate borrowings (Note) — EERE S ER (M) 38,560 72,277
Other borrowing: HARE
— Secured fixed rate borrowings — BEHESEBT = 65,000
The amount is repayable within one year GREER—FZNER 38,560 137277
Note: BfsE

The unsecured fixed rate borrowings carry interest at the rate ranged from 3.5% to 4.35% (2021:

2.4% to 4.8%) per annum.

EEBTESERNFAERAISEE435E
(20214 1 24[EZ48E) -

The Group's bank borrowings that are denominated in currencies other than the AEBNEHAEEERHOGEEE U
functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out below: HEBTHENRITERAT
2022 2021
20226 20215
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETTT
usD e - 19,127

ELERERLA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

25.

26.

LEASE LIABILITIES 25. HEAE
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFT
Lease liabilities payable: EAEERE:
Within one year —FR 3,630 4,402
Within a period of more than one year but not more AE—FA LB BBMRF
than two years 1,983 2,544
Within a period of more than two years but not more  AHIMF LA LB HBBAF
than five years 237 7
5,850 7,063
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months and ~ J& © IRENE BB N 25897
shown under current liabilities 218 A NE B E S TR (3,630) (4,402)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months and shown  RIERENEEIE 256970
under non-current liabilities 1218 A& ZIER 4 B By F0E 2,220 2,661
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities is 6% HEEEAMINE TS S E X

(2021: 6%).

DEFERRED INCOME

26.

Deferred income represents non-recurring government grants received for

acquisition and improvement of property, plant and equipment. The deferred

income is released to the profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant

assets. Movements of deferred income during the years are as follows:

B6E (20214 : 6F) ©

IEFEW A
BIEWNIEE B HE B BT REE -
PR MERIEME - 5S Kas © BT
WA B ERIRRT R e F AR
ik © FRELRANEEINT :

2022 2021
2022 20219
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT
Government grant related to assets HEEMBNRNHES
At beginning of the year REH] 6,289 8,802
Released to profit or loss PiEmREA (2,136) (2,513)
At end of the year RER 4,153 6,289
Analysed for reporting purposes as: IWMIE2|MARE
Current portion BNERER 9 1,786 2270
Non-current portion JERNERED > 2,367 4019
4,153 6,289
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

27. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

27.

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEWNENA3NBIESE

TEEmMIA
2022 2021
20224 2021 £
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Currency forward contracts, at fair value (note)

Note: At 3| December 2022, the Group has no outstanding currency forward contracts. The

derivatives as at 31 December 2021 are classified as financial assets at FVTPL. Their fair

values are determined based on the valuation carried out by financial institutions, which are

measured using the present value of future cash flows estimated and discounted based on

the applicable yield curves derived from quoted forward exchange rates at the end of the

reporting period. Details are set out in note 33.

B3+ M202F 12A318  AEEHEREE
EEERIAD - R2021F12A318 - 17
HTADEARATEFABZNOSR
BE - HATERBY BEREMETH
EEMEE - WERRER2HRUIRM
HEERAERGHOEAZE MR
R BREORKRSRORENE - 515

B33 -
28.  SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY 28. RERA
Number of shares Issued capital
BHEE ERITRA
2022 2021 2022 2021
20225 2021 F 2022F 2021 F
Ordinary Ordinary Ordinary Ordinary
shares shares shares shares
EER Rl EER gl
'000 ‘000 usb usb
B TR &% En
Ordinary shares of USD0.000001 each SR E1E0.000001 3 THY
BER
Authorised: EE
At beginning and end of the year RENRER 2,000,000 2,000,000  2,000.00 2,000.00
Issued and fully paid ERITRAR
At beginning of the year REF] 817,100 818,842 817.09 818.83
Repurchase and cancellation of shares (note) R REE Rt ss (M at) (1,860) (1,742) (1.86) (1.74)
At end of the year RER 815,240 817,100 815.23 817.09

EhkERERLXT
20224 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

28. SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY (Contd) 28. DEIRA (&)

Issued capital

ERITRA
2022 2021
2022 20215
Ordinary Ordinary
shares equivalent  shares equivalent
ZEEBER FEEEK
RMB RMB
AR®RT ARET
Issued and fully paid ERITRAR
At beginning of the year REA) 571451 572641
Repurchase and cancellation of shares (note) Rt REE Rt ss (i a) (12.41) (11.90)
At end of the year RER 5,702.10 57145

20229 2021 F12A31 B » REE4A
AR BRERI RHEBTTRALDAEA
FR#6,0007T °

Issued capital shown in the consolidated statements of financial position as at 31

December 2022 and 2021 were rounded to RMB6,000.

HEZE20202F K2021 F 12831 HILEF
B AL AR EEE -

There is no movement of authorised ordinary share during the years ended 3|

December 2022 and 2021.

BizE : RER  ARAIBBEZFTEATAR
follows: BEEESRNH

Note: During the year, the Company repurchased its own shares through the Stock Exchange as

No. of ordinary Price per share

Month of shares of SRER Aggregate
Year Ended repurchase USD0.000001 each Lowest Highest consideration paid
SR E{E0.000001 £ T
FR mE A5 EERYE 53058 55 ERERE
HK$ HK$ HK$ RMB
BT B Br  AR®R
2022 20224 February 2022 2022928 591,000 (note) (Ki3E) 021 059 216,689 190,881
2022 20226 July 2022 2022978 1,269,000 (note) (Fii7E) 025 029 334,334 284,886
2022 200F August 2022 2002F8A 2,983,000 0.16 024 481,898 414,180

Note: The above ordinary shares were cancelled upon repurchase.

PHEE - DA BB BB BRI ARG -

FN ARENFLRBERE - HE
SRR AR RUEf] L RES ©

None of the Company's subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the

Company's listed securities during the year.
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29.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Share options were granted on 23 December 2013 (“2013 Option"”) and 26
March 2015 ("2015 Option”) for the primary purpose of providing incentives
to directors and eligible employees, and will expire on 22 December 2023 and
25 March 2025 respectively. Under the share option schemes of the Company,
the Board of Directors of the Company may grant options to eligible employees,
including directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares
in the Company. Additionally, the Company may, from time to time, grant share
options to an individual consultant or advisor who renders or has rendered bona

fide services to the Company.

As at 31 December 2022, the number of ordinary shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding was 36,191,000 (2021:
40,036,000), representing 4.44% (202 1: 490%) of the total ordinary shares in issue
at end of the reporting period.

No consideration is payable on the grant of an option. For 2013 Option and 2015
Option, options may be exercised after the completion of relevant vesting period

to the tenth anniversary of the date of grant.

2013 Option

30% of total number of options of 2013 Option (“2013 Option A") are exercisable
on the second anniversary date of grant, 30% of total number of options of 2013
Option (“2013 Option B") are exercisable on the third anniversary date of grant
and the remaining 40% of total number of options of 2013 Option (“2013 Option
C") are exercisable on the fourth anniversary date of grant. In addition, 2013
Option is also subjected to the performance condition of the Group and individual

employee to exercise.

ELERERLA
20224

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HR20FENA3IBLEE

29. URGXANRS

20135 124238 K%2015F3 A26 B AT
R BEARE (D51 A 20135 AR
RI20I15EBRE]) HNEEBNHERE
ERAEREBRMERER  mMZEBRR
B DRI 2023F 12 522 H %2025
3RS BIEMm © BREBARASERER
2 ARREREGURTEENRESR
(BEARARREFARIMNES) I RE
AR EVEEARIE o b5 - RATA
THERANGA/ERAREEMRE
1751 25 5 R Fel s B T 5% L P AR o

R2022F 12A318 ERHEENX
TENEREMIRNETEREE B
36,191,0008% (2021 4 : 40,036,000/%) -
ERERBURE BT L BR AL
4.449% (2021 FF : 490%) °

BEEREEREMECORE - 3t
2013FERER20ISFRRENS © B
RN ERERERTK AR E A
F-HEBS A BT

2013 FHE IR AE

2013 F AR R IR iR AR B0 30% (12013
FEREAD IAREARE @RS
AHEATTHE - 201 3F BRI AR A 21
30% ([2013F FE AR 1B ) TR H H HA
F=ABAFEHEITE - M20I13FBR
REREBHNBRT40% ([2013FBR
HEC)) AT R A E S I (@A 4 B 81T
f o BEoh - 2013 F BB EFA A E
B kA EENRRIGHETAIITE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

29.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Contd)

2013 Option (Contd)

Pursuant to the board resolution on 29 May 2015, the 2013 Option was amended
whereby the vesting dates of the option has been accelerated. 2013 Option A
shall be vested on, and become exercisable from | June 2015, 2013 Option B
shall be vested on, and become exercisable from | April 2016 and 2013 Option C
shall be vested on, and become exercisable from | April 2017. Such amendment
is applicable prospectively to the unexercised 2013 Option and result in a net
decrease in fair value of such option measured immediately before and after the
modifications, of which no adjustment for the years ended 31 December 2020 and

2019 needed to the fair value of the 2013 Option.

2015 Option

30% of total number of options of 2015 Option (“2015 Option A") are exercisable
from | April 2016, 30% of total number of options of 2015 Option (“2015 Option
B") are exercisable from | April 2017 and the remaining 40% of total number
of options of 2015 Option (“2015 Option C") are exercisable from | April. In
addition, 2015 Option is also subjected to the performance condition of the Group

and individual employee to exercise.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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29. URGXANRS (&)

013 FHERE (Z)
BIE2015F5A9ENEESRAR -
2013 BIRIET LMERT - HRIEIRIER
FE A HWIRAT - 20 3FERBABR
01556 A I BEE - WEZBRA F{T
- 201 3FBEREBEN2016F48 1 B
B - WEZBRER T L2035
IRIECHER2017F4A  BHEB - W BZ
AR TIT(E - BRI B ARANKRT
EE20 1 3FREARIE - BEERERAR
BRI ENEREATELRR
DFE - HAPEZE2020F K2019F 128
3 BIEFEBAEH0IBEBERIENDT
BIEHFAZEE

2015 FHBIRAE

2015 FREMRERE IR A2 811)30% (12015
FHEMBREA]) TR2016F4 81 BITE -
2015 FREIRE R AR I A2 2H)30% (12015
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29.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)
2015 Option (Contd)

Details of specific categories of options are as follows:

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HR20FENA3IBLEE

29. LUBRHBEZNNRS (&)
20I5FBIRIE(Z)
BAEN ABERNFBNT

Fair value at

Option type Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period Exercise price grant date

REHAH

BRI BB HEH Rt THE MATE

2013 Option A 23/12/2013 23/122013 10 31/05/2015  01/06/2015 to 22/12/2023 RMBI.09 RMBO.5|

WI3FEREA  2013F 128238 2013F12A23H% WI5F6AIHE ARKI1097T ARKOSIT
201555 H31H 2023F 12 A2H

2013 Option B 23/12/2013 23/122013 10 31/03/2016  01/04/2016 to 22/12/2023 RMBI.09 RMBO.5|

013FERER  2013F 128238 2013F12A3H% WI6F4A1HE ARKI1097T ARKOSITT
201653 H31H 2023F 12 A2H

2013 Option C ~ 23/12/2013 23/122013 10 31/03/2017  01/04/2017 to 22/12/2023 RMBI.09 RMBO.5|

013FEREC  2013F 128238 2013F12A3H% 017648 1HE ARKI1097T ARKOSITT
201793 /318 2023F 12 A2H

2015 Option A 26/03/2015 26/03/2015 t0 31/03/2016  01/04/2016 to 25/03/2025 RMB| 47 RMBO.6|

015FBAMEA  2015F3H260  2015F3H26BZE WI6F4A1HE AR 14770 AR®061TT
201653 H31H 202553 H25H

2015 Option B 26/03/2015 26/03/2015 t0 31/03/2017  01/04/2017 to 25/03/2025 RMB| 47 RMBO.6|

015FHEAHMER  2015F3H26H  201563H26BZE 017648 1HE AR 14770 AR®061TT
201753 H31H 202553 H25H

2015 Option C~ 26/03/2015 26/03/2015 t0 31/03/2018  01/04/2018 to 25/03/2025 RMB| 47 RMBO.6|

015FBEAMEC  2015F3H260  2015F3H26BZE 0I18F481HE AR 14770 AR®061TT
201853 H31H 202553 H25H

ELERERLA

20224 3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Contd) 29. URGBEZANREG (£)
2015 Option (Cont'd) 20I5FHERE (2)
The following table discloses movements of the Company's share options held by TREZRABBATEHENAANRER
eligible persons: Ry
2022 20225
Granted Forfeited Exercised Expired
Outstanding at during during during during  Outstanding at
Option type BREER 11172022 the year the year the year the year 3171212022
20225 #2025
A1 RER RER RER RER 12A318
I R AT B BRI (3 & tef RAT B
2013 Option A 2013 ERARIEA 5,720,000 - (619,500) - - 5,100,500
2013 Option B 20135 R ER 6,284,000 - (619,500) - - 5,664,500
2013 Option C 013FBRAEC 8,852,000 - (826,000) - - 8,026,000
2015 Option A 2015FRARIEA 5,754,000 - (534,000 - - 5,220,000
2015 Option B 20155 BB RRER 5,754,000 - (534,000) - - 5,220,000
2015 Option C 2015FBRIEC 7,672,000 - (712,000) - - 6,960,000
40,036,000 - (3,845,000 - - 36,191,000
Exercisable at the end AIRERITE
of the year 36,191,000
Weighted average IETA1THEE RMBI.3163 RMBI.3100 RMBI 3170
exercise price AR 131637C - AR¥131007T - - AR®I13170T

244 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEWNENA3NBIESE

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Contd) 29. UBRGBZAFANRE (&)
2015 Option (Cont'd) WISEBRE (E)
2021 2021 5
Granted Forfeited  Exercised Expired
Outstanding at during during during during  Outstanding at
Option type BREER 1/1/2021 the year theyear  theyear the year 31/1212021
R021 % 2021 &
|AIH RER RER  REA  RER 128318
i RATE &l L 1t JEw e RATE
2013 Option A 2013FBREA 6,644,000 - (924,000) - - 5,720,000
2013 Option B 20135 AR EB 7,208,000 - (924,000) - - 6,284,000
2013 Option C 20135 BREC 10,084,000 - (1,232,000) - - 8,852,000
2015 Option A 2015FBREA 6,399,000 - (645,000) - - 5,754,000
2015 Option B 20155 AR EB 6,399,000 - (645,000) - - 5,754,000
2015 Option C 20155 BREC 8,532,000 - (860,000) - - 7,672,000
45,266,000 - (5,230,000) - - 40,036,000
Exercisable at the end AIRERTTHE
of the year
40,036,000
Weighted average IEFETEE RMBI.3518 RMBI.3086 RMBI.3163
exercise price ARE135187C - AREI13086T - - AREI3163T
No equity settled share-based payment expense is recognised for the years ended B E20227F &ZOZJ F12A31H L\J:i
31 December 2022 and 2021 in relation to share options granted by the Company. [ BREBLACD AR A R B RE SR LA
BREE RN AR -
OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS 30. MEHERH
The Group as lessor FEEERBEHEA R
All of the leased premises have committed lessees for the next one to ten years. FIERENEROCEARAAENE T
R—E+FREEER -
Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as follows: MERW RTRBERNKNT
2022 2021
2022 2021 F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARBETT

Within one year —FR 12,654 18,066
In the second year F= 7,207 1,847
In the third year F=F 4,558 8,620
In the fourth year SINF - 4769
24419 43,302

EHERAERRZSF 245
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

31

32.

33.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 31. BRARE
2022 2021
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREF T ARBTT
Capital expenditure contracted for but not provided in BN - BRE KEEH
the consolidated financial statements in respect of the BETHERELE B HRE
acquisition of property, plant and equipment BENELHX 12,735 13,702
CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 32. EXEREE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to shareholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall strategy

remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank borrowings, net of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising

issued share capital, share premium and other reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis.
As a part of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendation of the directors, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends,

new share issues and share buy-backs as well as raising of new bank loans.

AERERHEFBRRAEER TS
ATANEEE - BEIER RS
NTE - ARRAKEADS - AT
B RSB ERRRETE -

AEENENEBRRERTER  Re
FREFEWFRNADAREE ARG
B (BREETRA  RipaERE
thEfE) ©

ARRESEFFRAENERE - R
R — 8D EFEREARARE
ZREAHBOER - REEFHOR
& AREREBXNKE  BITH
B Bn R RATERITESUATF B
SEMNERENGER -

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 33. MBEREEBERBEK
Categories of financial instruments SRMIANESR
2022 2021
20224 2021 5
RMB’000 RMB000
ARET ARETIT
Financial assets TREE
Amortised cost BEGHR AR 667,936 800,312
FVTPL mAFERT ABR = 33
Financial liabilities =R
Amortised cost BEERAR 714416 718074
Lease liabilities HEARE 5,850 7,063
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33.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and polices

The Group's major financial instruments include trade and other receivables,
pledged bank balances, bank balances and cash, trade and other payables, lease
liabilities and bank and other borrowings. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
include credit risk, market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk) and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are

implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amounts of the financial assets best
represent the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with

its financial assets.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated
a team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an internal credit
scoring system to assess the potential customer's credit quality and defines credit
limits by customer. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the

Group's credit risk of trade receivables is significantly reduced.

The Group has a significant concentration of customers credit risk as 16.6% (2021:
17.8%) and 74.3% (2021: 53.1%) of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group's largest customer and the five largest customers respectively. These major
customers are network operators and domestic and overseas wireless network

solution providers with good reputation and repayment records.

ELERERLA
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33.

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HR20FENA3IBLEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

33.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont'd)

Trade receivables anising from contracts with customers (Cont d)

The Group's concentration of credit risk by geographical locations is mainly in the
PRC, which accounted for 91.6% (2021: 68.4%) of the total trade receivables as at
31 December 2022.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on
trade balances individually or based on collective assessment. Except for debtors
with significant outstanding balances and credit-impaired, which are assessed
for impairment individually, the remaining trade receivables are grouped by
internal credit rating under a collective assessment, based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to aging, repayment history and past due status of
respective trade receivables. Impairment of RMB12,480,000 (202 1: RMB4,185,000)
is recognised during the year. Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out

below in this note.

Pledged bank balances and bank balances
The credit risk of the Group on pledged bank balances and bank balances is limited
because the majority of the counterparties are intemational banks or state-owned

banks, all of which are with high credit ratings.

Other receivables

The Group's other receivables representing notes and bills receivables and others.
The directors of the Company consider that the credit risk on other receivables is
limited and the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
ensuring follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model on these other receivables
individually. The Group only accepts bills issued or guaranteed by reputable PRC
banks and therefore the management of the Group considers the credit risk is
insignificant. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group's

credit risk on other receivables is significantly reduced.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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33.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 33.

(Cont'd)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont'd)

Other receivables (Cont d)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following

categories:

Internal credit rating Description

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HR20FENA3IBLEE

BEEREERERBEZ)

UERERERRREE (F)
EEmBRBETE (F)
Rt W ()

Trade receivables

BN REEEER ST
TR

Otbher financial assets

A ERE ERTAR Bk B 2 B AR HittEMEE

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and  Lifetime ECL [2-month ECL
does not have any past-due amounts — not credit-impaired

1R HFOmRORREE  BYEIMBY GFERRMEEFE-AE NEABRYNEESAE
A HEERE

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but Lifetime ECL [2-month ECL
usually settle after due date — not credit-impaired

BRAE BEEAREREHRRET BN HFEPRPEESRE EARREEER
HAKEE - REEEERE

Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit  Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
risk since initial recognition through information - not credit-impaired — not credit-impaired
developed internally or external resources

Fit BEBABENZERIIBERETY) FEREHEEER REHEHEEER
IRHER - ERERBEEIEN — REEEERE — RELEERE

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-  Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
impaired — credit-impaired — credit-impaired

s ARBERNEREECREEERE FENEREEER FENEHREEER

—BEEERE - BEEERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtoris ~ Amount is written off Amount is written off
in severe financial difficulty and the Group has
no realistic prospect of recovery

i35 ARBRNEBABABRENMBRNEL MEFHER MEEHELE
AREEERNKEFR

ELERERLA

20224 3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

33.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont'd)

Other receivables (Cont d)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group's financial assets
representing trade receivables, other receivables, pledged bank balances and bank

balances which are subject to ECL assessment:

33. BiIXEREEEZERBE (£

UERERERRREE (F)
EEmBRBETE (F)

Rt W ()
TRAFFDAEERETRREEERT
fheeBEE (MEZRKER - Bt
FEUERR - BEMRITERRRITA

) 2 EERR :
Internal 2022 2021
Notes  creditrating  2-month or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount Gross carrying amount
mEEE  NEAREES WNE 01F
ME R BHEERR AEHE BREE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARMTR ARMTT ARETR
Financial assets at
amortised costs
RBHAATR
LEREE
Trade receivables 20 (notea) Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired 145,115 167,078
Low risk Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired 154,204 142,952
Loss Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired 30,420 329,739 13493 323523
B HRUER 20 (Ffta) FRERSEERE - AREEENE
el FRERHEEFE - ARLEENE
B8 FRERSHEEEE - REEENE
Pledged bank balances 21 (note b) [2-month ECL 89,791 72,167
BERRTER 2 (M) RNEARSRESER
Bank balances 21 (note b) |2-month ECL 174,147 250359
RITHEER 2 (WD) RNEAEHEEER
Other receivables 20 Lowrisk 12-month ECL 101,418 168,941
Eth YR 0 EER NEAEHEEER

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2022



33.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 33.

(Cont'd)
Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont'd)

Other receivables (Cont d)
Notes:

(3 For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to
measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with significant outstanding
balances and credit-impaired which are assessed individually, the Group determines the
expected credit losses on these items by using a collective assessment, grouped by internal

credit rating.

(b)  The credit risk on bank balance is limited because the counterparties are banks with

reputable credit ratings.

Collective assessment — intemal credit ratings

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group applies internal credit
rating for its customers. The following table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which are assessed based on collective
assessment as at 3| December 2022 within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired).
Debtors with significant outstanding balances and credit-impaired with gross carrying
amounts of RMB154,204,000 (202 1: RMB142,952,000) and RMB30,420,000 (2021:
RMBI3,493,000) respectively as at 31 December 2022 were assessed individually.

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
20224 R

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HR20FENA3IBLEE

BEEREERERBEZ)

UERERERRREE (F)
EEmBRBETE (F)

At R ()
G

@ HESBEEIMmES  AKECRAE
RRBREER BT BOEFEFE
HERMEEBERNE RS - BERF
BEEAREESHREERENER
BN AEEERZEABEETRS
ANEEFhETZEHRENESEER
B

b)) HFARERTRBFNRT - FHtR
TREHNERERRAR -

LG — NENE BATEAR
ERASBEREERREERE, — 85 K
SEHEEPEAANBEETR T
FRUEHEEIRUEFEERREN
B RSB HRIERTIRE2022
F1A3 BERTG (FEBERREE
BB — REEEERE) T - K202
F12A318  RABEARERER
(HBERHEE A AR 154204,0007T (2021
F 0 AR 142952,0007T)) RIEERE
(#2fRmEE A AR30,420,0007T (2021
F o ARM13493,0007T)) B FEUREBR X
TR o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

33.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont'd)

Collective assessment — internal credit ratings (Cont d)

BEEREERERBEZ)

UERERERRREE (F)
EEmBRBETE (F)
LR — AP SRR ()

Gross carrying amount

HIREE
2021
2022 2021
Average Trade Average Trade
loss rate receivables loss rate receivables
¥4 g5 15 =
BRx FE W R 3RS FEHBRTR
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTFTE
Internal credit rating NEEETR

Low risk ¥ENE # 108,730 # 47821
Watch list BELE 3.1% 28,805 # 83,846
Doubtful Tr&t 19.1% 7,580 3.5% 35411
145,115 167,078

# The percentage was lower than 0.1%. # BOAER0.1%

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed default
rates over the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort. The Group rebutted
the presumption of default under ECL model for trade receivables over 90 days
past due based on good credit quality and repayment records history for those
customers. The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated. Due to greater financial uncertainty
triggered by the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has increased the expected loss
rates in the current year as there is higher risk that a prolonged pandemic could led

to increased credit default rates.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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33.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HR20FENA3IBLEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 33. BMIEREKREEBEERBE (&)
(Cont'd)
Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d) MEREREEEERBE (£)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont'd) EEERER B (Z)
Collective assessment — internal credit ratings (Cont'd) Tt — NER =BT ()
During the year ended 31 December 2022, impairment allowance of RMB,265,000 HZE2002F12A31BIEEE &R
(2021: impairment allowance of RMB451,000) were made in the profit or loss ERTHRERFIRNERBARE
based on the collective assessment. During the year ended 3| December 2022, 1,265,0007T » (20214 : FEREEAR
impairment allowance of RMB9,470,000 and RMBI,745,000 (2021: RMB3,734,000 #451,0007T) ° BE202F 12 A31H1E
and nil) were made in the profit or loss on debtors which were credit-impaired and FE  CERBERAEEEZERENE
not credit-impaired, respectively. WEER DRI ERFHEREREARE
9,470,0007C &2 A ¥ 1,745,0007T (2021
F ARB3734000RE) ©
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised TREBTRBEE(LADEZNE FEK
for trade receivables under the simplified approach. Ea v FEREREEEREH -
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired) (credit-impaired) Total
TFEHTEE TFEETE
FEEE FEBE
(RELEERE) (BEEERE) #st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETT
Asat | January 2021 #2021 F 1 A1 B 887 9,606 10493
Changes due to financial instruments ERIASITE
recognised as at | January 2021: R2021F 1 A1 BERR -
— Impairment losses recognised — FEEERR 482 3751 4233
— Transfer to credit-impaired -~ BREZEERE (153) 153 -
— Impairment losses reversed — REEEEL (278) (26) (304)
New financial assets originated EEHeREE 247 9 256
As at 31 December 2021 202112831 B |,185 13493 14,678
Changes due to financial instruments SR T ESIBMNE
recognised as at | January 2022: K202 | I BERR -
— Impairment losses recognised — BEEERER 1,498 11,799 13,297
— Transfer to credit-impaired -~ EREEERE (758) 758 -
— Impairment losses reversed — REEEEL (283) (1,427) (1,710)
New financial assets originated EENFeREE 824 69 893
As at 3|1 December 2022 M2022F 128318 2,466 24,692 27,158

ELERERAD
20224

ol
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

33.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont'd)

Collective assessment — internal credit ratings (Cont d)

Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables are mainly due to:

33.

2022
WNE

(Decrease)fincrease in lifetime ECL

BEEREERERBEZ)

BEREBEERERBE(E)
EEmERBETE (E)

LR — AP SRR ()
HPRIETHNEREREH T 2N
i

2021
0015

(Decrease)/increase in lifetime ECL

FRIRNRERR FESESEEER
(B)/&m (B4)/ &0
Not credit- Credit- Not credit- Credit-
impaired impaired impaired impaired
AREGERE REGEAE ARLEEERE  RLESAE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000
ARBT R ARBT R ARETT ARETTR
Trade debtors with a gross carrying amounts BREBARY 126260007
of RMB12,626,000 (2021: RMB3913,000) (20015 : AE%3913,000
defaulted and transferred to credit-impaired ) RO BEEERRHEN
B ARWER (758) 12,626 (153) 3913
Settlement in full of trade debtors with a BERBAREI 470007
gross carrying amount of RMB1,427,000 (20015 : ANE#260007T)
(2021: RMB26,000) N8 SRNERESER (283) (1427) (278) (26)

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2022



33.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont'd)

Collective assessment — internal credit ratings (Cont d)

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating
that the debtor is in severe financial difficutty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings. None of the trade receivables that have been written

off is subject to enforcement activities.

Credit risk is not increased significantly since initial recognition for other receivables
and all gross amounts balance of other receivables of RMB101,418,000 (2021:
RMB168,941,000) are rated as low risk and assessed with |2-month ECL that no
material impairment losses have been recognised as at 3|1 December 2022 and

2021.

Market risk

Currency risk

The Group has foreign currency sales and purchases and certain trade receivables,
bank balances, trade payables and bank borrowings of the Group are denominated
in HK$, USD, and EUR, currencies other than the functional currency of the
Company's principal subsidiaries, which expose the Group to foreign currency risk.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However,
the management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging

significant foreign currency exposure when the need arises.

ELERERLA
20224

33.

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HR20FENA3IBLEE

MHEBEREERBE &)
PHERREEEEREE (&)

EEmBRBETE (F)
LR — AP SRR ()

”ﬂ*ﬁiéf%ﬂr?@ﬁﬁ?r“/\ﬁﬁayﬂiﬂﬁ%iﬁ
BEEROKERSE - flm - EHA

Emﬁafﬁ)\ﬁﬁﬁkr'lﬁ%{ﬁﬁ
B H R - CHIEE S BIKRERS
PEBHATEDRE

Hi KRR EERR B VT HRE
WM BHMERERNE
B BEEARE101,418,0007T (2021
F o ARB168941,0007T) #F A IEE
By - FEB) 1218 A EEEEEE T AT
ff - MAR202F R2021F12A318 -
BARUEREAREEE

5

E¥E R

AEBEBIINEHERRE - BARSER
ETE SRR - RITHES  BHE
MERFRRRITETABT - ETKBET
HE(REEBAFARAEEFAT
HINEEEH) - ASERAREINSE
B o AEE B AT E A SN BRI
RoAM ERESERINERR - ¥

EREREFEAMINERR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

33.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d)

Market risk (Contd)

Currency risk (Cont d)

The carrying amount of the Group's foreign currency denominated monetary assets

and monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2022
20226
Assets
gE
RMB’000

33.

Liabilities
=R
RMB’000

AR®BTR ARBTR

BEEREERERBEZ)

UERERERRREE (F)

EEE ()
E¥ R (&)

REPHRAEEAINEHENE R E
ENEEAEMNREENT

2021
20215
Assets Liabilities
BE AfE
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT

HK$ BT 5,143 311 7810 417
UsD ESH 262,469 489 209315 26,959
EUR BT 6,224 = 75,944 -

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5% (2021: 5%) change in
RMB against HK$, USD and EUR. The 5% (2021: 5%) represents management's
assessment of the reasonably possible change in the foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis of the Group'’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of
the reporting period have been determined based on the adjustment of translation
of the monetary assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period for 5%
(2021: 5%) change in foreign currency rates. A negative number below indicates an
increase in post-tax loss where RMB strengthens against HK$, USD and EUR. For
5% (2021: 5%) weakening of RMB against HK$, USD and EUR, there would be an

equal and opposite impact on post-tax loss.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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33.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HR20FENA3IBLEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 33. BMIEREKREEBEERBE (&)
(Cont'd)
Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d) MEREREEEERBE (£)
Market risk (Cont d) mEmEE (&)
Currency risk (Contd) B (4E)
2022 202
20225 2021 F
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR%F R ARETTT
If RMB strengthens against HK$ AR B THE (236) (363)
If RMB strengthens against USD WARBEETHE (11,125) (7,671
If RMB strengthens against EUR MARELBRTIHE (264) (3227)

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent
foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure

duning the year.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk which arises from pledged
bank deposits (note 21), fixed rate bank borrowings (note 24) and lease liabilities
(note 25). The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk which arises from

cash and cash equivalents (note 21).

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy. However, the
management monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant

interest rate exposure should the need arise.

ELERERLA
20224

FEERS  MRERNRRL TR
FRHER - HUESEE A LT RR
BEB 9 E RS -

FIEER

AEEEHDEMRITELR (HEE21) -
ERRITER (5E24) RAEE & & (K
iT25) EEMATEMNERR - AEE
HHRe MR FEY (WE21) BEE
R mEMERERE -

RSB B AT E A KGR EOR o AT

EEBEERMNIAR YHARRE
EREPEAFZEMS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

33.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 33. BMIEREKREEBEERBE (&)
(Cont'd)
Financial risk management objectives and polices (Contd) BERREEEERBE(E)
Market risk (Cont d) Gk (&)
Interest rate risk (Cont'd) FIEE b (&)
The positive number below indicates decrease in post-tax loss, and vice versa. UTEHERRRMEBERY R2TF
R o
2022 2021
20224 2021 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T ARETT
(note a) (note a)
(PBiteta) GETY
If the interest rates increase fisl = £ F
Decrease in post-tax loss B EER D 147 211
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR AR¥TR
(note b) (note b)
(Bif=Eb) (P3ED)
If the interest rates decrease fisi ¥ = T B2
Increase in post-tax loss BB EBEM (147) (206)
258 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022



33.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d)

Market risk (Contd)

Interest rate risk (Cont d)
Notes:

The sensitivity analyses have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates at the end
of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming the financial instruments outstanding at

the end of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole year.

(a) If interest rate on bank balances had been 10 (2021:10) basis points higher and interest
rate on short-term floating rate bank borrowings had been 50 basis points higher and all
other variables were held constant. These represent management's assessment of the

reasonably possible change in interest rates.

(b) If interest rate on bank balances denominated in HK$ and other foreign currencies had
been 10 (2021: O.1) basis point and 10 (2021: 10) basis points lower, respectively, and
interest rate on short-term floating rate bank borrowings had been 50 basis points lower
and all other variables were held constant. These represent management’s assessment of

the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level
of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance
the Group's operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance

with loan covenants.

Banking facilities available to the Group amounting to approximately
RMB215,000,000 (2021: RMB686,000,000) granted the Group for the bank

borrowings, bills payables and letter of credits.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a source of liquidity. As at 31 December
2022, the Group has available unutilised banking facilities of approximately
RMB25,996,000 (2021: RMB615,517,000).

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
20224 R

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HR20FENA3IBLEE

BEEREERERBEZ)

BEREBEERERBE(E)
i meE ()

FIEmR (&)

GEE

FRESTHRENBEHRON KA
E o REUAMDBERRBERRKEN 2E
BIARBEFEHRAEN -

@ BRB|ITEBOMREMIOMEL
(20214 : 10) + DT BARITIE AT
KL NSOMEEEL - MATE Eth BEHIRES
T WHEBBHNEEE A EE
Eﬁaﬂao

b)) BRUBTREMIMNSTENRITE

BREYF R 5 BT 2K 10 B EE (2021 4F ¢

0.1) BIOEEZ (20215 : 10)  BEF

BARFTHERMFI R TBSOEER - WA

BEMEHRBTE - W HEREHF
KA E BT

REEZEE

RrBEsmEBRERT  NEFBER
RE-—TEKFNRERREEFEY <
EREERATNENRTEELEMS
VRINBERERERDNFTE - B1E
BERERITERNER MERETEK
2K o

A

AEECEBRITHBENARE
2|5,ooo,0007_c(202|¢ AR
686,000,0007T) * EE$EIMﬁ
REE S /fﬁiﬁ%ﬁ%}&%

AEBEEBRITETIERRDEEK
R o 202F 128318 AEEEAE)
RAARARITRELN AR 25996,0007T
(2021 - AR¥615,517,0007T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

33.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont'd)
Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d)
Liguidity risk (Contd)
The following table details the Group's remaining contractual maturity for its
financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be

required to pay.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest
flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve

at the end of the reporting period.

Weighted

average
effective  Repayable 3060 61090
interest rate  on demand  0t0 30 days days days

MERY  ERE
ER7= B8  0Z30R 3IZ0B 61Z%R
%  RMBO00  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBI00

33.

910 180
days

912180
RMB000

% ARRTR ARRTR ARNTR ARBTR ARRTR

BEEREERERBEZ)

BEREBEERERBE(E)
mBELEE ()
TRATEESRABSRTENIHA
WS o TRIOEAKERREFR A
NERFASREBEERAGHATRAS
MERRE

ZREFIFIEREBHEERE © HHE
RIBMNEFE - BIRTHSRIRRE
HRRA R HAREHE

Total Carrying

18 daysto | yearto5 undiscounted amountat 3
| year years  cashflows  December
BAFR RA3IE

BIZIF IEF HeRE NEEE
RMBOOO ~ RMBOOO  RMBO0O0  RMBO000
AREFR ARBTR ARWTR ARWTR

m WNE
Trade and other payables ~ B5 R EMERER NA 320039 1256% %281 1539 116752 699 - 658 67585
TER
Bankand other borowings  SR{TREMIER
- Fived interestrate -EEHE 391 - 1% 1% 1% o 94 - 4000 38560
Lease labies HERR 600 - m 450 m I I 6107 5850
LI 605 98T 15788 11814 4137 2613 TN 720066
ol MIE
Trade and other payables B REMERER NA 13819 160300 105663 176705 - - - R0MT 8077
NER
Bankand other borowings  $R{TREMIER
~Fixed interest rate - EEHE 436 - 489 Bl 3041 0o 987 - 130665 137277
Lease liabiltes HEak 600 - 45 540 37 1068 2081 3766 8197 70683
13819 161214 10664 747 20010033 366 7969 T8I
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33.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d)

Liguidity risk (Contd)

The amount included above for variable interest rate instruments for non-derivative
financial liabilities are subject to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to

those estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the reporting period.

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values at the end of the reporting period. The fair
value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with

generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

No financial assets are measure at FVTPL as at 3|1 December 2022

Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 202 |

33.

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEWNENA3NBIESE

BEEREERERBEZ)

HREARERBERBEK(E)
mBELEE ()
WIFTEERMABET S TAZFENEX
B ERFE PRETE 2 BT MERR
AR ETLAGtAZ LB Es g #
Ho

EMIANDVETE
AREEERR  BEERATAGE
FRRNEREENERABHORE
EEANBEHRNLFHERE - 27
BRERZREENATERARTER
A REFRFESREITMETE

R202%F 128318 BESHEERD
FEFABES

P02 F 12 A3 B AFEZL

Level 2
FM
RMB'000
ARBFTE
Financial Assets at FVTPL BATEGFAERZEMEE
Currency forward contracts E¥RBEH 33
Fair value as at Fair value
Financial assets 31 December 2021 hierarchy  Valuation technique(s) and key input(s)
72021 F 12 A31 H
THEE WAYE [AFESR BERGREREA
Currency forward contracts Assets — Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows are estimated based
RMB33,000 on forward exchange rates (from observable forward exchange

rates at the end of the reporting period) and contracted forward

rates, discounted at a rate that reflects the credit risk of various

counterparties.
BHEHEN BE — FHR BRRASRE - RAREREDVREEZDER CRENRE
ARM330005E SR TBRASHER) RiTORMRRIEMET - T

RBRARRZEHF 2 EERR ZITREFE -

EhkERERLXT
20224 3R
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HEXNFNA3NALEFE

34.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the PRC based employees
of the Group participate in various defined contribution retirement benefit plans
organised by the relevant municipal and provincial governments in the PRC under
which the Group and the PRC based employees are required to make monthly
contributions, which are calculated as a percentage of the employees' salaries,
to these plans. The Group also operates a MPF Schemes for all its qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those
of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. Under the rule of the MPF
Schemes, the employer and its employees are each required to make contributions

to the scheme at rate specified in the rules.

The municipal and provincial governments undertake to assume the retirement
benefit obligations of all existing and future PRC based employees' payable under
the plans described above. Other than the monthly contributions, the Group has
no further obligation for the payment of retirement and other post-retirement

benefits of its employees.

The retirement benefits scheme contributions made by the Group amounted to
RMB21,279,000 (2021: RMB23,725,000) for the year ended 3| December 2022.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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HR20FENA3IBLEE

35. MERBMELRENHEK

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing

activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing

activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified

in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

activities.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financial activities for the year ended 31

TR AR TR AR
28 BERSRINLEY - RAF
PEANE EHBERARES RES
RAZEMBARSRERNDEAR
SEDFELRLRBNEAMN -

HE20202F K202 F12A31B1EF

December 2022 and 2021 B BELBMELNEEERET
Interest
payable
(included  Total liabilities
Bank in other  from financing
borrowings  Lease liabilities payables) activities
FEfAE
(FEAEAM BMEEY
RITIE K MERE  EMAFUE) RiEER
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETRT AR%®TT ARETR
At | January 2021 R2021F1 A 1R 164,575 8,771 - 173,346
Financing cash flows MERETRE (27,298) (6,775) (6,906) (40,979)
Non-cash changes HHEE
Finance costs R - 436 7,256 7692
New lease entered FIMHHE - 4,631 - 4,631
At 31 December 2021 2021512431 B 137,277 7,063 350 144,690
Financing cash flows RERERE (98717) (5,699) (4,867) (109,283)
Non-cash changes HH T E
Finance costs BIBRR - 453 4517 4,970
New lease entered FIHHE - 4,033 - 4033
At 31 December 2022 R202412A31 8 38,560 5,850 - 44,410

ELERERLA

20224 R

263



264

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HEXNFNA3NALEFE

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. BEALRS
()  Related party balances and transactions @) BEALERRXS
Other than as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, KSRV ERRSERES
the Group has following transactions and balances with related parties. Gh o REEHBEATHT SR
REERINE o

2022 2021

20225 20214

RMB’000 RMB'000

Relationships ~ BA& Nature of balances/transactions o YA L | AR®BTRT ARETT

Related party  EAEE T Lease payment paid ERHER 1,340 1,267

(note i) (Bff5E)  Lease liabilities HERE 2913 207

Interest on lease liabilities HE&EME 174 51

Rental deposit receivable MER S YR 110 110

Other payables (note ii) Hoph FEATBR R (P i) 8 8

Associates Bt 2 A] Trade sales BHIHE 3,153 5,035

Trade purchases Bo5EE 15,666 15,110

Trade receivable B HRWERR 8,768 5210

Prepayment AR 1,627 1,334

Trade payables B HREMERR 16,906 6,620

Contract liabilities AvAaRE 161 161

Other payables (note i) Hopy FEAT AR (P =il 722 695

Notes: B =t
(i) Mr. Hu, an executive director of the Company is also a director of the related (i) HAERADRITERT AR
party. BHES -

(i) As at 3| December 2022 and 2021, the balances are non-trade in nature and

repayable on demand.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Contd)

(b)

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management

were as follows:

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
HR20FENA3IBLEE

36. BEBEALRS

(b)

TEEBEASHEMN
ESNTREHBHMKEN
B

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB000

ARBTT ARETTT

Short-term employee benefits EHIEE A 7,479 7,664
Post-employment benefits BER 2 2 A 158 171
7,637 7,835

The remuneration of directors and key executives is determined having

regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.

The retirement benefits scheme contributions of one director were paid by

SZWS for the year ended 3| December 2022 and 2021 as set in note 10.

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
20224 R

EERTIRITRAENFHMIR
BEAXRARTHBEMETE

WM FEIOFTEL - BE20202F R
2021 F 12 A3 BIEEE - R®YI4
EBEIN—REETMRIRET

AR -
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37.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
As at the end of both reporting periods, the particulars of the Company's principal

subsidiaries are as follows:

Place and date of

establishment/

Issued and fully paid

registered capital/

37. APATREEFAAFE

RREHRERR - ARRATEFRRF

BT

Equity interest

attributable

Name of subsidiary incorporation share capital to the Group  Principal activities
R/ ERITRAR r5H
FRALE wEREH aMEx/BA ElikE TEXE
2022 & 2021 2022 & 2021
WRFR02F 202FR202F
MOBI Jian (note i) The PRC RMB267,000,000 100%  Production and sale of antennas and radio
23 May 2006 frequency subsystems
B ER (H) i AR 2670000007 100% EERHERENESEIATRSR
2006554238
MOBI Shenzhen (note i) The PRC RMB220,000,000 100%  Production and sale of antennas and radio
12 August 1999 frequency subsystems
BRI (Bitagin) i AR#220,0000007C 100% HERBERFNEFEIATRS
199948 A 12H
MOBI Xian (note iii) The PRC RMB 120,000,000 100%  Production and sale of antennas and radio
29 April 2008 frequency subsystems
B (Fiatii) 7 AR#1200000007C 100% AENHERSNEGEFATER
200854 A 298
Mobi Technology Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100%  Trading of antennas and
(Hong Kong) Limited 15 December 2010 radio frequency subsystems
("MOBI HK") (note iv)
Bt (BR)BRAR &R 1000000077 100% REMEKEFATERES
(TER&EE]) (Matv) 20105128158
Notes: Bisx
(i) MOBI Jian is directly held by the Company and a wholly foreign-owned enterprise in the () EBEUEZHAAFRFEINEBEERE
PRC. BERE -
(i)~ MOBI Shenzhen is directly held by MOBI Jian and a wholly foreign-owned enterprise in the (i) EELLARYIBELEZRPEINEGEER
PRC. KEERE -
@iy~ MOBI Xian is directly held by MOBI Shenzhen and a wholly foreign-owned enterprise in (iy  EELLFR BRI KR EINEEE R
the PRC. KEERE -
(v)  MOBI HK is directly held by the Company. (v) BELBEBHAAREEREA -

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 38. AD BB REEK

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AREF T

Non-current Assets FERBEE
Unlisted investments in subsidiaries RFRARIKFELTRE 375,761 375,761

Current Assets RENEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries G a/NEI L] 93,789 88,807
Cash and cash equivalents RekHReEEY 4,058 6,798
97,847 95,605
Current Liabilities mEaE

Other payables H i FEAT AR X 108 234
Amounts due to subsidiaries e F R EIFE 17,075 17,075
17,183 17,309
Net Current Assets TENEEF5 80,664 78,296
Total Assets less Current Liabilities BEERRDAE 456,425 454,057

Capital and Reserves R K
Share capital (note 28) R (BiEE28) 6 6
Reserves & 456,419 454,051
Total Equity o 456,425 454,057

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
20224 R
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38.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Contd)

Movement in reserves

38. AARHBBARRER (E)

HERE

Share  Share option Retained
premium reserve earnings Total
BROEE BRERE RERF Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(note 29)
AR®TRE ARBTR AR®FRT AR®TR
(FE£29)
At | January 202 R202151 /18 404,145 25,186 29,960 459,291
Loss and the total comprehensive expense  FEE1E R EHER Y
for the year k] - - (4,537) (4,537)
Transfer of share option reserve upon AR L B s e P a8
forfeiture of share options EIRERE - (2,391) 2,391 -
Repurchase and cancellation of shares BR AR BB B K2t 85 (666) - - (666)
Repurchase of shares B FE (37) - - (37)
At 31 December 2021 2021124318 403,442 22,795 27,814 454,051
Profit and the total comprehensive FERGZEZEKA
income for the year FoE ] - - 3258 3258
Transfer of share option reserve upon PR W R A A B
forfeiture of share options ERERERE - (1,829) 1,829 -
Repurchase and cancellation of shares R A7 BB B 2 8 (476) - - (476)
Repurchase of shares B (414) - - (414)
At 31 December 2022 K202 12 A31H 402,552 20966 32,901 456,419

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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